
Incline Village General Improvement District 
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin. 
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451 • (775) 832-1100 • EMAIL: info@ivgid.org 

www.yourtahoeplace.com 

 
 

 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) Board of Trustees will be held Starting at 5:00 
PM on March 12, 2025, in the Boardroom, 893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada. 
 
Public Comment 
Public comment is welcomed during Public Comment Periods and is Limited to 3 minutes per person per Public Comment Period. 
Unused time may not be allocated to other speakers. A speaker’s viewpoint will not be restricted; however, reasonable restrictions 
may be imposed upon the time, place, and manner of speech. Irrelevant statements, unduly repetitious statements, and personal 
attacks that would objectively antagonize or incite others are examples of speech that may be reasonably limited. Not to include 
comments on General Business items with scheduled public comments. The Board of Trustees may address matters brought up during 
public comments at the conclusion of the comment period but may not deliberate on any non-agendized item.  
 
Members of the Public are welcome to provide Public Comment by Telephone at (877) 853-5247 and in the Civic Plus Portal at 
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/574/media (the Webinar ID will be Posted to the District Website on the Day of the 
Meeting). The Meeting will be Available for viewing at https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/. 

 
  
A.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE*    
    

 

B.  ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES*    
    

 

C.  INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration.    
    

 

D.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA (for possible action)  
 
The Board of Trustees may make a motion for a flexible agenda which is defined as taking items on the agenda out of order; combining agenda items with 
other agenda items; removing items from the agenda; moving agenda items to an agenda of another meeting or voting on items in a block.  
-OR- The Board of Trustees may make a motion to accept and follow the agenda as submitted/posted.   

    
 

E.  REPORTS TO THE BOARD - Reports are intended to inform the Board and/or the public.    
    

 

   
 1.  SUBJECT: District General Manager's Monthly Status Report. (Requesting Staff Member: District 

General Manager Robert Harrison) – pages 4 - 25 
      

 

F.  CONSENT CALENDAR (for possible action)   
    

 

   

 1.  SUBJECT: Approve and Authorize the District General Manager to execute a Payment between Incline 
General Improvement District and the Nevada Department of Transportation for the Adjustment of 
Manholes, Valve Covers and Meter Boxes; FY 2024/25 Utilities Fund Operating Budget #20002297-
7510; in the Amount of $102,385.58; Discussion and Possible Action. (Requesting Staff Member: 
Director of Public Works Kate Nelson) – pages 26 - 37 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to: 

1. Authorize the Director of Public Works to Execute a Payment Between the District and NDOT 
in the Amount of $102,385.58 in Accordance with NRS 277.045. 

 
 

    
 

Page 1 of 198



 
 

 
Agenda for the Board Meeting of March 12, 2025 - Page 2 

 

Incline Village General Improvement District 
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin. 
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451 • (775) 832-1100 • EMAIL: info@ivgid.org 

www.yourtahoeplace.com 

G.  GENERAL BUSINESS (for possible action)   
    

 

   

 1.  SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Appoint a Board Liaison to attend the Interviews of Candidates for the 
General Manager of Golf Operations Position and Provide Feedback to Staff. (Requesting Staff Member: 
Director of Human Resources Erin Feore) – pages 38 - 39 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees Appoint a Liaison to attend the Interviews of 
Candidates for the General Manager of Golf Operations position.  

 
    

 

   

 2.  SUBJECT: Approve and Authorize the Board Chair and Secretary to Sign an Agreement between the 
District and CORE West Inc. dba CORE Construction for the 100% Construction Development Contract 
for Incline Beach House Project - FY 2024/25 Capital Improvement Project; Fund: Community Services; 
Division: Beaches; Project #3973LI1302; in the amount of $755,000; Discussion and Possible Action. 
(Requesting Staff Member: Public Works Director Kate Nelson) – pages 40 - 42  

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to: 

1. Approve the Agreement for the 100% Construction Development Documents for the Incline 
Beach House Project - 2024/25 Capital Improvement Project; Fund: Community Services; 
Division: Beaches; Project #3973LI1302; Contractor: CORE West Inc. dba CORE Construction 
for the Amount of $755,000; and, 

2. Direct the Chair and Secretary to Sign and Execute the Agreement. 
 

 
    

 

   

 3.  SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Provide Direction for the Final Design-Build Construction Contract 
for Skate Park Enhancement Project - FY 2024/25 Capital Improvement Project Fund: General; Division: 
Parks: Project #4378BD2202; (Requesting Staff Member: Director of Public Works Kate Nelson)  
– pages 43 - 64 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve a Project Budget of 
$500,000 to include Final Design, Entitlements, Permitting, District Engineering Staff Time, 
Construction Management, Contingency, and the Construction of an Addition to the existing Skate Park. 

 
    

 

   

 4.  SUBJECT: Review, Discuss, and Possibly Provide Budgetary Feedback on the Point-of-Sale 
Assessment Project. (Requesting Staff Member: Director of Information Technology Mike Gove)  
– pages 65 - 173 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees Review, Discuss, and Provide Budgetary 
Feedback on the Point-of-Sale Assessment Project 

 
    

 

   
 5.  SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve Engagement Letter Agreement with Thorndal 

Armstrong, PC. (Requesting Staff Members: District General Manager Robert Harrison and District 
Legal Counsel Sergio Rudin) – pages 174 - 178 

Page 2 of 198



 
 

 
Agenda for the Board Meeting of March 12, 2025 - Page 3 

 

Incline Village General Improvement District 
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin. 
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451 • (775) 832-1100 • EMAIL: info@ivgid.org 

www.yourtahoeplace.com 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve the Engagement 
with Thorndal Armstrong, PC for Defense of Litigation filed against the District in Timothy L. Taggard 
v. Karen Crocker, Incline Village General Improvement District, Washoe County Second Judicial 
District Court Case No. CV25-00452 and Authorize the District General Manager to Approve an 
Engagement Agreement.  

 
    

 

   

 6.  SUBJECT: Budget Workshop for Fiscal Year 2025-26 for the General Fund and Utilities Fund; 
Discussion, Direction, and possible Action. (Requesting Staff Member: District General Manager Robert 
Harrison, and Director of Finance Jessica O'Connell) – pages 179 - 193 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees Review and Discuss the Fiscal Year 2025-26 
Budget, General Fund, and Utility Fund, and provide Feedback to Staff. 

 
    

 

H.  REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS (for possible action)    
    

 

I.  LONG RANGE CALENDAR - pages 194 - 198 
    

 

J.  BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE    
    

 

K.  FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration.    
    

 

L.  ADJOURNMENT (for possible action)   
    

 

 
CERTIFICATION OF POSTING OF THIS AGENDA 
I hereby certify that on or before 9:00 AM on Friday, March 7, 2025, a copy of this agenda (IVGID Board of Trustees Session of March 12, 2025) was delivered to the 
post office addressed to the people who have requested to receive copies of IVGID’s agendas; copies were e-mailed to those people who have requested; and a copy 
was posted, physically or electronically, at the following locations in accordance with Assembly Bill 213: 

1. IVGID Anne Vorderbruggen Building (893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada; Administrative Offices) 
2. IVGID’s website (www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas) 
3. IVGID's CivicPlus Portal (https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/) 
4. State of Nevada public noticing website (https://notice.nv.gov/) 
5. IVGID's Recreation Center (980 Incline Way, Incline Village, Nevada) 

 
Individuals may request copies of all agenda materials by contacting the District Clerk or by visiting the Administrative Offices at the address listed above. 

 /s/ Heidi H. White  
Heidi H. White  
District Clerk (e-mail: hhw@ivgid.org/phone # 775-832-1268) 

 

IVGID Board of Trustees: Board Chair Michaela Tonking, Vice-Chair Michelle Jezycki, Treasurer Mick Homan, Secretary Dave Noble and Trustee Raymond Tulloch 
Notes: Items on the agenda may be taken out of order; combined with other items; removed from the agenda; moved to the agenda of another meeting; moved to or 
from the Consent Calendar section; or may be voted on in a block. Items with a specific time designation will not be heard prior to the stated time, but may be heard 
later. Those items followed by an asterisk (*) are items on the agenda upon which the Board of Trustees will take no action. Members of the public who are disabled 
and require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to call IVGID at 832-1100 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. IVGID'S agenda 
packets are available at IVGID's website, www.yourtahoeplace.com; go to "Board Meetings and Agendas”. 
 

Page 3 of 198



One District ~ One Team

ITEM E.1.

M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM:  Robert Harrison
 District General Manager

SUBJECT:  District General Manager's Monthly Status Report – February 2025.

DATE: March 12, 2025

I. District General Manager February Update

• We have received a copy of the letter from the State Department of Taxation 
granting us the fourth extension of our audit.

• We have continued the 2025/2026 operations budget review that is to be 
presented for Board consideration at the upcoming budget workshops. Reviews 
of the various operating budgets with the Directors were conducted.

• Met with Brent Mick, the current financial advisor for IVGID employees and 
the District on the District 401 and 457 retirements plan. The HR Department 
is currently drafting the RFQ which will be issued in March.

• Held legal non-meetings with the Board and coordinated with IVGID Counsel 
on outstanding legal matters.

• I met with the Washoe County Sheriff Darin Balaam this week and discussed 
several items related to public safety and policing in the IVGID community. 
Additionally, we discussed a concept that the District would permit Sheriff’s 
access to several District owned cameras. This program is described in more 
detail can be found here https://www.axon.com/products/axon-fusus. This 
would allow real time access to District cameras in the event of an emergency 
that could be used by the Sheriff’s real time dispatch center. I informed him 
that such access would require a use agreement and consideration by the 
Board. I anticipate we will have a draft agreement and presentation to the 
Board within the next 60 days or so.

• I participated in a review of the Skate Park and discussion around timelines for 
construction.

Page 4 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -2- March 12, 2024
Interim General Manager

One District ~ One Team

II. Venue Status Reports

See the attached reports for February 2025. 

III. Public Records Log
Public Records Log for Requests from December 31, 2023, to date can be reviewed 
online at https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests 

IV. ATTACHMENTS
1) February 2025 Venue Status Reports

Page 5 of 198



One District ~ One Team

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Robert Harrison 
District General Manager

FROM: Mike Bandelin
Diamond Peak Ski General Manager

SUBJECT: Venue Status Report – Ski Venue – February 2025

DATE: March 12, 2025

  
The ski venue completed its 86th day of operation at the end of February and 
the season to date skier visit count is 118,181 as compared to 107,403 through 
February last season. 

The ski venue held the annual community appreciation week beginning 
January 27, 2024 through February 2, 2024.  The weeklong event provides 
free access to the venue for picture pass holders.  The table below shows a 
year over year amount of lift tickets provided.

The tables below provide the ski venues Key Performance Indicators for the month 
of December, January and February. The tables include the annual forecast of 
measured units, and the monthly amount compared to the prior month as well as year 
to date.

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total 1365  1,638  2,043  1,623  2,428  1,539  2,660  1,036  2,220  2,274  806  600 
PPH 793  1,172  1,358  1,161  1,793  1,138  2,247  775  1,753 
Punch Card 572  466  685  462  635  362  349  230  484 

1365
1,638

2,043
1,623

2,428

1,539

2,660

1,036

2,220 2,274

806
600

0
500

1000
1500
2000
2500
3000

Community  Appreciation Week Lift Tickets

Page 6 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -2- March 12, 2025
Diamond Peak Ski

One District – One Team

December

January

Diamond Peak Ski Venue 

Service Measure Units Forecast    
FY2024-25

PY Actual      
Dec. 2023

CY Actual     
Dec. 2024

Monthly 
Variance

PY YTD 
23/24 Actual

CY YTD 
24/25 Actual

% of 
Forecast

12/01/2024 - 12/31/2024
Opening Date 12/12/2024 12/7/2023 12/5/2024
Closing Date 4/19/2025 4/21/2024
Operating Days 130 25 27 2 25 27 21%
Skier Visits 160,000 26,810 34,153 7,343 26,810 34,153 21%
PPH Lift  Tickets 9,000 2,811 2,113 (698) 2,811 2,113 23%
Non PPH Lift Tickets 42,517 11,518 11,038 (480) 11,518 11,038 26%
PPH  Season Passes YTD 3,900 4,162 4,515 353 4,162 4,515 116%
Non PPH Season Passes YTD 4,195 3,748 4,881 1,133 3,748 4,881 116%
Food & Beverage Guest Checks 93,700 16,482 17,947 1,465 16,482 16,482 18%
Rental Equipment Units 28,300 4,464 4,971 507 4,464 28,519 101%
Child Ski Center Lessons Taught 5,450 655 724 69 655 5,326 98%
Ski and Ride Center Lessons Taught 10,850 1,508 1,602 94 1,803 1508 14%

Diamond Peak Ski Venue 

Service Measure Units Forecast    
FY2024-25

PY Actual      
Jan. 2024

CY Actual     
Jan. 2025

Monthly 
Variance

PY YTD 
23/24 Actual

CY YTD 
24/25 Actual

% of 
Forecast

01/01/2025 - 01/31/2025
Opening Date 12/12/2024 12/7/2023 12/5/2024
Closing Date 4/19/2025 4/21/2024
Operating Days 130 31 31 - 56 58 45%
Skier Visits 160,000 37,007 42,322 5,315 63,817 76,475 48%
PPH Lift  Tickets 9,000 2,370 2,775 405 6,151 4,888 54%
Non PPH Lift Tickets 42,517 9,015 13,326 4,311 20,533 24,364 57%
PPH  Season Passes YTD 3,900 4,299 4,439 140 4,299 4,439 114%
Non PPH Season Passes YTD 4,195 3,917 4,929 1,012 3,917 4,929 117%
Food & Beverage Guest Checks 93,700 21,014 23,548 2,534 37,496 41,495 44%
Rental Equipment Units 28,300 4,135 4,602 467 8,599 9,573 34%
Child Ski Center Lessons Taught 5,450 869 1,845 976 1,524 2,569 47%
Ski and Ride Center Lessons Taught 10,850 1,601 1,754 153 1,702 3,356 31%

Page 7 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -3- March 12, 2025
Diamond Peak Ski

One District – One Team

February

Status - Capital Projects

The District’s ski fund (34) FY2024/25 includes total capital appropriations of 
$1,125,000 for the following projects

Staff provided a memorandum to the Capital Investment Committee Meeting 
at their meeting on August 20, 2024 (Item  F.2) for review and discussion 
related to the proposed draft Request for Qualifications to perform a Needs 
Assessment related to the Districts Snowflake Lodge at the Ski Venue. The 
RFQ, with the suggested modifications from the Capital Investment 
Committee, was approved to present the recommendation to the District’s 
Board of Trustees at a future meeting. Staff received approval from the Board 
of Trustees at their meeting on January 29, 2025, to solicit a Request for 
Qualifications document to complete a Needs Assessment for the ski venues 
Snowflake Lodge facility. (Item G.2.)

The replacement grooming vehicle project was approved by the Board of 
Trustees at their meeting on August 28, 2024 (Item G.5). The District received 
delivery of the grooming vehicle on November 4, 2024. 

The replacement of a 32-passenger shuttle bus procurement was 
recommended by staff and approved by the Board of Trustees at their meeting 
on February 26, 2025, in the amount of $193,542 from Vendor: Model 1 
Commercial Vehicles Inc.(Item F.2.)

Diamond Peak Ski Venue 

Service Measure Units Forecast    
FY2024-25

PY Actual      
Feb. 2024

CY Actual     
Feb. 2025

Monthly 
Variance

PY YTD 
23/24 Actual

CY YTD 
24/25 Actual

% of 
Forecast

01/01/2025 - 01/31/2025
Opening Date 12/12/2024 12/7/2023 12/5/2024
Closing Date 4/19/2025 4/21/2024
Operating Days 130 29 28 (1) 85 86 66%
Skier Visits 160,000 43,079 40,798 (2,281) 107,526 117,273 73%
PPH Lift  Tickets 9,000 3,139 2,243 (896) 7,170 7,131 79%
Non PPH Lift Tickets 42,517 9,205 14,841 5,636 26,788 39,205 92%
PPH  Season Passes YTD 3,900 4,231 4,460 229 4,231 4,460 114%
Non PPH Season Passes YTD 4,195 4,567 5,072 505 4,567 5,072 121%
Food & Beverage Guest Checks 93,700 24,773 22,777 (1,996) 59,662 64,272 69%
Rental Equipment Units 28,300 5,087 4,833 (254) 12,917 14,406 51%
Child Ski Center Lessons Taught 5,450 1,230 1,287 57 2,958 3,856 71%
Ski and Ride Center Lessons Taught 10,850 2,180 1,902 (278) 5,302 5,258 48%

Page 8 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -4- March 12, 2025
Diamond Peak Ski

One District – One Team

Per Board Policy 21.1.0, staff recently received approval from the District 
General Manager and the Director of Finance to purchase the snowmaking fan 
guns from vendor; TechnoAlpin in the amount of $89,097.

The Red Fox ski lift counterweight cable replacement project was completed.  
Staff has determined that the haul rope grips will not be replaced as the carrier 
grips now meet specific clearance criteria when installed on the new haul rope. 

The replacement Snowmobile project is currently being reviewed by the 
Finance Director and the District General Manager with Vendor; Incline 
Expedition in the amount of $16,034.

The replacement of the Main Lodge Electrical Entrance funding has been 
proposed within the Ski CIP to fund this project in FY2026.

The below projects and the project narrative above conclude the Capital 
Project Plan at the ski within Fiscal Year 2025.

Ski Venue FY 2025 Capital Projects

Budget Amount Project Description
$550,000 Replace Grooming Vehicle - Originally purchased in 2014. 
$205,000 This Project Replaces One of the Two 2010 Ski Shuttle Busses
$20,000  This Project Replaces  Mountain Operations Snowmobile 
$100,000 This project consists of the procurement of two snowmaking fans guns 
$175,000 This project replaces the 1966 electrical entrance panels at the ski venue main lodge.
$75,000. Replace Red Fox Ski Lift 1979 Counterweight Cable and Haul Rope Carrier Grips
$1,125,000 

The ski venue has been experiencing great conditions and has lots of events planned 
for the spring season.  Please visit diamondpeak.com for details and dates.

As always, if there are any questions related to the operations of the venue, please 
let me know and you may do so by emailing myself at mlb@ivgid.org.

Page 9 of 198



One District – One Team

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Robert Harrison, District General Manager

FROM: Erin Feore, Director of Human Resources

SUBJECT: Monthly Venue Manager Status Report - February

DATE: March 12, 2025

The Human Resources team continues with recruitment efforts for ongoing seasonal staffing and 
full-time/year-round staffing needs.  Our Talent Acquisition Specialist continues to manage the 
recruitment efforts for the District and has reported the following for Full Time/Year Round (FT/YR) 
positions:

Filled
Various seasonal positions

Current Recruitment
First Assistant Golf Professional
Collection/Distribution Operator I/II
General Manager – Golf Operations

The Human Resources team continues to support the District operations with ongoing new/rehire 
processing, terminations of employment, etc.  Further, the HR team continues to evaluate ongoing 
training opportunities for District staff and remains an engaged partner with Pool/Pact to ensure 
outside training opportunities are communicated clearly and in a timely manner to District staff.  

Partnering with Venue Directors and the General Manager, the HR Director has and continues to 
work on the following:

• Initial meetings with potential District Investment Advisors for the employee’s retirement 
program; prepare RFQ for presentation with District General Manager

• Evaluation of staffing needs and proposals for the FY 25/26 budget.
• Utilizing resources from both Pool Pact, Nevada Association of Employers and Koff & 

Associates, evaluate services for salary surveys.
• Ongoing day-to-day duties

Recruitment:
We attended the University of Nevada – Reno Spring All Major Internship, Part-time and Seasonal 
Job Fair, and along with spring hiring managers visited Diamond Peak to provide information to 
current ski staff on spring/summer positions. We had nine students from Incline Middle School’s 
eighth grade exploratory class join us at the IVGID Administration office for Mock Interviews. At 
Diamond Peak Ski Resort, we have two Incline High School students in the Comprehensive Life Skills 
(CLS) program volunteering on a limited, part-time basis with our Rental Shop & Food/Beverage 
operations.

We continue to provide fingerprinting support for volunteers assisting with our Child Ski Center and 
coaching through the Parks & Recreation community programs. We also participated in Tyler 
Technologies on site Human Resources Management (HRM) Investment Assessment. 

Page 10 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -2- March 12, 2025
Department of Human Resources

One District – One Team

Risk/Safety:

In February, the Workers' Compensation department processed four C1's (Notice of Injury) and 
opened two claims. Additionally, an insurance claim was opened for an incident involving power 
work conducted by NV Energy, which resulted in damage to two fan motors for The Chateau HVAC 
system. NV Energy has accepted responsibility for the losses.

A district insurance claim has been opened in response to a NV Energy transformer that blew and 
sent low voltage to The Chateau causing the burnout of three fan motors in The Chateau HVAC 
system. We anticipate NV Energy will be responsible for the damage, and any losses should be 
covered by them.  A claim has been opened with the Districts insurance carrier to insure proper 
coverage and repair of damages.  

The number of worker-related incidents in February is consistent with historical averages. No 
immediate change in risk likelihood or impact is foreseen.  

The February Attrition Report is as follows:

Note:  per recommendations for clarity in reporting, we have outlined both hired and terminated employee 
counts.  It should be understood that these numbers may change based on the timing of this report.

Page 11 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -1- March 2, 2025
Information Technology

One District ~ One Team

M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Robert Harrison, District General Manager

FROM: Mike Gove, Director of Information Technology

SUBJECT: February IT Status Report

DATE: March 02, 2025

BACKGROUND

Long Term Initiatives:
• Active Network POS System Assessment:

o Project has been delayed; a report will be provided at the March 12th meeting 
with the final assessment being delivered at the end of April. 

• Tyler Continued Implementation Engagement:
o Investment Assessments:

▪ The financial investment assessment has been completed, the report 
has been attached to this memo.

▪ The HR/Payroll investment assessment has been completed, the 
report has been attached to this memo.

o Continued implementation engagements will be planned

Initiative being planned for FY26
• FY26 - VOIP Phone System Upgrade:

o The current system will be end of design support 12/31/25. 
• FY26 - Onsite Backup Storage:

o The current hardware will be going on 5-7 years of age and is at the end of its 
usable life.

Short Term Task:
• On going Network security improvements and maintenance
• On going work with Finance and HR to support the Tyler System assessments
• Wireless point to point radio condition assessment
• Overnight Server OS security patching performed

 
Service Desk:
There were 143 service desk requests opened with 134 of them being resolved for the 
month of February 2025.

Page 12 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 
Marketing & Communications -1- March 6, 2025

One District ~ One Team

M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Robert Harrison
General Manager

FROM: Paul Raymore
Marketing & Communications Manager

SUBJECT: Status Report for February 2025 – Marketing & Communications

DATE: March 6, 2025

IVGID Marketing & Communications Department
February 2025 TASKS

New YourTahoePlace.com website redesign project: 

We are currently waiting on our website developer KPS3 for a launch window for the new 
YourTahoePlace.com website. Our developers have multiple other website launches 
scheduled in March and are trying to find a window to fit ours into their schedule. The 
transition process includes a content freeze for the current website, setting up redirects 
from the old website URLs to the new website URLs, transitioning the IVGID online Job 
Application portal onto a new platform and rebuilding the jobs database, and quality 
assurance testing and updates.

Once we have a launch date, we will begin a public outreach campaign including press 
releases to the local media, email newsletters to residents and stakeholders, and social 
posts to our social media accounts.

IVGID Magazine:

During February we gathered most of the content for the April 2025 edition of the 
magazine. Outreach to all IVGID Departments, gathering supporting photo assets, 
communications with CC Media, etc. 

Page 13 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 
Marketing & Communications -2- March 6, 2025

One District ~ One Team

General Projects:

• Created a template for District Media Buying RFP which will be released in early 
March.

• Working on template for IVGID Magazine Publishing Services RFP.
• Uploading IVGID Board of Trustees packet information to Board Meetings & 

Agendas page of website
• Website updates: Posting of new staff updates (IVGID GM updates), ensuring that 

new YourTahoePlace.com website content is up to date
• Email newsletters about Board of Trustees meetings, Diamond Peak IVGID 

Community Appreciation Week, Presidents Day holiday weekend tips, etc.
• Creation and distribution of The Watercooler employee email newsletter
• Updates to IVGID’s intranet employee website
• Social media monitoring & explanation: IVGID Comm account on Facebook and 

NextDoor
• Attendance at community meetings: PIO Basin collaboration call, Destination 

Stewardship Council Meeting, Tahoe Take Care Tahoe Trails meeting, Incline 
Crystal Bay Community Forum bi-weekly meetings

• Social share of Community appreciation week through all platforms
• Website updates regarding holiday venue modifications
• Social share of holiday venue modifications 

Public Works Communications:

• Website updates for PW: CIP project updates, bidding information, Tahoe Water 
Suppliers Association packet posting, notice of pH levels secondary standard 
exceeded

• Social media communications: pH levels secondary water standard notice and 
other water messaging, household hazardous waste updates

Golf Course Marketing & Communications:

• Email marketing and social media posts to promote off-season Golf Course 
operations and programs, plus Pop-Up Events at The Chateau (Sunday Brunch + 
Prime Rib Dinner)

Weddings & Facilities Marketing & Communications:

• Continued to work with EXL Media to optimize weddings campaigns, focusing on 
high-yield weddings that drive profit within the Facilities department

• Ongoing social media promotion of weddings & events department offers including 
Sunday Brunch pop-up event, Prime Rib Dinner and entire pop-up event series

Page 14 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 
Marketing & Communications -3- March 6, 2025

One District ~ One Team

• Continued promotion of winter weddings, micro weddings and elopements at The 
Chateau

• Photo & Video shoots: Wine & Tapas event

Parks & Recreation Marketing & Communications:

• Email marketing and social media posts to promote regular Parks & Rec Center 
operations and programs

• Website updates as needed for new programs, events, posting new membership 
form, updating weekly fitness schedules on website, etc.

• Holiday venue modifications – Presidents Day
• Weather related website updates and social sharing
• Uploading venue schedules to the website
• Updating spring programming information on websites

Diamond Peak Marketing & Communications:

• Continual updates and training for Diamond Peak’s AI Chatbot – monitoring 
conversations, retraining bot as needed, creating Q&A documents for bot training, 
updating website based on frequently asked questions the bot receives

• Ongoing social media promotion of all things skiing related, special events, deals 
and IVGID Pass holder discounts – IVGID Community Appreciation Week promotion

• Snow reporting duties every morning of ski season
• Continue planning for winter 2024-25 events – outreach to internal and external 

partners, media organizations, etc.
o Season Pass holder early-ups breakfast event & BBQ lunch event planning
o Luggi Foeger Festival planning & sponsor outreach
o Dummy Downhill team outreach and event planning

• Updates to marketing materials for 2024-25 paid advertising campaigns, automated 
email campaigns, social media based on ROI analysis of ongoing campaigns – 
switch out ad creative for Spring Flex Pass deal across all advertising platforms

• Reorder of Diamond Peak stickers
• Public relations outreach after Presidents Day weekend storm system
• Continual group sales outreach, communication and fulfillment to groups skiing at 

Diamond Peak
• Public relations outreach to local/regional/ski media – spring events, Luggi Foeger, 

etc.
• Update flyers and signage for display around the resort – spring events
• Manage digital signage content resort wide
• Website updates include new programs and events, conditions updates, etc.

Page 15 of 198



One District – One Team

M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Robert Harrison
District General Manager

FROM: Karen Crocker
Director of Parks and Recreation

SUBJECT: Venue Status Report Parks and Recreation– February 2025

DATE:  March 12, 2025

Below is a recap of programs and activities within the Recreation Department for the 
Month of February 2025: 

Recreation Administration

Staff has been working on putting together the proposed Fiscal Year 2025-26 budget 
and Reviewing Key Fee Rates.

Meeting and coordinating summer contracts for Bar Services and eFoils in addition to 
preparing Request for Proposal for kayak/paddle board rentals. Coordinating with the 
District’s Legal Counsel and TRPA regulations.

Recreation Center

• Recreation Front Desk is ramping up for summer operations
o Kayak wait list reconciliation.  This has been an ongoing process. We are 

on schedule for having this sorted by the time we start running 
kayak/paddleboard rack annual renewals and wait list management

o Picnic Rental requests continue to come in and now that the Board has 
approved rates, staff has begun processing

o Boat launch stickers have been delivered  
o Been working on Membership rates, including bench mark analysis. 

Membership menu is being looked at. 
o Inquiries are increasing about summer camps.

• Recreation Center Operations
o  Pickleball continues to be an issue regarding the availability of the 

gymnasium. During “shoulder season” the gymnasium is available on 
specific days and hours for drop-in pickleball. The gymnasium is a 
community hub for indoor recreation throughout the week, such as drop-in 
basketball, volleyball league, gymnastics, tiny tumblers, Birthday party 
rentals, and group fitness classes.  Some of the pickleball players have 
been very rude to others and staff. Staff have spoken to these players on 
multiple days regarding their conduct. Some of the players have been told 

Page 16 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -2- March 12, 2025
Parks and Recreation

One District – One Team

to leave by other pickleball players due to their perceived level of play. If 
this behavior continues, memberships may be suspended along with 
indoor pickleball play. The standard at the Recreation Center, is to be 
curious, respectable and welcoming to all.  

Parks  

Budget and Financial Oversight
• Completed monthly interdepartmental charges for Admin, Aspen Grove, 

Recreation Center, and Tennis/Pickleball Center.

• Coordinating monthly meetings with the Accounting Department updates on 
formatting input and feedback received on 2-11-2025.

• Hyatt donated 30 umbrellas, 50 lounge chairs with cushions for the Burnt Cedar 
pool and a BBQ to the Food & Beverage Department. Estimated value if new 
$29,000.

Safety and Maintenance
• Maintain ice-melt buckets throughout beaches and park venues to prevent slip-

and-fall accidents.

• Parks staff attended 2-12-2025 district safety committee meeting 

• Checked and signed off on the park eye wash stations weekly, AED devices, and 
fire extinguishers monthly.

• First Aid stations kits restocked.

• Conduct sign maintenance throughout parks and facilities. Replaced three older 
faded signs at the Recreation Center 

• Pothole repair at entrance to Recreation Center

• Heavy snow Feb 13 and 14, added additional snow stakes 

• Researching propane barbeque grills and planning on conducting test area this 
season. 

• Traffic Plan for special events coordinated with others key stakeholders (Sheriff 
Department) for July 4th events and to be submitted to Washoe County. 

• Split rail fencing repairs at Village Green and Fitness Trail 

Safety Trainings
• Training sessions:

Page 17 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -3- March 12, 2025
Parks and Recreation

One District – One Team

o 2-12-2025 IVGID Staff Committee attended by Sam Gough and Steven 
Phillips

o 2-14-2025 Leaf handheld leaf shredder use and safety.

o February 2025 Green Industry Training (Jose Ortega Junior) ladder safety, 
integrated pest management, lifting techniques, PPEs and chemical use 
safety

o 2-21-205 Hantavirus procedures for cleanup. 

o 2-25-2025 Chris Easley and Parks Supervisors monthly meeting and site 
visit. 

Urban Forestry Efforts
• Ongoing and spring green-waste cleanup and defensible space at beaches and 

parks tasks carried out by Parks staff. Extra IVGID dumpsters and recycling to 
Bently Ranch’s composting site. 

• Cut out walking space from tree in Disc Course 
• Perform tree inspections and maintenance.
• Waiting for confirmation of the recertification for Tree City USA status application 

for the National Arbor Day Foundation.
Playgrounds

• Conducted weekly playground safety inspections by a certified playground safety 
inspector. Playground swings are still removed due to frozen ground conditions to 
prevent injury from falling to the surface.

Specific Updates
• Cleanup of micro-plastics at Hermit, Ski, and Incline Beaches after wind and high 

wave events. 

• Minor cleanup of pine needles at Admin completed. A lite layer of pine needles is 
appropriate as per TRPA’s best management practices for erosion control. A major 
defensible space treatment was conducted in the 2019-20 season involving the 
thinning and removal of brushes and trees. Large trees were also removed, and 
existing trees lower branches were removed. Pine needle duff cleanup excessed 
100 yards during this treatment.  Yearly season defensible space treatment is done 
at parks sites. Note NLTFPD, IVGID Brush Crew and Parks staff used to conduct 
ongoing treatments throughout parks.  

Beaches

We are currently in “Shoulder Season” for the beaches. 

Aquatics

Page 18 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -4- March 12, 2025
Parks and Recreation

One District – One Team

Our February swim programs are being held at the Recreation Center Pool. Below are 
the classes: 

Group Swim Lessons 
19 children
Revenue: $1,118  
Expenses: $720 
Net: $398 

Swim Team
15 children
Revenue: $1,002 
Expenses: $460 
Net: $542 

Youth Swim Clinic
5 children
Revenue: $661 
Expenses: $304 
Net: $357 

Private Swim Lessons
16 students
Revenue: $2640 
Expenses: $1848 
Net: $792 

Adult and Youth Sports

• Adult Volleyball is ongoing
• Gymnastics is ongoing
• Youth Basketball League began on 2/3/25
• Ninjas began on 2/13/25

Financials will be presented at the conclusion of programs.

Senior Programming and 55+ Active Adults

• Cross Country is ongoing.
• Snowshoe is ongoing.
• Conversation Café is ongoing.
• Vets Club is ongoing.
• 55+ Ski Clinics is ongoing.

Page 19 of 198



Status Report for February 2025 -5- March 12, 2025
Parks and Recreation

One District – One Team

The Line Dancing Class was very well received by the community, with 6 classes 
offered between 1/15 and 2/19. There were 40 picture pass holders and 3 non-picture 
pass holders, for a total of 43 participants.

Revenue: $1228.00
Expenses: $   962.00
Net: $   266.00

Page 20 of 198



 One District – One Team 
 

   
 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

 
TO:  Bob Harrison   
  District General Manager 
   
FROM:  Kate Nelson 
     Director of Public Works  
 
SUBJECT: Public Works January 2025 Monthly Report 
 
DATE: March 5, 2025 
 
Notable Items:  
Congratulations: 

• John Williams, Treatment, Passed Grade I Water/Wastewater Operator 
Certification 

• Carl Stump, Pipeline, Passed Grade III Water Distribution Certification 
• Joey Scott, Pipeline, Passed Grade III Collections Certification 

 
DPW is working with Clear Creek Golf Course and Jacks Valley Ranch (JVR) on new Effluent 
purchase agreements due to Clear Creek selling JVR. 
 
Engineering Summary of Projects: 

• Hold for Funding/Permitting/Contract – Skate Park Enhancement (Grant extension approved 
by Washoe County) to Board 3/12/25 to determine project budget 

• RFP/RFQ – HHW Container (award 3/26/25), SCADA Masterplan (award 3/26/25), Snowflake 
Lodge Needs Assessment (award 3/26/25) 

• Planning –Ski Way Pavement Rehabilitation, DP/Grease Interceptor/Fuel Tank/Upper Parking 
Lot Pavement, Water Reservoir 3-1 and/or 5-1Recoat  

• Design – Sewer Manhole Improvements, Fire Hydrant Replacement 
• Bidding – Burnt Cedar Emergency Fuel Tank Replacement, DP Electrical Service Entrance, 

HVAC Rec Center (out to bidg), Bike Park, Champ Cart Path Holes 10 & 11, Pavement 
Maintenance 

• Construction –SPS #1 (new electrical install due starting Jan 2025), Effluent Storage Tank 
(currently winterized), Effluent Export Pipeline (GMP2, currently winterized), WRRF Roof 
Replacement (tentative start May 2025), Ponderosa Waterline Replacement (est. start date 
May 2025), Boat Ramp Repairs (Contractor ordered bolts but has not received them yet) 

• Construction Complete – Snowmaking/Pump Station Improvements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21 of 198



Status Report for February 2025  -2- March 5, 2025 
Public Works  
  
 

One District – One Team 
 

Administration:  
 

Public Works Billing Department      
Metrics for the month ending: 2/28/2025     
      

Water and Sewer 
Revenue    

Metric February 2025 January 2025 February 2024 

Water Use Revenue 
               
61,976.44  

              
97,870.15  

                
68,060.32  

Tier 1 Use Revenue 
                 
4,032.12  

                 
3,555.85  

                   
6,282.47  

Tier 2 Use Revenue 
                     
858.46  

                    
810.79  

                   
1,722.69  

Total Water Use 
Revenue 

               
66,867.02  

            
102,236.79  

                
76,065.48  

    

Total Sewer Revenue 
             
146,072.75  

            
141,686.99  

              
134,175.02  

    
 

     
Shut-Offs & Late Fees     

Metric Value   
Shut Off Postings  71   
Shut Off - Water Misc. Charges 
Revenue  

                        
1,420.00    

Late Fee Accounts 132   

Late Fees Collected 
                        

1,901.36    
    

    
Payment Method Trends    

Payment Method 
Payment Count 

% of Total 
Payments  

Monthy Automatic ACH Payments 2200 55%  
Online Payments 636 16%  
Checks 612 15%  
EFT 8 0.2%  
Daily ACH Payments (Bank to 
Bank)* 551 14%  
Cash 11 0.3%  
 4018 100%  

    
*Customers who use BillPay services through the same banking institution as 
IVGID  
 
 
     

Page 22 of 198



Status Report for February 2025  -3- March 5, 2025 
Public Works  
  
 

One District – One Team 
 

Leak Reliefs Granted    

Metric Count 
Total Credit 
Amount  

Leak Reliefs                                      -                                 -     
    
Active Liens    

Metric Count 
Total Liened 

Amount 

% of Total 
Accounts 

Receivable 
@ 2/28/2025 

Active Liens 4  $                14,363   
    
E-Billing & Cost Savings    

Metric Current Month Previous Month % Change 
Customers Enrolled in E-Billing 2253   
Cost Savings from Reduced 
Mailers 

                            
225.30    

    
Water/Wastewater Treatment:  

• BCWDP Intake Cleaned 
• Water Production –  Total 25.287 MG, Daily Avg 0.872 MGD, Daily Max 1.096 MGD 
• Wastewater Processed -  26.144 MGD, 0.934 MGD Daily Avg., 1.051 MGD Daily Max 
• Total Call Outs – 17 

 
Pipeline: 

• Water Leak Repairs – 0 
• ARV repair - 0  
• Meters tested - 0 
• After Hour Service Calls – 7 (14 hrs OT) 
• 0 Meters transponders changed out 
• Hydroflush sewer lines = 0 LF 
• Weekend/after hour snow removal at District venues – 174.5 hours 
• Performed SPS 1 bypass for training and again for supporting the SPS#1 Electrical Upgrade 

CIP Project 
• CPR Training 
• Completed Flagger Re-Certification Training 

 
Compliance: 

• Backflow tests – 59 
• Plan Checking – 18 

 
 

Waste Not: 
Calendar Year End Solid Waste Diversion Summary 

 
 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Single Stream Municipal Recycling Rate 
(WM collected/drop-off recycle/greenwaste sources versus collected 
trash) 

 
25% 

 
29% 

 
30% 

 
23% 

Waste Management (WM) Overall Recycle Rate 
(All WM recycling sources vs. all trash / MSW) 14% 14% 19% 13% 

Page 23 of 198



Status Report for February 2025  -4- March 5, 2025 
Public Works  
  
 

One District – One Team 
 

All Community Programs Recycling Rate 
(All Public Works includes biosolids & WM recycle sources vs. collected 
trash) 

 
28% 

 
30% 

 
34% 

 
24% 

WM Route collected trash (tons) (residential and commercial) 6,498 5,360 5,975 9,030 
Landfill Bound Waste (tons) (transfer station, C&D, route) 13,252 12,763 14,225 17,158 
Single Stream Mixed Commodities Municipal Recycling (tons) 1,286 1,005 997 906 
WM Curbside and Drop-off Greenwaste Program (tons) 858 1,205 1,705 1,670 
WM Curbside Yardwaste Bags Collected (count of bags) 46,059 59,185 79,659 147,112 
Holiday Tree Chipping Program (tons estimated) 16 16 16 18 
Public Works Household HHW/EWASTE (client visits) 708 599 569 430 
Public Works Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) (tons) 18 15 13 12 
Public Works Electronic Waste (tons) 10 12 11 5 
IVGID Grounds / Greenwaste (tons)  41 40 58 
Public Works Biosolids (tons) 374 381 308 334 
Trash Violations (number) 138 108 177 195 
Residential Bear Sheds (number) 1,546 1,724 1,794 1,882 
Locking Wildlife Carts (number) 503 495 557 630 
Residential standard cart service (number) 2,133 2,140 1,848 1,868 
% locking containment (residential) 49% 51% 56% 62% 
% locking containment (commercial) 100% 100% 100% 100% 
% locking containment (overall) 75% 76% 78% 81% 

 
Solid Waste Ordinance 1 Violations: 

• 11 incidents reviewed: 2 violations; 5 warnings; 4 determined non-violations 
• Fees for non-compliance collected: $100 

 
Community Outreach: 
Earth Day 2025 Events  

• South Lake Tahoe Earth Day, Saturday, April 19  
• Tahoe Truckee Earth Day, Saturday, April 26  

Snapshot Day  
• Saturday, May 10, 2025 

 
Fleet:  

• Preventative Maintenance = 344 hrs 
• Corrective Maintenance = 310 hrs 
• Emergency = 0 
• Other = 42 hrs 

 
Laboratory: 

• Quarterly monitoring for Odor 
o Q1 samples resulted in 0 TON (non-detect)  

• Potable Water Testing 
o System Samples Taken – 15 

 Total Coliform (#CFU/100mL) – 0 
 Avg. Total Res CL2 (mg/L) – 1.37 

• Wastewater Testing 
o Bacteriological Samples (Spooner Pump Station) – 4 
o Monthly Avg. Total Res CL2 (Spooner Pump Station) – 4.6 mg/L 
o Total Monthly TSS Analysis – 4 
o Total Monthly BOD Analysis – 4 
o Total Phosphorus Analysis – 1 

Page 24 of 198



Status Report for February 2025  -5- March 5, 2025 
Public Works  
  
 

One District – One Team 
 

o Total Nitrogen Analysis - 1 
 
 
Major Capital Improvement Project Status 

• Effluent Pipeline Replacement Project GMP 2 
o Planning work for 2025 construction season has begun 

• Effluent Storage Tank Project 
o Punch list, final painting to occur in 2025 
o Tank is online  

• Skate Park Project 
o Review of 30% Schematic Designs and Board Direction March 12, 2025 

Page 25 of 198



 ITEM F.1. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Robert Harrison, District General Manager 
  
FROM: Kate Nelson, Director of Public Works 
  
SUBJECT: Approve and Authorize the District General Manager to execute a 

Payment between Incline General Improvement District and the 
Nevada Department of Transportation for the Adjustment of 
Manholes, Valve Covers and Meter Boxes; FY 2024/25 Utilities 
Fund Operating Budget #20002297-7510; in the Amount of 
$102,385.58; Discussion and Possible Action. (Requesting Staff 
Member: Director of Public Works Kate Nelson) 

  
RELATED FY 2025 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
BUDGET INITIATIVE(S): 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

  
RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

NRS 277.045 
Purchasing Policy for Goods And Services 
21.1.0 

  
DATE: March 12, 2025 
 

 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION  
That the Board of Trustees Make a Motion to: 

1. Authorize the Director of Public Works to Execute a Payment Between the 
District and NDOT in the Amount of $102,385.58 in Accordance with NRS 
277.045. 
 

  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
In 2020, the District entered into an agreement with NDOT as part of the NDOT 

Page 26 of 198



Project 3858 to fund the adjustment of manholes, valve covers, and meter boxes 
within the NDOT right-of-way as part of their multi-year resurfacing project on 
State Route 28 and Mt. Rose Highway. This work is specifically focused on the 
section of SR 28 from one mile north of Sand Harbor to the Nevada-California 
state line, and on SR 431, from the SR 28 junction to 0.062 miles east of Mt. 
Rose Summit. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
The District's payment to NDOT for adjustments to manhole covers, valve 
covers, and meter boxes is governed by NRS 277.045 Miscellaneous 
Cooperative Agreements.  IVGID opted to incorporate this work into the NDOT 
Project 3858 design and construction package to simplify coordination and avoid 
the complexities of working directly with NDOT's contractor during construction, 
thereby streamlining the process by having the work completed as part of the 
ongoing project. 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
Adjustments to manholes, valve covers, and meter boxes are included annually 
in the Utilities operating budget. The District collaborates with both NDOT and 
Washoe County each year, as their road improvement projects often necessitate 
these adjustments. This funding was approved in the FY 2024/25 Utilities 
Operating Budget (#20002297-7510) and will be disbursed from this General 
Ledger account. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
Not applicable. 
 
VI. COMMENTS  
Not applicable. 
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
This item is not a "rule" within the meaning of Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 
237, and does not require a Business Impact Statement.  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. Nevada DOT 03858J3803 $52,222.99 Hudson-Kate 2.20.25 
2. Nevada DOT 03858J3801 $1784.77 Hudson-Kate 2.20.25 
3. Nevada DOT 03858J3802 $48377.82 Hudson-Kate 2.20.25 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES   
 

Page 27 of 198



Page 28 of 198



Page 29 of 198



Page 30 of 198



Page 31 of 198



Page 32 of 198



Page 33 of 198



Page 34 of 198



Page 35 of 198



Page 36 of 198



Page 37 of 198



 ITEM G.1. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Robert Harrison, District General Manager 
  
FROM: Erin Feore, Director of Human Resources  
  
SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Appoint a Board Liaison to attend the 

Interviews of Candidates for the General Manager of Golf 
Operations Position and Provide Feedback to Staff. (Requesting 
Staff Member: Director of Human Resources Erin Feore) 

  
  
  
RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

Resolution 1911, Policy and Procedure 144 

  
DATE: March 12, 2025 
 

 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION  
The Board appoint a Liaison to attend the interviews of candidates for the 
General Manager of Golf Operations position.  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
Following General Manager direction on January 30, 2025, the Human 
Resources Department prepared a dynamic recruiting flyer and posted the 
opened position for the General Manager of Golf Operations position on various 
job boards and with the PGA.  At this time, applications and resumes are being 
collected and reviewed.  This is a Senior level position that reports directly to the 
District General Manager. 
  
It is anticipated that interviews will begin in mid-to-late March. To ensure 
compliance with Resolution 1911, Policy and Procedure 144, we would like to 
have a Board appoint its liaison to participate in this process with us so we can 
ensure applicant information is shared timely with the liaison before interviews 
begin. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
N/A 
 

Page 38 of 198



IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
This is an approved, budgeted position in FY 24/25 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
The Board may direct the Human Resources Director to proceed with the 
recruitment process without a Board liaison. 
 
VI. COMMENTS   
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
None 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
Assign a Board Liaison to work with Human Resources and District General 
Manager in the recruitment process of the General Manager of Golf position. 
 

Page 39 of 198



 ITEM G.2. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Robert Harrison, District General Manager 
  
FROM: Kate Nelson, Director of Public Works, Bree Waters, District Project 

Manager  
  
SUBJECT: Approve and Authorize the Board Chair and Secretary to Sign an 

Agreement between the District and CORE West Inc. dba CORE 
Construction for the 100% Construction Development Contract for 
Incline Beach House Project - FY 2024/25 Capital Improvement 
Project; Fund: Community Services; Division: Beaches; Project 
#3973LI1302; in the amount of $755,000; Discussion and Possible 
Action. (Requesting Staff Member: Public Works Director Kate 
Nelson) 

  
RELATED FY 2023 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
BUDGET INITIATIVE(S): 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #1 - SERVICE 
The District will provide superior quality service 
through responsible stewardship of District 
resources and assets with an emphasis on the 
parcel owner and customer experience. 
 
LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long-term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

  
RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

Board Policy 12.1.0 Multi-Year Capital Planning; 
13.2.0 Capital Planning Expenditures; 21.1.0 
Purchasing Policy for Public Works Contracts 

  
DATE: March 12, 2025 
 

 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION  
The Board of Trustees makes a motion to: 

Page 40 of 198



1. Approve the Agreement for the 100% Construction Development 
Documents for the Incline Beach House Project - 2024/25 Capital 
Improvement Project; Fund: Community Services; Division: Beaches; 
Project #3973LI1302; Contractor: CORE West Inc. dba CORE 
Construction for the amount of $755,000; and, 

2. Direct the Chair and Secretary to sign and execute the Agreement. 

  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
The contract for the 100% Construction Development Documents is the next step 
in moving the beach house project forward.  The Design-Build contract includes 
the continued design development of the project with a deliverable of 100% 
Construction Development documents, project permitting, subcontractor bidding, 
and negotiation of the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) for the construction 
project.    
 
For the complete background on the Incline Beach House Project, refer to 
Supplemental Item G.4 for the Board Meeting on January 29, 2025:  
 
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/uploads/pdf-ivgid/2025-
0129_BOT_Supplemental_Item_G4_InternalMemo_Background-
InclineBeachHouse__Beach_Access_Projects_15JAN25.pdf 
 
Also, a list of the Summary of Board Memos Included for background education 
are as follows: 
 
July 27, 2022 (Item H.1) 
February 8, 2023 (Item F.8) 
April 5, 2023 (Item G2-FY 2023/24 Budget Workshop #3) 
July 26, 2023 (Item H.1) 
February 28, 2024 (Item G.2) 
March 28, 2024 (Item E.2) 
April 16, 2024 (Internal Board Memo) 
May 8, 2024 (Item G.5) 
June 12, 2024 (Item G.1) 
October 9, 2024 (Item E.4) 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
N/A. 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
The FY 2023/24 approved budget included $4,000,000 for the total Project 
Budget for the Incline Beach House Project, of which $103,500 plus an additional 
$50,000 was used for the 30% Schematic Design. The FY 2024/25 approved 
budget for the Beach Access Project carried the money forward and included 

Page 41 of 198



$400,000 for the Beach Access Project.  The total remaining budget for this 
project is $3,845,000 and $755.000 will be used for the 100% Design 
Development, Construction Documents, Permitting and Guaranteed Maximum 
Price (GMP). 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
N/A 
 
VI. COMMENTS  
The Owner and Design-Builder Amendment has been reviewed and approved as 
to form by Silver State Law and District's Legal Counsel. 
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
This item is not a "rule" within the Nevada Revised Statute, Chapter 237 and 
does not require a Business Impact Statement.  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
None 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES   
 

Page 42 of 198



 ITEM G.3. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Robert Harrison, District General Manager 
  
FROM: Kate Nelson, Director of Public Works, Bree Waters, District Project 

Manager  
  
SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Provide Direction for the Final Design-Build 

Construction Contract for Skate Park Enhancement Project - FY 
2024/25 Capital Improvement Project Fund: General; Division: 
Parks: Project #4378BD2202; (Requesting Staff Member: Director of 
Public Works Kate Nelson) 

  
RELATED FY 2025 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
BUDGET INITIATIVE(S): 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #1 - SERVICE 
The District will provide superior quality service 
through responsible stewardship of District 
resources and assets with an emphasis on the 
parcel owner and customer experience. 

 Long Term Initiative #6 - Execute the 
shortand long term strategy as they relate to 
various district venue and facility master plans 
and studies as the roadmap for the future. 

  
 LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

 Long Term Initiative #2 - Continue to 
implement top priorities identified in the 
Community Service Master Plan, priorities as 
defined by the Board of Trustees. 

RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

 
Multi-Year Capital Planning Policy 12.1.0; 
Capital Project Budgeting Policy 13.1.0; 
Purchasing Policy for Public Works Contracts 
21.2.0 

DATE: March 12, 2025 
 

Page 43 of 198



 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION  
The Board make a motion to approve a project budget of $500,000 to include 
final design, entitlements, permitting, District engineering staff time, construction 
management, contingency, and the construction of an addition to the existing 
Skate Park.  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
In April 2000, the Board initiated the design phase for the Incline Skate Park, 
which was subsequently constructed in the spring of 2001. For over two 
decades, the Incline Skate Park has been a popular destination for 
skateboarders of all ages and skill levels. However, the facility no longer 
adequately meets the needs of its users or the broader community. The park’s 
limited size relative to the number of users exacerbates safety concerns. 
Compared to surrounding skate parks, the Incline Skate Park is the smallest and 
lacks sufficient beginner features and variety to support skill development across 
all levels. 
 
The Incline Skate Park is one of the community’s most heavily used facilities, 
with camps in high demand and consistently selling out shortly after registration 
opens. The Community Services Master Plan (CSMP), updated in 2019, 
identifies several recommendations, including the Skate Park Enhancement 
Project as a Second Tier Recommendation (Pages 132-139).  The CSMP states: 
"The skatepark has the potential to provide a better range of structures to meet 
both beginner and experienced user needs. The current design is focused more 
towards experienced users, which reduces overall use." Additionally, the CSMP 
notes: "The skatepark is adequate but is not designed for multiple age 
groups/ability levels. Incorporating a variety of elements for beginners, young 
skaters, and experienced skaters will enhance the facility. These enhancements 
have community support and could greatly increase the use of community 
resources." 
 
At the January 12, 2022, Board Meeting (Item G.4), the Skate Park 
Enhancement Project was officially designated a Board Priority Project, with an 
initial budget allocation of $190,000 for FY 2022. In the summer of 2022, staff 
successfully secured a $250,000 grant from Washoe County to fund 
enhancements to the park. Subsequently, at the December 14, 2022, Board 
Meeting (Item G.1), the Board formally accepted a Notice of Subaward (Non-
Competitive Grant) from Washoe County in the amount of $250,000 for the 
project. 
 
During this meeting, staff also noted that while $190,000 had initially been 
budgeted for the project in FY 2022, the prevailing construction climate might 
necessitate additional funding. Further direction was provided at the May 25, 
2023, Board Meeting (Item G.2), where the Board instructed staff to issue a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) for a Design-Build team. The selection committee 

Page 44 of 198



ultimately chose Spohn Ranch as the Design-Build team. 
 
Project Design Options 
 
The selected team was tasked with developing a 30% Schematic Design for two 
potential project options (Attached): 

• Option 1: A smaller footprint project area, fully funded by the $250,000 
Washoe County grant. 

• Option 2: A larger footprint project area with a total cost of $500,000. 

 
The RFP solicited bids for total project costs of $250,000 and $500,000, 
encompassing both hard and soft costs. These budgets account for permitting, 
design, construction, demolition, hazardous materials remediation (if required), 
new construction, site work, underground utilities (such as drainage), 
landscaping, site furnishings, and contingencies. The two options under 
consideration include one skate park estimated at approximately 2,000 SF and 
another at approximately 4,000 SF. 
 
The Board’s intent was to decide on a final design and total project budget once 
the 30% Schematic Design was completed and presented for 
consideration.  Following Board approval on April 10, 2024 (Item G.3), project 
design and progress meetings commenced immediately and were held bi-
weekly. These meetings included the Design-Build team, District Staff, and 
members of the Skate Park community, ensuring all stakeholders were actively 
involved from the outset. The design concepts were continually presented and 
refined through ongoing collaboration. 
 
Recent Project Developments 
The 30% Schematic Design was presented to the Capital Investment Committee 
on August 20, 2024 (Item F.3). The committee supported the project and was 
favorable to the proposed designs. The majority of the committee believed the 
larger design better met the safety needs of the skate park community.   
 
Shortly after this meeting, it was determined that an error in the general fund 
budget left this project with no appropriated funds in FY 2024/25.  As staff are 
moving through the budget process for FY 2025/26, staff are returning to the 
Board for direction on the project and funding to be included in the FY 2025/26 
Capital Improvement Project budget.   
 
Staff Recommendations 
It is the staff’s recommendation that the Board move forward with the total budget 
of $500,000. This budget will include funding for: 

• Process the entitlements for the property. 
• Properly finalize permitting requirements. 
• Support Public Works staff time for design and construction oversight. 

Page 45 of 198



• Maintain a construction contingency to address unforeseen conditions. 

 
With Board approval, staff will request a proposal for the final Design-Build 
contract with Spohn Ranch.  This contract will be brought back to the Board for 
approval after July 1, 2025. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
Not applicable. 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
The FY 2024/25 Budget includes funding in the amount of $500,000. Half of the 
budget ($250,000) is funded through an ARPA grant from Washoe County.  The 
grant is a reimbursement type grant; therefore, the total project budget must be 
included in the General Fund Capital Improvement Plan line item.    
 
The Parks Department has indicated that current maintenance requirements for 
the Skate Park are approximately 75–100 hours per year, which includes tasks 
such as maintaining hard surfaces and trash removal. It is anticipated that these 
maintenance hours would increase by approximately 15% for Option 1 and 25% 
for Option 2, should the park's hard surfaces be expanded.  
 
This past summer marks the fifth consecutive year that the Recreation 
Department has offered Skate Camps. The program includes eight one-week 
sessions throughout the summer. Last summer, the camp attracted 81 
participants, generating a total revenue of $19,125. The camp is managed by two 
employees who are compensated on a commission basis. Of the participants, 69 
were residents, and 12 were non-residents. Non-residents are charged an 
additional $75 per session compared to residents. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES   
 
VI. COMMENTS  
Not applicable. 
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. 30 Schematic Design 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES   
 

Page 46 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV  //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN 7.24.24

INCLINE VILLAGE 
SKATE PARK 

30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  //  7.24.2024

Page 47 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 48 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 49 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 50 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 51 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 52 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 53 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 54 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 1

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 55 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 56 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 57 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 58 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 59 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 60 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 61 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 62 of 198



SKATE PARK ENHANCEMENT PROJECT  //  INCLINE VILLAGE, NV //  30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN  7.24.24

SKATE PARK CONCEPT DESIGN  //  OPTION 2

1. ACCESS POINT

2. SHADE STRUCTURE

3. SPECTATOR SEATING

4. QUARTER-PIPE

5. BOWL

6. SLANTED GRIND RAIL

7. PUMP HUMP

8. HIPPED BANK

9. SLAPPY CURB

6

7

8

5

3

4

4

4

4

9

Page 63 of 198



C
:\U

se
rs

\M
ik

eL
ef

ra
nc

oi
s\

O
ne

D
riv

e 
- L

ef
ra

nc
oi

s 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g\
Pr

oj
ec

ts
\A

ct
iv

e 
Pr

oj
ec

ts
\1

04
 S

po
hn

 R
an

ch
 S

ka
te

 P
ar

ks
\C

AD
\C

0 
C

O
VE

R
.d

w
g,

 7
/2

3/
20

24
 2

:5
6:

23
 P

M

Page 64 of 198



One District ~ One Team 

 ITEM G.4. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Robert Harrison, District General Manager 

 

  
FROM: Mike Gove, Director of IT/IS 
  
SUBJECT: Review, Discuss, and Possibly Provide Budgetary Feedback on the 

Point-of-Sale Assessment Project. (Requesting Staff Member: 
Director of Information Technology Mike Gove) 

  
RELATED FY 2025 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
BUDGET INITIATIVE(S): 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #1 - SERVICE 
The District will provide superior quality service 
through responsible stewardship of District 
resources and assets with an emphasis on the 
parcel owner and customer experience. 

 LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #3 - FINANCE 
The District will ensure fiscal responsibility and 
sustainability of service capacities through 
prudent fiscal management and maintaining 
effective financial policies for internal controls, 
operating budgets, fund balances, capital 
improvement and debt management. 

 LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

 LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #6 - 
COMMUNICATION 
The District will engage, interact and educate to 
promote understanding of the venues, facilities, 
services, and ongoing affairs. 

 

DATE: March 12, 2025 
 

 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Trustees Review, Discuss, and Provide Budgetary Feedback on 
the Point-of-Sale Assessment Project  

Page 65 of 198



One District ~ One Team 

  
 
II. BACKGROUND 

Following extensive discussions with staff, including IT, Venue Managers, former General 
Managers, and venue-appointed Subject-Matter Experts (SMEs), it was determined that a 
refresh of several of the District's point-of-sale (POS) systems was essential. An internal 
review identified the systems responsible for the District's Parcel Master and Punch Card 
functionality—specifically "Capstone"—which are at the end of their development and 
support lifecycle, as the top priority for replacement. The next priority will be the POS 
systems for Golf, Food and Beverage, Recreation, and Beaches.  

Given the District's unique operations, which include guest and resident pricing, punch card 
processing, the restrictions and intricacies of Ordinance 7, and a range of recreational 
industry functions, continuing the one-by-one replacement of POS systems was deemed 
inefficient. This approach has resulted in data segregation, multiple customer and resident 
data records, insufficient functionality, varying user experiences, and disconnected financial 
reporting.  

 

Request for Proposal (RFP) Scope:  

Staff, with the approval of the Board of Trustees, decided to prepare an RFP for a software 
development plan addressing the following scope:  

• Integration with Core Financial System (Tyler Munis): Real-time Business 
Intelligence (BI) tracking and cash/revenue management. 

• Consolidation of Master Records Across POS Systems: One central profile and 
Access Media for all venues. 

• PCI Compliance: Ensuring minimal payment processors, with support for stored 
payment, EMV, and NFC. 

• Operational Functionality: Ensuring minimal disruption from the current POS 
systems. 

• Consolidated E-Commerce Platform: Addressing retail venues (Golf, Tennis, Ski, 
Rec Center) needs for product sales, program management, and member profile 
management. 

• Restricted Access E-Commerce Platform: Addressing non-retail venues (owners 
& residents only) needs, including parcel management, integration with Washoe 
County’s Parcel Database, punch card management, and picture uploading for 
passes. 

• Customer Relationship Management (CRM): Across all retail POS platforms. 
• Documentation and Staff Training: For newly proposed systems. 

 
 
 

Page 66 of 198



One District ~ One Team 

 
 
Project Timeline:  

• RFP Posted: August 25, 2023 
• Responses Due: October 4, 2023 
• Vendor Selection: Active Network was selected to move forward with Phase 1 of 

the project (assessment) on October 27, 2023. 
• Project Awarded: November 8, 2023 
• Agreement Approved: March 13, 2024 
• Project Commencement: April 3, 2024 
• Milestone Documents: Staff have received the Project Charter and Functional 

Requirements. These are attached to this memorandum. 
  
Delays Experienced:  

The project experienced a delay of 45 to 60 days due to a request from Trustee Schmitz for 
a review of potential modifications to Punch Card functionality. Any changes to Ordinance 
7, particularly regarding punch card functionality, were identified as a potential risk in the 
Project Charter. Staff decided to proceed with the current Punch Card functionality as a 
requirement, with consideration that this could be modified in the future.  

 
Future Delivery Expectations:  

The remaining assessment documents, Solution Design and Budgetary Timeline, are 
expected to be delivered to the Board of Trustees by April 30, 2024, Board meeting. 

  
Budgetary Feedback:  

Staff are currently preparing their operating and capital budgets for Fiscal Year 2026 and 
have requested estimated overall budgetary considerations, with particular focus on Year 
One priorities, from the assessment team. As of the writing of this memorandum, staff have 
not received estimated budgetary considerations for other potential Year One deliverables 
or the remainder of the project.  

Note: The figures provided are preliminary estimates, as they precede the project’s final 
Budgetary and Timeline Deliverable.  

 
Overall Budgetary Considerations:  

The assessment team has provided staff with an estimated project delivery cost ranging 
from $2,500,000 to $3,500,000, with a 3-to-5-year timeline. These estimates will be finalized 
upon the delivery of the assessment at the end of April 2024.  

Page 67 of 198



One District ~ One Team 

 

 

 

FY26 Year 1 Budget Priorities:  

 

1. Parcel and Resident Management – Capstone System 

The outlined requirements for this are on pages 14-17 of the Functional Requirements.  
To date, an off-the-shelf system has not been identified that meets the 
District’s functional requirements, including the needs of Ordinance 7 and 
venue staff. While the assessment team continues to prioritize the search for 
a commercial off-the-shelf solution, it is increasingly likely that the 
recommendation will involve a hybrid or custom-developed system. 
 
Preliminary budgetary estimates for a custom or hybrid development of a 
replacement system have been developed. These estimates include the 
integration of the two current POS systems (Vermont for Recreation, Golf, 
Beaches, and Tennis, and RTP for Ski and Food and Beverage), integration 
with the current Financial ERP system (Tyler), and consideration for annual 
maintenance and support. 
 
 
  

2. Business Intelligence (BI) 

The outlined requirements for this are on pages 39-43 of the Functional Requirements.  
District Venue Managers have identified a need for enhanced reporting 
capabilities beyond what Tyler currently provides. Given that revenue and 
product-specific sales data are processed and tracked locally within the POS 
systems, while operating budgets and expenses are recorded within Tyler, the 
assessment team has preliminarily concluded that a separate Data 
Warehouse and Business Intelligence (BI) system is required. This system 
would retrieve, store, and compile data from the two existing POS systems 
and the ERP, enabling venue managers to analyze and generate reports on 
industry-specific Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 
 
A concern for the assessment team is the limited API functionality within Tyler, 
particularly the absence of an API for Payroll data. While this data could 
potentially be retrieved through alternative methods, the team is actively 
exploring these options. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68 of 198



One District ~ One Team 

 
 
 
 
  

Conclusion:  

Staff is seeking feedback from the Board of Trustees in consideration to add the following 
items to the FY26 Capital and Operating Budgets:  

 
 
Objective    Budgetary Request  
Parcel and Resident Management 
–  

    

  Custom Development  $250,000  
  Program Management  $75,000  
  System Integration 

Support (3rd Party)  
$75,000  

      
FY26 - Capital    $400,000  
Operating    $15,000/Annually  

  
 

Objective    Budgetary Request  
Business Intelligence (BI)      
  BI Development  $175,000  
  Program Management  $25,000  
  System License  $75,000  
      
FY26 - Capital    $275,000  
Operating    $30,000/Annually  

 
 
Total Request: FY26      
Capital    $675,000  
Recurring Operating    $45,000/Annually  
One-Off Operating  Operating Development 

Request  
$30,000/Annually for 3 
years  

  
Total Request for FY26:  

• Capital: $675,000 
• Recurring Operating (Annual): $45,000 
• One-Time Operating Development Request: $30,000 annually for 3 years 

Page 69 of 198



One District ~ One Team 

Note: As part of the budgetary presentation, the assessor will also address any potential net 
savings from the discontinuation of current software support and license fees. However, 
staff anticipate that the overall annual expense will result in a net increase.  

 
  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS 
1. IVGID - RFP - POS Assessment 
2. IVGID - RFP Response - Response Active Network LLC 
3. IVGID - Project Charter - POS Assessment 
4. IVGID - Functional Requirements Document - POS Assessment 
 

 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
 

Page 70 of 198



 

1 | P a g e   

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
POINT OF SALE SYSTEM  

 
August 25, 2023 

 
To:   All Prospective Proposers 
Subject:  Request for Proposals: Point of Sale System  
Date Issued:  August 25, 2023 
Responses Due:  October 4, 2023. 5:00 p.m. (PST) 
 
Owner 

Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID or District) 
893 Southwood Boulevard 
Incline Village, Nevada 89451 
 
IVGID RFP Contact: Heidi White, District Clerk 
 hhw@ivgid.org or 775-832-1268 
 
About the District 
 
The District is a General Improvement District, established under Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 
Chapter 318 and chartered to provide water, sewer, trash and recreation services for over 9,000 
residents in the communities of Incline Village and Crystal Bay, Washoe County, Nevada. Within 
the limits of the NRS, IVGID is empowered to determine what facilities and services it should offer 
that will preserve or enhance the general health, safety and welfare of the community. For more 
information about the District, please visit: https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid.  
 
Project Identification 

Project Name: Point of Sale System  
 
The purpose of this Request for Proposal is to select a qualified firm to provide the outlined Scope 
of Work (Exhibit A) services.  
 
Delivery of Proposals 

Proposal packages from all interested parties will be submitted in PDF electronic format to the 
District Clerk at hhw@ivgid.org, and will be subject to the terms, conditions and scope of services 
herein stipulated and/or attached hereto. 

Deadline for receipt of proposals is 5:00 p.m. (PST), October 4, 2023. 

Confidentiality: All documents and other information submitted in response to this Request for 
Proposal are confidential and will not be disclosed until notice of intent to award the contract is 
issued. 
  

Page 71 of 198



 

2 | P a g e   

ARTICLE 1 PROJECT OVERVIEW 

 
A. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Incline Village General Improvement District is seeking a consulting firm to possibly embark 
on a two-phased project. Each bidder is required to submit a proposal for the first phase 
“Assessment” and have the proven capability to deliver on the second phase, “Implementation”. 

 

The first phase of the project “Assessment” is to assess the current technical environment, 
including all point of sale and financial software, gather the requirements of each point-of-sale 
software and formulate a written recommended transition plan for moving from the current state 
to the desired state. The final deliverable of the “Assessment” is a written recommended 
“Implementation” plan. The “Implementation” plan must include costs for project management, 
oversight, and implementation of the recommendations. It should also include timeline of 
deliverables, staff training and product documentation, bi-weekly status reports to the District’s 
implementation team, access to any proprietarily written source programming code, and any 
required travel expenses along with any costs to procure, host and or implement the 
recommendations, including any on-going licensing and or hardware costs as well as estimated 
required staff time. 

 

B. PROJECT SCHEDULE 

All proposals are to include anticipated project start and target completion dates. 
 

C. PERSONNEL 

The firm’s personnel shall be qualified and trained to accomplish the work in a professional 
manner and in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local requirements. This includes, 
but is not limited to: 

 Demonstrated experience reviewing and analyzing foundational public agency documents 

 Understanding of applicable state and local laws, regulations, and policies 

 Demonstrated experience reviewing and identifying potential concerns with financial and 
software systems  

 

D. EQUIPMENT 

The firm shall provide all materials and equipment necessary to accomplish the Work.  

 

E. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Commercial Insurance: Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the 
contract, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property, which may 
arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, 
his/her agents, representatives, employees, or subcontractors.  Contractor shall purchase 
General Liability, Professional Liability, Workers' Compensation, and Professional Liability 
Insurance.   

General Liability: Contractor shall purchase General Liability coverage with a minimum of 
$2,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence, $4,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury, 
personal injury and property damage. Contractor shall have a Certificate of Insurance issued 

Page 72 of 198



 

3 | P a g e   

to the INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT naming it as additional 
insured, and indicating coverage types, amounts and duration of the policy.   

Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions: Consultant shall procure and maintain, and 
require its sub-consultants to procure and maintain, for a period of five (5) years following 
completion of the Services, professional liability/errors and omissions liability insurance 
appropriate to their profession.  Such insurance shall be in an amount not less than 
$2,000,000 per claim, and shall be endorsed to include contractual liability.  “Covered 
Professional Services” as designated in the Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions policy 
must specifically include work performed under this Agreement. 

Workman's Compensation: It is understood and agreed that there shall be no Industrial 
Insurance coverage provided for the Contractor or any Subcontractor by the District; and in 
view of NRS 616.280 and 617.210 requiring that Contractor comply with the provisions of 
Chapters 616 and 617 of NRS, Contractor shall, before commencing work under the 
provisions of this Agreement, furnish to the District a Certificate of Insurance from an admitted 
insurance company in the State of Nevada.   

Notice of Change/Non-Renewal: All certificates of insurance required under this section E. 
shall provide for a minimum written notice of thirty (30) days to be provided to District in the 
event of material change, termination or non-renewal by either Contractor or carrier.   

F. LICENSES  

Consultant shall have a Washoe County business license, if applicable, and all appropriate 
Contractor’s licenses and certifications for the services to be performed. 

G. STAFFING PLAN AND STAFF QUALIFICATIONS 

The firm shall provide a staffing plan identifying total number of consultants and the number 
of each category of consultants who will be assigned to complete the Work; names of key 
individuals, number of years’ experience and specific responsibilities; and job descriptions for 
each category of each person who will be performing the work.  

H. SIMILAR ENGAGEMENTS 
 
Submitted proposals must include examples of similar engagements and the results 
delivered.  

 

ARTICLE 2 PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

Please submit an electronic (PDF) written proposal to hhw@ivgid.org, with the subject line “RFP 
– Point of Sale System,” by the Proposal Submission Deadline, that addresses the following 
matters. Proposers must provide the following information in the order listed below. Please 
respond to each section on a separate page, in the order listed. Use this Article 2 as a checklist to 
be sure all information is included. PROPOSALS NOT RECEIVED IN THIS FORMAT MAY BE 
CONSIDERED NON‐RESPONSIVE. 
 
Submission of a Proposal shall be deemed a representation that the proposer: 
 

1. Has carefully read and fully understands the information provided by IVGID as part of this 
RFP, including Exhibits A, B and C;  

2. Represents that all information submitted is true and correct;  
3. Did not, in any way, collude, conspire to agree, directly or indirectly, with any person, firm, 

corporation or other firm regarding the amount, terms or conditions of its Proposal; and  

Page 73 of 198



 

4 | P a g e   

4. Acknowledges that IVGID has the right to make any inquiry it deems appropriate to 
substantiate or supplement information as necessary. 

 
 A – COVER LETTER  

Include a cover letter with a summary of the firm’s experience and capability in 
management and software consulting and service delivery related to the Scope of Work 
identified. Include the founding date of your organization, parent/subsidiary/affiliation 
relationship with other firms, types of services provided and the number of years your firm 
has been in business. Detail any exclusions to the Scope of Work. 

 
 B – COMPANY BACKGROUND AND ORGANIZATION  

Include your firm’s complete: 

1. Name 

2. Address 

3. Contact person 

4. Phone number 

5. Email 

6. Website address 

7. Provide company’s mission statement, values, and ethical standards 

8. Describe your company’s major lines of business 

9. What differentiates your services/company from other companies offering similar 
services? 

10. Identify any litigation pending or threatened against your company as of the submission 
date 

 
 C – EXPERIENCE  

1. Number of years in management and software consulting and implementation 
2. Referrals – List of similar Project‐related clients, including: 

a. Service provided 
b. Client organization 
c. Scale of project (e.g. project $ amount, location, size, duration) 
d. Contact name and number 

3. Special Considerations 
4. Describe any attribute of your firm that would enhance this proposal 

 
 D – STAFFING PLAN 

 
1. Number of staff assigned to the work, by category 
2. Job descriptions of staff, by category 
3. Staff qualifications 

a. Education/relevant experience (type and number of years) of key employees 
b. Training of each employee or category of employee 

i. Scope, frequency, employees covered, training, organization 
4. Proposed staffing and project schedule  

 E – FINANCIAL DATA  

Provide a copy of your most recent audited Financial Statement. 
 

Page 74 of 198



 

5 | P a g e   

 F – PROJECT COST AND SCHEDULE 

The proposal must contain the cost estimate the Scope of Work and the estimated timeline 
for completion of the required analysis, recommendations and formulation of the cost and 
timeline estimate for the potential implementation of the recommendations. 

 
ARTICLE 3 EVALUATION AND AWARD 

A. Proposal Evaluation: Per NRS 332 and IVGID’s Purchasing Policy for Goods and Services, 
IVGID is not required to select the lowest priced offer, but may look at all factors concerning 
an offer, including, but not limited to, whether the proposal has: 

1. the appropriate financial, materials, equipment, facility, personnel resources and expertise 
available, or the ability to obtain these as necessary to indicate the capability to meet all 
contractual requirements; 

2. demonstrated a thorough and accurate response to each requested item;  

3. a satisfactory record of performance, including a demonstrated history of successfully 
completing projects of a similar type, meeting delivery deadlines, and experience with 
similar work; 

4. any requested exceptions to IVGID’s standard professional services agreement (Exhibit 
C);  

5. a satisfactory record of customer service; 

6. a satisfactory record of integrity;  

7. the legal authority to contract with IVGID; and  

8. any other factors IVGID deems relevant. 
 
B. IVGID reserves the right not to contract with any person submitting a bid in response to this 

RFP. If IVGID decides to contract, it will do so with the proposer whose responses best meet 
its needs, consistent with the selection process set forth herein. This RFP shall not be binding 
on IVGID until such time as a formal written contract and related documents have been 
approved by IVGID and fully executed by the parties. 

 
C. IVGID shall evaluate, interview via Zoom, and select the firm(s) it determines to be best suited 

for this engagement. Evaluation of a response does not constitute a commitment by IVGID 
to acquire such services from any source. IVGID is not obligated in any way to proceed with 
this RFP or consider or enter into any agreement or undertake any liability to any firm in 
connection with this RFP, and any and all responses, whether qualified or not, may be 
rejected without any liability whatsoever to any firm on the part of IVGID. IVGID shall not be 
responsible for any costs incurred by a firm to prepare, submit, negotiate, contract or 
otherwise participate in this RFP process.  

D. IVGID further reserves the right to: 

1. Make a selection based on its sole discretion; 
2. Reject any and all proposals;  
3. Issue subsequent solicitations;  
4. Postpone any of the time periods set forth in this RFP, for its own convenience; 
5. Remedy technical errors in the RFP;  
6. Approve or disapprove the use of particular subconsultants;  
7. Negotiate with any, all, multiple or none of the Proposers that respond;  
8. Negotiate a final project scope that includes all, just a portion, or related additional items 

relative to the proposed Scope of Work set forth in this RFP; 

Page 75 of 198



 

6 | P a g e   

9. Waive informalities and irregularities in this RFP;  
10. Utilize others to perform or supply work of the type contemplated by this RFP; 
11. Request proposals from others with or without requesting proposals from contractors for 

the work of the type contemplated by this RFP; and/or 
12. Enter into an agreement with another firm or re-solicit this project in the event the originally 

selected firm defaults or fails to execute an agreement with IVGID. 

 

ARTICLE 4 FIRM SELECTION SCHEDULE; QUESTIONS REGARDING RFP; 
ADDENDA 

 
The following dates are tentative and subject to revision by the District: 
 
RFP for Services Advertised on District’s Website and Planetbids.com ............... August 25, 2023 
RFP - Last Day for Questions ............................................. September 22, 2023, 5:00 p.m. (PST) 
All Questions Answered ...................................................... September 27, 2023, 5:00 p.m. (PST) 
Proposals Due ................................................................................... October 4, 2023, 5:00 (PST) 
Interviews via Zoom ......................................................................................... October 9-13, 2023 
Award of Project – IVGID Board of Trustees Meeting .............. October 25, 2023 6;00 p.m. (PST) 
 
All questions regarding this RFP, please contact: Heidi White at hhw@ivgid.org, with the subject 
line clearly marked “RFP – Point of Sale System” Questions will not be accepted through any 
other channels. Questions must be received no later than the deadline set forth above. IVGID 
does not guarantee that it will provide answers to questions submitted after that deadline, but will 
make reasonable efforts to do so. A listing of all questions submitted and all responses will be 
made available to responders. 
 
In the event it becomes necessary to revise any part of this RFP, IVGID will issue written addenda. 
Any amendment to this RFP is only valid if it is in writing and issued by IVGID. No oral 
interpretations or answers will bind IVGID. All addenda issued by IVGID will become part of this 
RFP. 
 
No proposals will be accepted after the proposal due date listed above.  
 

ARTICLE 5 SELECTION PROCESS, EVALUATION AND SELECTION CRITERIA  

The firm(s) selection process will be conducted in accordance with all requirements stipulated in 
NRS Chapter 332 and IVGID Board Policy 20.1.0, Purchasing Policy for Goods and Services. All 
responsive Proposals received will be reviewed and evaluated by IVGID. 
 
A short-list of firms will be determined based on qualifications and the completeness of the 
Proposal. IVGID may elect to conduct interviews via Zoom prior to the final selection of a firm or 
firms. By submitting a Proposal, the proposer acknowledges that the IVGID has sole and absolute 
discretion in the evaluation and the selection of one or more firms for this project. 
 
ARTICLE 6 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL 

The firm’s authorized representative may, prior to the date and time set as the deadline for receipt 
of the Proposals, modify or withdraw a response by contacting the District’s contact shown above 
via email and phone. A modification or withdrawal received prior to the deadline for proposal 
receipt shall be considered timely. 
 

Page 76 of 198



 

7 | P a g e   

ARTICLE 7 DISQUALIFICATION OF PROPOSALS 

Firms may be disqualified and Proposals may be rejected for any of, but not limited to, the 
following causes: 

1. Lack of signature by an authorized representative on the Proposal 

2. Failure to properly and/or accurately complete the Proposal 

3. Evidence of collusion 

4. Any questions addressed to; approaches to; or discussions with IVGID employees, associated 
agents or Trustee other than through the process identified in Article 4 will be subject to 
Automatic Disqualification.  

 
IVGID reserves the right to waive any minor informality or irregularity, or to request clarification of 
such minor informalities or irregularities from any or all firms. 
 
ARTICLE 8 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

No employee, officer, or agent of IVGID shall participate in the selection, or in the award or 
administration, of the Agreement if a conflict of interest, real or apparent, would be involved. Such 
a conflict would arise when one of the following has a financial or other interest in any firm 
proposing on or selected for the award: 

1. The employee, or an officer or agent of the employee 

2. Any member of the employee’s immediate family 

3. The employee’s business partner 

4. An organization which employs, or is about to employ, any of the above 
 
IVGID’s officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or 
anything of monetary value from prospective firms. Prior to entering into the Consulting Services 
Agreement, the firm is required to inform IVGID of any real or apparent organizational conflict of 
interest.  

 

RFP EXHIBITS  

Exhibit A – Scope of Work 

Exhibit B – IVGID Point of Sale Software Structure dated March 14, 2023 

Exhibit C – Standard IVGID Services Agreement Example 

 

Page 77 of 198



           

8 | P a g e   

EXHIBIT A – Scope of Work 

The Incline Village General Improvement District is seeking a consulting firm to possibly embark 
on a two-phased project. Each bidder is required to submit a proposal on for the first phase 
“Assessment” and have the proven capability to deliver on the second phase “Implementation”  
 
The first phase of the project “Assessment” is to assess the current technical environment, 
including all point of sale and financial software, gather the requirements of each point-of-sale 
software and formulate a written recommended transition plan for moving from the current state 
to the desired state. The final deliverable of the “Assessment” is a written recommended 
“Implementation” plan. The “Implementation” plan must include costs for project management, 
oversight, and implementation of the recommendations. It should also include timeline of 
deliverables, staff training and product documentation, bi-weekly status reports to the District’s 
implementation team, access to any proprietarily written source programming code, and any 
required travel expenses along with any costs to host and or implement the recommendations, 
including any on-going licensing and or hardware costs as well as estimated required staff time. 
 
Point of Sale System(s) - Each recreation venue currently utilizes its own stand-alone Point of 
Sale (POS) Software with proprietary in-house written software that maintains and controls the 
database of parcel owner data as well as recreation cards. All of these POS software upload their 
financial information to a single ERP financial system used District-wide.  
 
Each parcel owner is eligible for cards that identify them and provide them access and discounts 
to these venues. Not all owners have access to the deed restricted beaches or all of the venue 
access discounts, there are many layers to the rules that make up how access is controlled and 
how products are discounted.  
 
The desired state for IVGID is to have access media tied to the user’s various venue passes (ski 
pass, recreation center membership pass, golf pass, etc.), their personal credit card for purchases 
at the venues and for RFID access control at the venues. Diamond Peak uses Axess RFID passes 
and gates for its uphill access - this concept is currently being considered for beach gate access. 
The Golf venues need a function-built industry standard Golf POS. 
 
Some of the high-level requirements that would deem a successful desired state are:  
 

 Integration with the core financial system (Tyler Munis) for real-time BI tracking purposes 
as well as cash/revenue management. 

 Consolidation and integration of the master records across all POS – One central profile 
and Access Media for all venues. 

 PCI compliance, stored payment, EMV, NFC, as few payment processors as possible. 

 Little, if any, loss in operational functionality from the current POS. 

 A consolidated e-commerce platform that addresses all or as many of the retail venues 
(Golf, Tennis, Ski, Rec Center) needs for product sales, program management, and 
member profile management. 

 A restricted access e-commerce platform that addresses all or as many of the non-retail 
(owners & residents only) venues needs including parcel management, the potential for 
integration with Washoe County’s Parcel Database, punch card management and picture 
uploading for passes. 

 Customer relationship management across all retail POS platforms.  

 Documentation and Staff training on newly proposed systems. 
  

Page 78 of 198



           

9 | P a g e   

EXHIBIT B – “Current State” Point of Sale Software Structure 
 
Capstone – District proprietarily written software – Built on Current Ordinance 7 functionality - 
SQL Database – Owned and hosted by IVGID 

 Resident/Parcel Master 

o Maintains Owner Information 

 Name, address, contact info 

o Maintains Parcel Information 

 Units on Parcel, Chargeable Units, Rec Fee amount, Beach Fee amount, 

fees paid (y/n) 

o Cards Issued to Parcel 

 Picture Passes, Punch Cards, Additional Punch Cards 

 Punch Card Master Record 

o Maintains Punch Card issuance history, usage history, current balance 

Vermont Systems – RecTrac, GolfTrac, Webtrac – Progress Database – Hosted by IVGID 

 RecTrac 

o Point of Sale used by Recreation Center, Tennis Center, Beaches 

 Manages programming for venue specific items including access, activities 

and rentals 

 Manages merchandise inventory 

 Manages venue specific memberships 

 Issues IVGID ID cards based on Capstone status 

 Staff conducts a manual check of Capstone status prior to issuing 

Resident Picture Passes from Vermont 

 Custom connection to Capstone allows Punch Card usage and inquiry 

 Maintains Customer information including Contact information, purchase 

history, membership information and access usage 

 Reporting 

 GolfTrac 

o Point of Sale used by Golf 

 Manages programming for venue specific items including access, activities 

and rentals. 

 Manages merchandise inventory 

 Manages venue specific memberships 

 Custom connection to Capstone allows Punch Card usage and inquiry 

 Maintains Customer information including Contact information, purchase 

history, membership information and access usage 

 Reporting 

 WebTrac 

o On-line store for RecTrac access, programming and activities 

o Hosted locally at IVGID 

Golf Now – 3rd Party Golf Tee Sheet 

 Public Golf Tee Time Reservation Website  

o Sells available golf tee times by proxy  

  

Page 79 of 198



           

10 | P a g e   

EXHIBIT B – “Current State” Point of Sale Software Structure 
 
 
Active Networks – RTP|One - SQL Database – Hosted by IVGID 

 RTP|One 

o Ski / Food & Beverage (F&B) POS used by Ski and F&B outlets 

 Manages programming for venue specific items including access, activities 

and rentals. 

 Manages merchandise and rental equipment inventory 

 Maintains Customer information including Contact information, purchase 

history, membership information and access usage 

 Tracks/Supports/Sells access products, rentals, lessons 

 Food and Beverage module used by all F&B Outlets year round 

 Custom Connection to Capstone for Punch Card Usage and Resident 

Active/Non Active Status 

 Reporting 

 RTP|OneStore 

o On-line store for access, rentals and lesson products 

o Hosted at Active Networks 

o Communicates via RTP API Layer 

Square – Square POS - SaaS 

 Mobile Point of Sale used for off-network transactions 

o Examples include golf course F&B sales, off-site program registrations and 

Veteran’s club events  

TPP – Total Party Planner POS - SaaS 

 Used by facilities for Events/Weddings Management, Sales and Bookings 

 Generates BEO’s (Banquet Event Orders) 

Tyler Munis – SQL Database - SaaS 

 Financial System / General Ledger - Master Record 

 Reporting 

OpenGov - SaaS 

 Public facing portal for Financial Transparency 

All POS software have the ability to have their GL accounting uploaded/input in to Tyler for 
financial accounting/reporting purposes.  
 
  

Page 80 of 198



           

11 | P a g e   

EXHIBIT C 
 

STANDARD SERVICES AGREEMENT EXAMPLE 

 

Page 81 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 1 

INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 
1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this ____ day of ___________, 202__, by and between 
the Incline Village General Improvement District, a Nevada general improvement district 
(“District”) and Consultant’s name, a INSERT TYPE OF ENTITY -  CORPORATION, 
PARTNERSHIP, SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP OR OTHER LEGAL ENTITY with its principal place 
of business at address (“Consultant”).  The District and Consultant are sometimes individually 
referred to as “Party” and collectively as “Parties.” 

2. RECITALS. 

2.1 District.  District is a general improvement district organized under the laws of the State of 
Nevada, with power to contract for services necessary to achieve its purpose. 

2.2 Consultant.  Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision of 
certain professional services required by the District on the terms and conditions set forth 
in this Agreement.  Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing type of 
services to public clients, is licensed in the State of Nevada, and is familiar with the plans 
of District. 

2.3 Project.  District desires to engage Consultant to render professional services for the name 
of project ("Project”). 

3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to the District, all 
labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work necessary 
to fully and adequately supply insert a brief description of services to be performed 
necessary for the Project (“Services”).  The types of services to be provided are more 
particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  
All Services shall be subject to, and performed in accordance with this Agreement, the 
exhibits attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable local, 
state and federal laws, rules and regulations.  As described in Section 3.3, the District 
shall pay for such services in accordance with the Schedule of Charges set forth in Exhibit 
B.  

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from [INSERT START DATE] to [INSERT 
ENDING DATE], unless earlier terminated as provided herein.  The Parties may, by 
mutual, written consent, extend the term of this Agreement if necessary to complete the 
Project.   

Page 82 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 2 

3.2 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.2.1 Control and Payment of Subordinates; Independent Contractor.  The Services shall be 
performed by Consultant or under its supervision.  Consultant will determine the means, 
methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement and such directions and amendments from District as herein provided.  The 
District retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
No employee or agent of Consultant shall become an employee of District.  Any additional 
personnel performing the Services under this Agreement on behalf of Consultant shall 
also not be employees of the District and shall at all times be under Consultant’s exclusive 
direction and control.  Consultant shall pay all wages, salaries, and other amounts due 
such personnel in connection with their performance of Services under this Agreement 
and as required by law.  Consultant shall be responsible for all reports and obligations 
respecting such additional personnel, including, but not limited to: social security taxes, 
income tax withholding, unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and workers’ 
compensation insurance. 

3.2.2 Schedule of Services.  Consultant shall perform its services in a prompt and timely manner 
within the term of this Agreement and shall commence performance upon receipt of written 
notice from the District to proceed (“Notice to Proceed”).  [If the District has specific 
milestones or timelines for performance, please input those requirements in the 
“Activity Schedule” attached as Exhibit C, otherwise delete Exhibit C.]  The Notice 
to Proceed shall set forth the date of commencement of work. 

[If engaging the Consultant to perform a discrete task with a specified deadline, use the 
following provision] 

Consultant shall perform its services in a prompt and timely manner and shall commence 
performance upon receipt of written notice from the District to proceed (“Notice to 
Proceed”).  Consultant shall complete the services required hereunder within [Insert 
number of calendar days for performance of the services – if more detail is required 
attach “Activity Schedule” as Exhibit C, otherwise delete Exhibit C.]  The Notice to 
Proceed shall set forth the date of commencement of work. 

3.2.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements.  All work prepared by Consultant shall be 
subject to the District’s approval. 

3.2.4 Substitution of Key Personnel.  Consultant has represented to the District that certain key 
personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should one or 
more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence subject to the District’s written approval.  In the event that 
the District and Consultant cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, the District 
shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement for cause.  As discussed below, any 
personnel who fail or refuse to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the District, 
or who are determined by the District to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project or a threat to the safety of persons or 
property, shall be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant at the request of 
the District.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: [INSERT 
NAME OF KEY PERSONNEL]. 

3.2.5 District’s Representative.  The District hereby designates [INSERT NAME OR TITLE], or 
his or her designee, to act as its representative for the performance of this Agreement 

Page 83 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 3 

(“District’s Representative”).  The District’s Representative shall have the power to act on 
behalf of the District for all purposes under this Contract.  Consultant shall not accept 
direction or orders from any person other than the District’s Representative or his or her 
designee. 

3.2.6 Consultant’s Representative.  Consultant hereby designates [INSERT NAME], or his or 
her designee, to act as its representative for the performance of this Agreement 
(“Consultant’s Representative”).  Consultant’s Representative shall have full authority to 
represent and act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes under this Agreement.  The 
Consultant’s Representative shall supervise and direct the Services, using his best skill 
and attention, and shall be responsible for all means, methods, techniques, sequences 
and procedures and for the satisfactory coordination of all portions of the Services under 
this Agreement. 

3.2.7 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with the District staff in the 
performance of Services and shall be available to the District’s staff, consultants and other 
staff at all reasonable times. 

3.2.8 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all Services 
under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the 
State of Nevada.  Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional 
calling necessary to perform the Services.  Consultant warrants that all employees and 
subcontractors shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned 
to them.  Finally, Consultant represents that it, its employees and subcontractors have all 
licenses, permits, qualifications and approvals of whatever nature that are legally required 
to perform the Services, including a Washoe County Business License, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement.  As 
provided for in the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, Consultant shall perform, 
at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the District, any services 
necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant’s failure to 
comply with the standard of care provided for herein.  Any employee of the Consultant or 
its sub-consultants who is determined by the District to be uncooperative, incompetent, a 
threat to the adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons 
or property, or any employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner 
acceptable to the District, shall be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant 
and shall not be re-employed to perform any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.2.9 Laws and Regulations.  Consultant shall keep itself fully informed of and in compliance 
with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in any manner affecting the 
performance of the Project or the Services, and shall give all notices required by law.  If 
required, Consultant shall assist District, as requested, in obtaining and maintaining all 
permits required of Consultant by federal, state and local regulatory agencies.  Consultant 
shall be liable for all violations of local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in 
connection with the Project and the Services.  If the Consultant performs any work knowing 
it to be contrary to such laws, rules and regulations and without giving written notice to the 
District, Consultant shall be solely responsible for all costs arising therefrom.  Consultant 
shall defend, indemnify and hold the District, its officials, directors, officers, employees 
and agents free and harmless, pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this 
Agreement, from any claim or liability arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply 
with such laws, rules or regulations. 

Page 84 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 4 

3.2.10 Insurance. 

3.2.10.1 Time for Compliance.  Consultant shall not commence the Services under this 
Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the District that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section.  In addition, Consultant shall not allow any 
subcontractor to commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence 
satisfactory to the District that the subcontractor has secured all insurance required under 
this section. 

3.2.10.2 Minimum Requirements.  Consultant shall, at its expense, procure and maintain for the 
duration of the Agreement insurance meeting the requirements set forth herein.  
Consultant shall also require all of its subcontractors to procure and maintain the same 
insurance for the duration of the Agreement. Such insurance shall meet at least the 
following minimum levels of coverage: 

(A) Minimum Limits of Insurance.  Consultant shall maintain limits no less than: (1) 
General Liability: A minimum of $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, 
personal injury and property damage.  If Commercial General Liability Insurance 
or other form with general aggregate limit is used, either the general aggregate 
limit shall apply separately to this Agreement/location or the general aggregate 
limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit; (2) Automobile Liability: A 
minimum of $1,000,000 combined single limit (each accident) for bodily injury and 
property damage; and (3) Industrial Insurance: Workers’ Compensation limits as 
required by the Labor Code of the State of Nevada.  Employer’s Liability limits of 
$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease; and (4) Professional 
Liability/Errors and Omissions: Consultant shall procure and maintain, and require 
its sub-consultants to procure and maintain, for a period of five (5) years following 
completion of the Services, professional liability/errors and omissions liability 
insurance appropriate to their profession.  Such insurance shall be in an amount 
not less than $1,000,000 per claim, and shall be endorsed to include contractual 
liability.  “Covered Professional Services” as designated in the Professional 
Liability/Errors and Omissions policy must specifically include work performed 
under this Agreement. 

Requirements of specific coverage or limits contained in this section are not 
intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or other requirement, or a waiver of 
any coverage normally provided by any insurance.  Any available coverage shall 
be provided to the parties required to be named as additional insured pursuant to 
this Agreement.  Defense costs shall be payable in addition to the limits. 

3.2.10.3 Insurance Endorsements.  The insurance policies shall contain the following provisions, 
or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms supplied or approved by the District 
to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability.  The commercial general liability policy shall be 
endorsed to provide the following: (1) the District, its directors, officials, officers, 
employees, agents and volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds; (2) the 
insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the District, its 
directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers, or if excess, shall 
stand in an unbroken chain of coverage excess of the Consultant’s scheduled 
underlying coverage.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the District, 
its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers shall be excess 

Page 85 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 5 

of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not be called upon to contribute with it in 
any way; and (3) the insurance coverage shall contain or be endorsed to provide 
waiver of subrogation in favor of the District, its directors, officials, officers, 
employees, agents and volunteers or shall specifically allow Consultant to waive 
its right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of 
recovery against District, and shall require similar written express waivers and 
insurance clauses from each of its subconsultants. 

(B) Automobile Liability.  The automobile liability policy shall be endorsed to provide 
the following: (1) the District, its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds with respect to the ownership, 
operation, maintenance, use, loading or unloading of any auto owned, leased, 
hired or borrowed by the Consultant or for which the Consultant is responsible; (2) 
the insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the District, its 
directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers, or if excess, shall 
stand in an unbroken chain of coverage excess of the Consultant’s scheduled 
underlying coverage.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the District, 
its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers shall be excess 
of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not be called upon to contribute with it in 
any way; and (3) the insurance coverage shall contain or be endorsed to provide 
waiver of subrogation in favor of the District, its directors, officials, officers, 
employees, agents and volunteers or shall specifically allow Consultant to waive 
its right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of 
recovery against District, and shall require similar written express waivers and 
insurance clauses from each of its subconsultants. 

(C) Industrial (Workers’ Compensation and Employers Liability) Insurance. The insurer 
shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the District, its directors, 
officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers for losses paid under the 
terms of the insurance policy which arise from work performed by the Consultant. 

(D) All Coverages.  Each insurance policy required by this Agreement shall be 
endorsed to state that:  (A) coverage shall not be suspended, voided, reduced or 
canceled except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, has been given to the District; and (B) any failure to comply with 
reporting or other provisions of the policies, including breaches of warranties, shall 
not affect coverage provided to the District, its directors, officials, officers, 
employees, agents and volunteers. 

3.2.10.4 Separation of Insureds; No Special Limitations.  All insurance required by this Section 
shall contain standard separation of insureds provisions.  In addition, such insurance shall 
not contain any special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the District, its 
directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers. 

3.2.10.5 Deductibles and Self-Insurance Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions 
must be declared to and approved by the District.  Consultant shall guarantee that, at the 
option of the District, either: (1) the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or 
self-insured retentions as respects the District, its directors, officials, officers, employees, 
agents and volunteers; or (2) the Consultant shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment 
of losses and related investigation costs, claims and administrative and defense 
expenses. 

Page 86 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 6 

3.2.10.6 Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers duly licensed or 
authorized to do business in the state of Nevada and with an “A.M. Best” rating of not less 
than A-VII.  The District in no way warrants that the above-required minimum insurer rating 
is sufficient to protect the Consultant from potential insurer insolvency. 

3.2.10.7 Verification of Coverage.  Consultant shall furnish the District with original certificates of 
insurance and endorsements effecting coverage required by this Agreement on forms 
satisfactory to the District.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf, and 
shall be on forms provided by the District if requested.  All certificates and endorsements 
must be received and approved by the District before work commences.  The District 
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, 
at any time. 

3.2.10.8 Subconsultants.  Consultant shall not allow any subcontractors or subconsultants to 
commence work on any subcontract until they have provided evidence satisfactory to the 
District that they have secured all insurance required under this section.  Policies of 
commercial general liability insurance provided by such subcontractors or subconsultants 
shall be endorsed to name the District as an additional insured using ISO form CG 20 38 
04 13 or an endorsement providing the exact same coverage.  If requested by Consultant, 
District may approve different scopes or minimum limits of insurance for particular 
subcontractors or subconsultants. 

3.2.10.9 Compliance with Coverage Requirements.  If at any time during the life of the Agreement, 
any policy of insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these 
specifications or is canceled and not replaced, District has the right but not the duty to 
obtain the insurance it deems necessary and any premium paid by District will be promptly 
reimbursed by Consultant or District will withhold amounts sufficient to pay premium from 
Consultant payments. In the alternative, District may terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.2.11 Safety. Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to avoid injury or damage to 
any person or property.  In carrying out its Services, the Consultant shall at all times be in 
compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations, and 
shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate to the 
nature of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed.   

3.3 Fees and Payments. 

3.3.1 Compensation. Consultant shall receive compensation, including authorized 
reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement in accordance with the 
Schedule of Charges set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference.  The total compensation to be provided under this Agreement shall not exceed 
dollar amount in writing ($X.00) without written approval of District’s [___INSERT 
TITLE___].  Extra Work may be authorized, as described below; and if authorized, said 
Extra Work will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. 

3.3.2 Payment of Compensation. Consultant shall submit to District a monthly itemized invoice 
which indicates original contract amount, amount previously invoiced and current 
remaining balance on contract, work completed and hours of Services rendered by 
Consultant.  The invoice shall also describe the amount of Services and supplies provided 
since the initial commencement date of Services under this Agreement, and since the start 
of the subsequent billing periods, through the date of the invoice.  Invoices shall be sent 

Page 87 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 7 

to invoices@ivgid.org, with a copy to rlr@ivgid.org.   District shall, within thirty (30) days 
of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all approved charges thereon.  

3.3.3 Reimbursement for Expenses.  Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any expenses 
unless authorized under Exhibit B, or otherwise in writing by the District. 

3.3.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, the District may request that 
Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, “Extra Work” means any work which is 
determined by the District to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project, but 
which the Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of 
this Agreement.  Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without 
written authorization from the District’s Representative.  Where Extra Work is deemed 
merited by the District, an amendment to the Agreement shall be prepared by the District 
and executed by both Parties before performance of such Extra Work, or the District will 
not be required to pay for the changes in the scope of work.  Such amendment shall 
include the change in fee and/or time schedule associated with the Extra Work.  
Amendments for Extra Work shall not render ineffective or invalidate unaffected portions 
of this Agreement. 

3.4 Accounting Records. 

3.4.1 Maintenance and Inspection.  Consultant shall maintain accurate and complete books, 
documents, accounting records and other records pertaining to the Services for six (6) 
years (or longer as required by applicable law) from the date of final payment under this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall make such records available to the District for inspection, 
audit, examination, reproduction, and copying at Consultant’s offices at all reasonable 
times. However, if requested, Consultant shall furnish copies of said records at its expense 
to the District, within seven (7) business days of the request. 

 
3.5 General Provisions. 

3.5.1 Termination of Agreement. 

3.5.1.1 Grounds for Termination.  The District may, by written notice to Consultant, terminate the 
whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by giving written notice 
to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, at least seven 
(7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant shall 
be compensated only for those services which have been adequately rendered to the 
District and for reasonable expenses actually incurred prior to termination, subject to 
submittal of invoices reflecting such costs to the District to support the claim for expenses, 
and Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation.  Consultant may not terminate 
this Agreement except for cause.  Consultant shall not be entitled to payment for 
unperformed Services, and shall not be entitled to damages or compensation for 
termination of this Agreement by District except for the amounts authorized herein.   

3.5.1.2 Effect of Termination.  If this Agreement is terminated as provided herein, the District may 
require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and Data (defined 
below) and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the 
performance of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide 
such documents and other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

Page 88 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 8 

3.5.1.3 Additional Services.  In the event this Agreement is terminated in whole or in part as 
provided herein, the District may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as it may 
determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.5.2 Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement shall be given 
to the respective Parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

District 
Incline Village General Improvement District 
893 Southwood Blvd. 
Incline Village, NV 89451 
Attn: Name 

Consultant 
 
 
 
 
Attn: Name 

 
Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight 
(48) hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the 
Party at its applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the 
date actual notice occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.5.3 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.5.3.1 Documents & Data.  All source code, reports, programs, manuals, disks, tapes, and any 
other material prepared by or worked upon by Consultant for the Services shall be the 
exclusive property of the District, and the District shall have the right to obtain from 
Consultant and to hold in District’s name copyrights, trademark registrations, patents, or 
whatever protection Consultant may appropriate to the subject matter.  Consultant shall 
provide District with all assistance reasonably required to perfect the rights in this 
subsection. 

3.5.3.2 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, procedures, drawings, 
descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written information, and other 
Documents and Data either created by or provided to Consultant in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such materials 
shall not, without the prior written consent of the District, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be 
disclosed to any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or 
the Project unless disclosure is compelled due to law or court order.  Nothing furnished to 
Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has become 
known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use the 
District’s name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the 
Services or the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio 
production or other similar medium without the prior written consent of the District. 

 

3.5.4 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one another, and shall 
take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.5.5 Attorney’s Fees.  If either Party commences an action against the other Party, either legal, 
administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the 

Page 89 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 9 

prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorney’s fees and all other costs of such action.  

3.5.6 Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend, indemnify 
and hold the District, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, and agents free and 
harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, liability, 
loss, damage or injury, in law or equity, to property or persons, including wrongful death, 
in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or relating to any negligence or willful 
misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, agents, consultants, and 
contractors arising out of or in connection with the performance of the Services, the 
Project, or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all consequential 
damages, expert witness fees, and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses. 
Consultant shall defend, at Consultant's own cost, expense and risk, any and all such 
aforesaid suits, actions or other legal proceedings of every kind that may be brought or 
instituted against District, its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents, or volunteers.  
Consultant shall pay and satisfy any judgment, award or decree that may be rendered 
against District or its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents, or volunteers, in any 
such suit, action or other legal proceeding.  Consultant shall reimburse District and its 
directors, officials, officers, employees, agents, and/or volunteers, for any and all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by each of them in connection therewith or in enforcing the 
indemnity herein provided, including correction of errors and omissions.  Consultant's 
obligation to indemnify shall not be restricted to insurance proceeds, if any, received by 
the District, its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents or volunteers. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither party will be liable to the other for indirect, 
consequential or special damages, including, without limitation, loss of profit, loss of 
product or loss of use, whether the liability is based on agreement, negligence, tort or 
otherwise. 

3.5.6.1 Design Professional.  To the extent required by NRS 338.155, Consultant’s obligation to 
defend, indemnify, and hold District, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, and 
agents free and harmless shall not include any liability, damage, loss, claim, action or 
proceeding caused by the negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional 
misconduct of the employees, officers or agents of the District.  Moreover, Consultant’s 
obligation to defend, indemnify, and hold District, its officials, officers, employees, 
volunteers, and agents free and harmless from any liability, damage, loss, claim, action or 
proceeding caused by the negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional 
misconduct of the Consultant or the employees or agents of the Consultant which are 
based upon or arising out of the professional services of the Consultant.  If the Consultant 
is adjudicated to be liable by a trier of fact, the trier of fact shall award reasonable 
attorney’s fees and costs to be paid to the District, as reimbursement for the attorney’s 
fees and costs incurred by the District in defending the action, by the Consultant in an 
amount which is proportionate to the liability of the Consultant.  This Section shall only 
apply to the extent required by NRS 338.155 and shall not otherwise limit Consultant’s 
obligation to defend, indemnify and hold the District harmless as required under Section 
3.5.6. 

3.5.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire Agreement of the Parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, understandings 
or agreements.  This Agreement may only be modified by a writing signed by both Parties. 

3.5.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Nevada.  
Venue shall be in Washoe County. 

Page 90 of 198



 
Consultant Name Project Name Page 10 

3.5.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of this Agreement. 

3.5.10 District’s Right to Employ Other Consultants.  The District reserves right to employ other 
consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.5.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit 
of the successors in interest, executors, administrators and assigns of each Party. 

3.5.12 Assignment or Transfer.  Consultant shall not assign, hypothecate, or transfer, either 
directly or by operation of law, this Agreement or any interest herein without the prior 
written consent of the District.  Any attempt to do so shall be null and void, and any 
assignees, hypothecates or transferees shall acquire no right or interest by reason of such 
attempted assignment, hypothecation or transfer. 

3.5.13 Subcontracting.  Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the work required by this 
Agreement, except as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of District.  
Subcontracts, if any, shall contain a provision making them subject to all provisions 
stipulated in this Agreement. 

3.5.14 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have participated 
fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  
Any term referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days 
and not work days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, 
and subcontractors of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All 
references to the District include its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers 
except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and 
paragraphs are for convenience and ease of reference only, and do not define, limit, 
augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of this Agreement. 

3.5.15 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of this Agreement 
shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. 

3.5.16 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other default or breach, 
whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, privilege, or 
service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any contractual 
rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.5.17 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party beneficiaries of any right 
or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.5.18 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal, or 
otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.5.22 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and authority to conduct 
its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party warrants 
that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.5.23 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall 
constitute an original. 

Page 91 of 198



Consultant Name Project Name Page 11 

3.5.24 Limitation of Liability.  The District does not and will not waive and expressly reserves all 
available defenses and limitations contained in Chapter 41 of the Nevada Revised 
Statutes.  Contract liability of both parties shall not be subject to punitive damages.  

3.5.25 Non-Appropriations.  The District may terminate this Agreement, effective immediately 
upon receipt of written notice on any date specified if for any reason the District’s funding 
source is not appropriated or is withdrawn, limited, or impaired. 

3.5.26 Compliance with Laws.  Consultant shall keep itself fully informed of and in compliance 
with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in any manner affecting the 
performance of the Project or the Services.  Consultant shall not discriminate against any 
person on the grounds of race, color, creed, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender 
identity or gender expression, age, disability, national origin or any other status protected 
under any applicable law.  Consultant is not currently engaged in, and during the duration 
of the Agreement shall not engage in, a Boycott of Israel. The term “Boycott of Israel” has 
the meaning ascribed to that term in NRS 332.065. Consultant shall be responsible for all 
fines, penalties, and repayment of any State of Nevada or federal funds (including those 
that the District pays, becomes liable to pay, or becomes liable to repay) that may arise 
as a direct result of the Consultant’s non-compliance with this subsection. 

3.5.27 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not employed nor 
retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Further, Consultant warrants that it has 
not paid nor has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee 
working solely for Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or 
other consideration contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this 
Agreement.  For breach or violation of this warranty, District shall have the right to rescind 
this Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or 
employee of District, during the term of his or her service with District, shall have any direct 
interest in this Agreement, or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising 
therefrom. 

SIGNATURE BLOCK ON FOLLOWING PAGE

Page 92 of 198



OWNER: 
INCLINE VILLAGE G. I. D. 

 CONTRACTOR: 
 

Agreed to:  Agreed to: 

 
 

  
By: 

Matthew Dent, Chairman 
 

 Signature of Authorized Agent 

Date  Print or Type Name and Title 

David Noble, Secretary   Date 

Date 

 
 If CONTRACTOR is a Corporation, attach 

evidence of authority to sign. 

   

Reviewed as to Form:   

   

Joshua Nelson 
District Legal Counsel 

 

  

Date 

 
  

 

Page 93 of 198



Due October 04, 2023 

Incline Village General

Improvement District

Response for Proposal for

Point of Sale System
ACTIVE Network, LLC
5850 Granite Parkway Suite 1200
Plano, TX 75024

Page 94 of 198



 

                                                                5850 Granite Parkway – 12th Floor  
                                                                Plano, TX 75024  

                                                                T (469) 294-7300 
                                                                                                                           www.ACTIVEnetwork.com  

 

COVER LETTER 

  

MASTER 

Page 95 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                           Point of Sale System 
 

P a g e   2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  
Cover Letter .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Company Background and Organization ............................................................................ 3 

Experience ................................................................................................................................... 5 

Staffing Plan ................................................................................................................................ 6 

Financial Data ............................................................................................................................10 

Project Cost and Schedule ..................................................................................................... 11 

Appendices ................................................................................................................................. 12 
Terms and Conditions .......................................................................................................... 12 

RFP Exceptions ..................................................................................................................... 19 

 

 

 

 

Page 96 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   3 
 

COMPANY BACKGROUND AND 
ORGANIZATION  
Founded in 1999, ACTIVE Network ® (ACTIVE), a Global Payments subsidiary, is a limited liability 
corporation (LLC), incorporated in the State of Delaware (US), headquartered in Plano, Texas, with 
offices throughout North America, Europe, Asia, and Australia. Our representatives are based 
throughout North America. 

Include your firm’s complete: 

1. Name: Active Network LLC 

2. Address: 5850 Granite Parkway Suite 1200 Plano, TX 75024 

3. Contact person: Andy Vanica  

4. Phone number: (720) 757-7825  

5. Email: andy.vanica@activenetwork.com  

6. Website address: www.activenetwork.com  

7. Provide company’s mission statement, values, and ethical standards.  

Our Mission 

ACTIVE Network is on a mission to make the world a more active place. 

We are the premier global marketplace for activities and events, connecting organizers 
with participants, and we have become a leading provider of data insights and business 
intelligence for our markets. 

Operating Principles 

We are: 
• Committed to our Customers’ Success. We believe in the value our customers provide 

in making the world a more active place. 
• Fueled by Challenge. We are solutions-oriented and thrive on solving challenges. 
• Collaborative and Focused on Team Success. We believe in fostering a collaborative, 

team- based environment in which our employees can succeed. 
• Focused on Results. We set goals, hold ourselves accountable, measure results, and 

continuously improve. 

Core Values 
• Excellence 
• Commitment 
• Drive 
• Team 

 

Page 97 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   4 
 

8. Describe your company’s major lines of business.  Active Network, LLC provides 
software solutions. The Company designs and develops software as a service technology 
platform which offers intelligent and intuitive registration, secure payment processing, 
insightful data and services to help organizers drive increased participation and revenue 
while streamlining administration. Active Network serves customers worldwide. 

9. What differentiates your services/company from other companies offering similar 
services? With a broad and diverse team with decades of experience, Active will be able 
to provide specific skill sets with both the technical and business knowledge to be able to 
provide a complete assessment and provide IVGID scalable and potentially phased 
solution recommendations. Coupled with this, our experience in solution delivery will then 
be able to work with the IVGID team to execute the implementation and ensure a smooth 
transition to operations.  

10. Identify any litigation pending or threatened against your company as of the 
submission date. Active is unable to comment on past and pending disputes as this 
information is confidential. However, the parties completing this response on behalf of 
Active not presently aware of any matters we believe would negatively affect our 
performance under the proposed agreement and/or RFP. 

 

Page 98 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   5 
 

EXPERIENCE  
1. Number of years in management and software consulting and implementation.  

2. Referrals – List of similar Project‐related clients, including: 

a. Service provided 

b. Client organization 

c. Scale of project (e.g. project $ amount, location, size, duration) 

d. Contact name and number 

3. Special Considerations 

4. Describe any attribute of your firm that would enhance this 

 

ACTIVE  

1. ACTIVE Network is the leading provider of activity and participant management solutions. 
With 15+ years of experience as a market leader, ACTIVE is not only a business software 
solution, but a key component in helping you achieve your mission and serve your 
community. We pride ourselves on long term success and understand that this is a key 
step in maintaining a long successful partnership.  

Our Professional Services methodology is built on the following principles: 

• Understanding your business 
• Developing and fostering positive relationships with all your project stakeholders 
• Configuring your system to drive operational efficiency 
• Empowering your system users to grow business 
• Increasing your consumer participation through ease of access 
• Alleviating your implementation workload by leveraging ACTIVE resources to reduce 

meeting lengths and minimize efforts in data conversion and data entry 
• Ensuring timely execution of your project tasks 

 

 

Page 99 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   6 
 

STAFFING PLAN  
1. Number of staff assigned to the work, by category 

2. Job descriptions of staff, by category 

3. Staff qualifications 

a. Education/relevant experience (type and number of years) of key employees 

b. Training of each employee or category of employee 

i. Scope, frequency, employees covered, training, organization 

4. Proposed staffing and project schedule 

 

ACTIVE  

1. Quantity of staff: Two staff assigned  
• one consultant, and 
• one project manager. 

2. Job Description: Project Manager  

Project management services provide organizations with a dedicated representative 
responsible for overseeing the successful delivery of all implementation services. Utilizing 
project management services presents many benefits, including a single point of contact 
to: 

• Track progress of all key implementation tasks through to a successful go-live 
• Formal oversight over all key implementation phases performed with your 

implementation consultant 
• Formal oversight over all data migration activities performed with your technical 

consultant 
• Assessment and tracking of project risks, including development of mitigation strategies 

In addition to the above benefits, a dedicated project manager will allow the organization 
to engage in routine status update meetings to ensure that ACTIVE and the customer are 
working in tandem for a successful rollout. 

3. Sample resume (qualifications) for Project Manager: 
DAVID REY 
Phone: (214) 996-7233 
Email: David.Rey@activenetwork.com   
Organization Role: Project Manager    
Education: Bachelor of Business Administration, Management from The University of 
Texas at El Paso 

Experience: David is a seasoned Project Manager, holding a key position within the 
Professional Services team at ACTIVE. With a diverse portfolio encompassing various 

Page 100 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   7 
 

markets, including Parks and Recreation, YMCA’s, Resorts & Attractions, and specialty 
organizations, David has honed his expertise in delivering exceptional results through 
strategic project planning, cross-functional collaboration, and effective risk management.  
His track record includes the successful management of multiple premium and enterprise 
projects with leading organizations across North America including: 
• City of Toronto  
• Atlantis Paradise Island Bahamas  
• Sea to Sky Gondola  
• YMCA Oakville 

 

GEORDAN REID 
Phone: (604)317-3511 
Email: geordan.reid@flaik.com 
Organization Role: Enterprise Architect/Delivery Manager    
Experience: Geordan brings 25+ years of experience working with Enterprise class clients 
in various leadership and delivery roles for software vendors, enterprise operators as well 
as consulting services providers.  Focused on business outcome, Geordan leverages his 
ability to create and lead diverse teams from discovery to delivery leveraging specified 
experts to design complete solutions. Although primarily focused within the Hospitality 
sector, he has been involved with Point Of Sale, E-commerce/omni-channel, HRIS, ERP, 
CRM and Data initiatives across Application, Infrastructure and Security architectures.   
• Alterra Mtn Corporation/Ikon Pass 
• Powdr Resorts 
• Nature’s Path Foods 

 

NICK MARVIN 

Organization Role: Solution Architect 

Experience: Nick is a seasoned Enterprise IT leader within the Resort industry.  Nick has 
led many successful projects from business opportunity identification, through solution 
design, vendor selection, implementation and operational support. Within these 
experiences, Nick has been heavily involved with Access Control, Lodging, Golf, Retail, 
F&B, HRIS/Payroll, Credit Processing and Data initiatives. Additionally, Nick has in-depth 
knowledge and experience within ITSec and Infrastructure. 

 

KARL LANGDALE-HUNT/PAM EVANS/TERRY PHILLIPS 

Project Roles: Business/Systems Analysts 

Experience: Karl, Pam and Terry each bring decades of analytical experience within the 
Hospitality sector, working closely with multiple business partners to map technical 
solutions to business problems.  With a diverse range of knowledge across various lines 

Page 101 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   8 
 

of business, they are all seasoned at being able to uncover and document core business 
requirements from all levels of an organization.   

Resumes to be provided upon shortlisting 

PROJECT DELIVERY APPROACH 

1. Assessment Initiation 

Purpose: Clarify and define strategies and objectives, ensure executive sponsors clarity 
on project goals and measurements. 
• Key Stakeholder interviews 
• Secondary/Point of Sale owner interviews, including Finance, IT 
• Establishment and agreement on project goals/objectives from executive team 
• Establish and clarify Assessment Team Roles and Responsibilities (combination of 

Active and IVGID resources) 
• Review Organizational Change Management capabilities and commitment  
• Establish/confirm timeline and budget expectations, determining depth and breadth of 

assessment, along with capabilities of system and process change across IVGID. 

Staffing Plan: Utilizing Enterprise/Solution architects via on site sessions, combined with 
Project Manager to create a detailed Assessment plan and timeline. 

2. Assessment Execution 

Purpose: Focused on project goals, perform functional and system analysis of current 
Point Of Sales and integrations, affected business departments and stakeholders. 
• Formal review of Ordinance 7 with appropriate IVGID resource(s)  
• Perform on site walkthroughs of business process for in scope Point of Sale and 

integrated systems 
• Review and confirm any current functional or technical design documents including key 

integrations 
• Document any key areas not currently captured within existing IVGID documentation as 

relevant to future modelling 
• Capture, document and clarify current state to end state functional requirements along 

with any roadmap functional requirements. 
• Capture and document any potential future needs, as input to solution design scalability 

and capabilities. 
• Identify and document infrastructure and technical requirements/limitations 
• Review current operational capabilities of IVGID to ensure solution design is 

operationally manageable or future operational model is considered within Execution 
planning 

• Presentation of findings to Executive Sponsorship to clarify direction and scope of 
solution architecture, along with potential prioritization. 

Staffing Plan: Aligning to Solution Architect/Business/System Analyst skill sets, perform a 
mixture of on site and remote sessions.  These sessions will vary dependent on areas of 
focus as outlined in the Assessment Initiation. Oversight and reviews provided ongoing 
by the Enterprise Architect. 

Page 102 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   9 
 

3. Solution Architecture 

Purpose: Create and vet solution design options with the IVGID stakeholders, presenting 
options for a scaled, phased approach to solution implementation. 
• Establish key areas of focus and document system and functional design requirements 

for solution design 
• Work with potential vendors to solicit solution design 
• Evaluate vendor options and short list based on gathered assessed artifacts 
• Work with vendors to create solution options and proposal reviews 
• Provide final solution option and recommendations to IVGID stakeholders  

Staffing Plan: Solution and Enterprise Architect work with vendors and where applicable 
technical experts to create target architecture options and phased options with budget 
and timeline overviews.  

4. Implementation Plan and Proposal 

Purpose: Provide an Implementation plan for the IVGID stakeholders, providing budget & 
timeline inclusive of project management, oversight, deliverable milestones, travel, and 
both project execution and operational costs for software, hardware and support. 
• Create project approach and recommended project framework 
• Establish project team structure and roles and responsibilities, inclusive of all vendors, 

contractors, and IVGID resources focused both on project execution and operational 
model 

• Ensure commitment of IVGID Executive Sponsors and Organizational Change 
Management team 

• Create project budget and execution plan broken down by execution phase. 
• Presentation and refinement with IVDIG stakeholders  

Staffing Plan: Solution and Enterprise Architect work with vendors and where applicable 
technical experts to create target architecture options and phased options with budget 
and timeline overviews. 

Page 103 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   10 
 

FINANCIAL DATA  
ACTIVE Network is a subsidiary of Global Payments Inc. (NYSE: GPN). Global Payments is a 
leading worldwide provider of payment technology services that deliver innovative solutions 
driven by customer needs globally. As a member of the S&P 500, Global Payments does 
business with merchants and partners in 30 counties throughout North America, Europe, the 
Asia-Pacific region and Brazil. As a public traded organization, Global Payments do not include 
the financial statements of subsidiaries, however, we are authorized to provide the link to Global 
Payments’ 10-k, as filed with the SEC: 

Refer to the Investor Relations section on Global Payments website  

https://investors.globalpaymentsinc.com/overview/default.aspx   

 

 

Page 104 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   11 
 

PROJECT COST AND SCHEDULE   
The proposal must contain the cost estimate the Scope of Work and the estimated timeline for 
completion of the required analysis, recommendations and formulation of the cost and timeline 
estimate for the potential implementation of the recommendations. 

The following represents the project approach as represented in the Project Delivery Approach.  
As part of the delivery there will be multiple on site visits coupled with remote project delivery.  
Duration proposals will be dependent on availability of IVGID resources. 

Project Phase  Duration Cost 
Assessment Initiation 3 weeks $39,000 
Assessment Execution 6 weeks $69,000 
Solution Architecture 6 weeks $76,500 
Implementation Plan and Proposal 3 weeks $40,500 
Project Management Ongoing $22,500 
   
Projected Travel Costs  $25,000 
   
Project Total  $272,500 

 

 

Page 105 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   12 
 

APPENDICES   

Terms and Conditions  
Please see the following pages for a sample of ACTIVE’s standard terms and conditions.   

 

Page 106 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   13 
 

 

Page 107 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   14 
 

 

Page 108 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   15 
 

 

Page 109 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   16 
 

 

Page 110 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   17 
 

 

Page 111 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   18 
 

 

 

Page 112 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District                                     Point of Sale System  
 

P a g e   19 
 

RFP Exceptions  
Active Network, LLC (“Active” or “Proponent”) is in general agreement with the concepts contained in the 
terms and conditions of the Solicitation RFP Point of Sale System dated August 25, 2023 for the Incline 
Village General Improvement District (the “RFP”) and submits this proposal based on the understanding 
and condition that the Incline Village General Improvement District (the “Client”) and Active will work 
together in a spirit of cooperation to discuss, clarify, and agree upon the specific scope of services, 
deliverables, pricing, schedules, responsibilities between the parties, assumptions, and contract terms 
(including legal terms and conditions, as well as insurance coverage amounts) applicable to the services 
described in this Response to the RFP prior to finalizing the arrangement between the parties. Please note 
that Active requests that Active’s standard terms and conditions, a sample copy of which is attached to this 
proposal, form the base of the arrangement. 

Active seeks to work with the Client to better understand, clarify, include and/or modify in any resulting 
contract several issues, including but not limited to the issues cited below. We are confident that through 
these discussions we can reach agreement on these issues in a timely and efficient manner as we have 
done previously in similar contracts with other similarly situated customers. 

Active takes exception to the following terms, conditions and/or concepts in the RFP: 

1. Section E of the RFP “Insurance Requirement”, Exhibit C “Standard Services Agreement Example”: 
The Proponent respectfully takes exception to the section/s and/or attachments listed and seeks 
to delete it in its entirety and replace with Active’s standard terms and conditions (attached). The 
Proponent’s offering is based upon utilizing the Proponent’s template as a starting point since the 
Proponent’s offering is nuanced and the Proponent’s template reflects such. The Proponent is 
confident that the parties can work to find mutually acceptable terms and conditions based upon 
this approach. The proposed change will have no impact on the anticipated services. 

Proponent hereby takes exception to any term or condition of the RFP which is in direct conflict with, or in 
addition to, Active’s standard terms and conditions attached to Active’s submission. 

Active hereby reserves the right to take additional exceptions to the terms, conditions or concepts in 
the RFP, if necessary, at a future date. 
 

Page 113 of 198



   

 

1 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

 

 

 

POS Assessment: 

Project Charter 
  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 114 of 198



   

 

2 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Contents 
POS Assessment: ........................................................................................................... 1 

Project Charter ................................................................................................................ 1 

Overview ......................................................................................................................... 3 

Goals and Objectives ...................................................................................................... 4 

Roles and Responsibilities .............................................................................................. 6 

Overview: ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Role Definitions:........................................................................................................... 6 

RACI: ........................................................................................................................... 7 

Scope ............................................................................................................................ 10 

Primary Systems and Processes: .............................................................................. 10 

Peripheral Systems and Processes: .......................................................................... 11 

Risks ............................................................................................................................. 12 

Budget, Timeline & Project Plan .................................................................................... 13 

Budget ....................................................................................................................... 13 

Timeline & Project Plan.............................................................................................. 13 

Approvals ................................................................................................................... 14 

 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 115 of 198



   

 

3 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Overview 
Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) has engaged with Active Networks 

to provide a Point of Sale (POS) Assessment as outlined in the “Incline Village 

Improvement District 2024-0316_Point_of_Sale_Agreement”.   

The purpose of this Project Charter is to provide further detail to Goals and Objectives, 

Roles and Responsibilities, Scope, Timeline and Budget as it relates to the future POS 

Functional Design, System Design and Project Plan deliverables.  This Charter will 

outline the guiding principles to be utilized in these phases to provide targeted design 

and solutioning, along with project governance.   

These principles will guarantee that the future System Architecture, Implementation, and 

Project Plan yield the maximum return on investment for IVGID. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 116 of 198



   

 

4 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Goals and Objectives 
The following Objectives were provided within the POS Assessment:  

 

Through the Project Initiation and Planning phase, numerous discovery and interview 

sessions were conducted with key stakeholders to refine the objectives and determine 

underlying goals of the project.  The following Objectives will be focused on to provide 

the highest value for IVGID.   

Improve automation of integration with Tyler Munis 

 Increase automation of data exchange between POS and Tyler Munis. 

 Streamline daily financial and ERP system processes. 

Provision of Business Intelligence and Analytics 

 Identify BI and Analytics requirements for improved decision-making. 

 Enhance reporting capabilities for business and district leadership. 

Consolidation and integration of a Master Customer Record across all POS 

 Create a unified master customer record across all POS, Parcel Management 

and CRM systems. 

 Improve operational and guest experience through a single 'customer' record. 

Maintain and improve payment security, efficiency and simplification of 

business processes. 

 Ensure maintenance of PCI compliance. 

 Leverage EMV and NFC technologies for cashless payments. 

 Consolidation of payment processors. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 117 of 198



   

 

5 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Improve cashless payment and card on file capabilities across IVGID POS 

Systems. 

 Optimize the utilization of stored card-on-file capabilities to streamline automated 

charges for services such as memberships, payment plans, and deposits. 

 Empower charging card-on-file through customer media like resident passes or 

season passes. 

Little, if any, loss in operational functionality from the current POS systems. 

 Ensure that current business capabilities remain supported or are improved. 

 Maintain or improve guest experience and revenue. 

Consolidated E-commerce platform that addresses all or as many of the 

retail venues needs for product sales, product management and member 

profile information, along with providing restricted access capabilities for 

specific products. 

 Develop a consolidated e-commerce platform for product sales, management, 

and member profiles. 

 Implement resident-specific access for pricing, products, and services. 

Restricted access online application addressing ownership and resident 

needs including parcel management, pass and punch card management. 

 Develop an online application for ownership and resident needs, including: 

o Parcel management 

o Pass and punch card management 

o Fulfillment of IVGID Ordinance 7 functions 

 Replace Capstone functionality with a sustainable and supported platform. 

Customer relationship management across all platforms. 

 Improve customer relevant insight, interaction and communication across all key 

applications. 

Provision of an architecture that will be supportable and scalable. 

 Consolidation of applications where applicable to simplify management, support 

and end-user utilization. 

 Ensure that solution design will be flexible and scalable to provide longevity. 

 Ensure that the solution design fits within IVGID’s technology ecosystem. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 118 of 198



   

 

6 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Overview: 

This section will outline the roles and tasks outlined throughout the project to ensure 

clarity on expectations and accountability throughout the project.   

This will be provided utilizing a RACI model. 

Through the Initiation and Planning phase there were refinements made to outlined 

roles to best match the team structure at IVGID.  

Role Definitions: 

Project Sponsor: Project owner within IVGID, accountable for signing off on all project 

deliverables and overall project success at IVGID. 

Technical Lead: Key resource responsible for functional, system and business process 

change.  Is heavily leveraged across all business and system discovery and 

requirements facilitated sessions. 

Business Lead: Responsible for individual Venue functional and system requirements 

within their areas of responsibility.  Will be responsible for identifying and providing 

impact of business process change.  

Revenue Manager: Consulted across various Venues to provide insight into current 

operational and systemic processes as related to current systems. 

Finance Lead: Responsible across all Venues in addition to Finance to provide review 

and guidance on any business process change, functional and system design reviews 

and sign off on project plan and budget. 

Enterprise Architect: Accountable for overall project delivery, provision of project 

artifacts and managing scope of project from Active. 

Solution Architect: Responsible for overall functional and solution design, project 

delivery plans and facilitation strategies. 

Project Manager: Responsible for communication and management of project 

governance. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 119 of 198



   

 

7 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

 

RACI: 

RACI Definition 

Responsible The role ultimately accountable for the task’s completion. 

Accountable The role responsible for doing the work. 

Consulted The role that should be consulted for input and feedback. 

Informed 
The role that should be kept informed about the progress and 
decisions. 

 

Role Resource 

Project Sponsor Mike Gove 

Technical Lead Chris Lavery 

Business Lead Chelsea LeMoine 

Resident Management/Ordinance 7 Adia VanPeborgh  

Parks and Rec  Chad Smith 

Diamond Peak Stephanie Koehler  

Golf  Rob Bruce 

Food & Beverage  Evan Carsman 

Merchandise  Greg Merritt 

Marketing  Paul Raymore 

Revenue Manager Chris Schmidt 

Finance Lead Adam Cripps 

Enterprise Architect Geordan Reid 

Solution Architect Nick Marvin 

Project Manager Jesse Moore 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 120 of 198



   

 

8 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

 

Task/Role 

Project 

Sponso

r 

Technica

l Lead 

Busine

ss Lead 

Revenue 

Manager 

Financ

e Lead 

Enterpri

se 

Architec

t 

Solutio

n 

Archite

ct 

Project 

Manage

r 

Assessment of Current 

Applications 
        

Conduct application 

inventory I C C C C A R I 

Evaluate application 

effectiveness I C C C C A R I 

         

Functional Design  
        

Define functional 

requirements C C C C C A R I 

Validate requirements with 

stakeholders I C C C C A R I 

Identify gaps and 

redundancies I C C C C A R I 

Identify business process 

change I C C C C A R I 

Document business 

process change I C C C C A R I 

Approve business process 

change A R R C R C C I 

Define operational 

capabilities C R R C R A R I 

Document functional design I C C C C A R I 

Sign off on functional 

design A R R C R C C I 

         

Solution Design 

Document 
        

Define technical 

architecture requirements C R I I I A R I 

Evaluate vendor and 

solution options C R C C C A R I 

Creation of integrated 

solution design C C C C C A R I 

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 121 of 198



   

 

9 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Review solution design 

proposal A R R C R C C I 

Sign off on solution design A R R C R C C I 

         

Implementation Plan and 

Proposal 
        

Identify resourcing 

capabilities and availability C R R C C A R I 

Define solution 

implementation change 

management C R R C C A R I 

Develop project plan C C I I I A R I 

Estimate project costs C C I I C A R I 

Approve project plan and 

budget A C C C R C C I 

         

Stakeholder 

Communication 
        

Develop communication 

plan C C I I I R C A 

Execute communication 

plan C I I I I R C A 

         

Risk Management 
        

Identify potential risks R R R R R R C A 

Develop risk mitigation 

plans C C I I I R C A 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 122 of 198



   

 

10 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Scope 
In conjunction with the Goals and Objectives listed above the following defines the 

scope of systems, functionality and processes that will be focused on during the POS 

Assessment.  Opportunities around business process, system configuration and 

utilization will be heavily considered and highlighted through the POS Assessment for all 

systems and functions in scope.  

Primary Systems and Processes: 

Ordinance 7: Ordinance 7 currently outlines the rates, rules, and regulations for 

Recreation Passes and Punch Cards for IVGID Parcel Owners, Residents, and 

designated benefactors. While recommendations for potential changes to Ordinance 7 

regarding POS or system requirements will be made, it is acknowledged that any 

changes to Ordinance 7 may take a significant amount of time for review and approval. 

Therefore, system and solution design may not rely on these changes. 

Capstone: Parcel, Resident and Ownership management along with Pass/Punch Card 

benefit management will be a primary focus of the POS Assessment. 

Vermont RecTrac: Recreation software utilized across IVGID for all beach access, 

activities, programs, events, registration fees, and miscellaneous fees will all be 

inclusive. Resident Punch Card/Pass management currently fulfilled through RecTrac 

will be a major focus of the POS Assessment.  Additionally, Retail/Merchandise sales 

and inventory management currently fulfilled through RecTrac along with integration into 

peripheral systems will all be included within scope. 

Vermont GolfTrac: Golf Tee Sheet management, golf pass, resident booking 

functionality will all be inclusive of scope. 

Vermont WebTrac: Online capabilities for both RecTrac and GolfTrac functions, 

products, and services.  All E-commerce and Resident benefit management currently 

fulfilled through WebTrac will be inclusive of scope. 

GolfNow: Online booking engine utilized for Non-Resident golf tee time bookings. 

Business functionality, integration and processes will be evaluated. 

RTP|One: Utilized for Ski Operations and Food and Beverage, utilization of current 

systems and business processes will be reviewed and contained within the POS 

Assessment. 

Axess: Access control software and hardware utilized currently for Beach and Ski 

access control will be inclusive of scope as related to the stated Goals and Objectives. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 123 of 198



   

 

11 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Square: Currently utilized for limited Food and Beverage functionality to enable offline 

or limited connectivity F&B sales will be evaluated within the POS Assessment. 

Tyler Munis: ERP Software utilized for all financial management.  The core ERP 

processes and functions will not be a primary focus, however all integrations and 

business processes as they relate to the downstream impact as related to the Goals 

and Objectives, will be within scope of the POS Assessment. 

Credit Processing: All credit processors as related to the in-scope systems along with 

integration to Tyler Munis will be evaluated for both functional and financial 

opportunities.   

Inntopia Marketing Cloud: Utilized for limited CRM and BI purposes specific to 

currently RTP|One data only.  As part of CRM and BI objectives, processes and 

software functionality will be evaluated within the POS Assessment. 

Peripheral Systems and Processes: 

These systems are not a primary focus of the POS assessment; however they will be 

taken into consideration to leverage system capabilities of in scope systems where 

applicable. 

Total Party Planner (TPP): Event management software utilized for Event Sales 

including but not exclusive to Golf Tournaments, Weddings, and Special Events.  The 

functional utilization of TPP will not be a primary focus of this POS Assessment. 

Revenue flow into downstream systems such as F&B and Golf, through to Tyler Munis 

will be evaluated and opportunities to address any Goals and Objectives will be 

included. 

Miscellaneous League Software: Software and processes utilized by leagues or clubs 

for managing team sports or events outside of RecTrac initial registration and booking 

will not be a primary focus for the current POS Assessment. 

Golf Genius: Software utilized for tournament and club league management, 

participation and communication. 

Field & Location Management: Tools utilized for managing scheduling of fields or 

locations for leagues, tournaments or events will not be a primary focus for the POS 

Assessment. 

Tennis Link: Software and processes currently utilized for managing tournament 

registration, ladders or rankings will not be a primary focus for the current POS 

Assessment. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 124 of 198



   

 

12 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Out of Scope: 

Any system or process not listed above will be out of scope. 

Risks 
Alterations to Ordinance 7: Ordinance 7 currently defines the Recreation Pass and 

Punch Card rates, rules and regulations for IVGID Parcel Owners, Residents, and 

designated benefactors.  The rules and regulations currently defined within Ordinance 7 

directly relate to a major component of POS functional and system requirements.  While 

considerations will be made within this POS Assessment to provide flexibility to 

alterations to Ordinance 7, unforeseen changes made to this Ordinance may result in 

POS or System Functionality deficiencies and a risk to overall project success and 

longevity. 

Resourcing: Through this POS Assessment, there will be a heavy reliance on key 

members of the project delivery team as defined in the RACI.  These members will not 

only be responsible for contribution of current business and system process knowledge, 

but also relied upon for sponsoring change management. Departure or changes to key 

members of the project team may have significant impact on the direction and goals of 

the project. 

Solution Scope: The potential range of solutions to meet the defined Goals and 

Objectives is extensive. Through the POS Assessment, the Enterprise and Solution 

Architects will work closely with the Project Sponsor to narrow the range of potential 

solutions and provide a single Solution Design document along with Project Plan and 

Timeline.  Inability to narrow the range of potential solutions or requirement to provide 

multiple Solution Design Documents or Project Plans will result in project and cost 

impacts. 

Change Management: With the scale of change required to facilitate the POS 

Assessment Goals and Objectives, from both a system and business process 

perspective, there will be a requirement for the core team to be supportive of process 

change. Failure to be open to process change will have significant impact on solution 

scope and budget.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 125 of 198



   

 

13 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Budget, Timeline & Project Plan 

Budget 

During the POS Assessment, estimates will be given to the Project Sponsor regarding 

costs for purchasing, implementing, and operating potential solutions. These estimates 

aim to streamline the scope and complexity of potential recommendations, ensuring 

IVGID achieves the greatest return on investment.  

Timeline & Project Plan 

The proposed timeline for the POS Assessment Implementation and Project Plan will 

take into consideration the following factors: 

Change Management Capabilities: Change Management capabilities of IVGID will be 

assessed through the POS Assessment, considering seasonality of venues, annual key 

dates and general temperature of key resources with regards to change to ensure the 

Project Plan will support a successful implementation plan. 

Deliverable Value (Impact/Cost Assessment): Through the POS Assessment, 

functional and system design phases, there will be evaluation on impact and cost to 

ensure that as a phased project plan and timeline is proposed, the prioritization of value 

will be heavily weighted. 

Prioritized Core Functionality: To efficiently meet Goals and Objectives, a phased 

implementation approach will prioritize establishing core structural functionality, serving 

as the foundation for additional solutions. 

Training and Documentation: Project timelines and plans will be explicit on containing 

structured training and documentation to support the implementation and ongoing 

operational needs. 

 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Page 126 of 198



   

 

14 | P a g e   9 / 6 / 2 0 2 4  
 

Approvals 

 

The signature below indicates that the undersigned have read and agreed to the contents of this Project Charter 

and are approving to proceed. 

IVGID  

  

Signature  

  

Name (Please Print)  

  

Title  

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 5A2EFAD1-FF90-4011-8D01-F6DC651A64A8

Director of Information Systems and Technology

Mike Gove

Page 127 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 1 

 

 

 

 

POS Assessment: 

Functional Requirements Document 
  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 128 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 2 

Table of Contents 
Functional Requirements Document (FRD) Purpose: ....................................................... 5 

Project Overview ........................................................................................................... 5 

Goals and Objectives: ................................................................................................... 5 

Scope: ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Risks ..................................................................................................................... 7 

Functional Requirements .............................................................................................. 8 

General Point of Sale Requirements ............................................................................ 8 

Customer and Resident Profile Management ........................................................... 8 

Transaction Processing and Payment Handling ...................................................... 10 

Inventory and Product Management ...................................................................... 11 

System Control and Compliance ........................................................................... 11 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 12 

System Integrations .............................................................................................. 12 

Self-Service Capabilities ...................................................................................... 13 

Non-Functional Requirements: ............................................................................. 13 

Parcel and Resident Management ............................................................................. 14 

Parcel Identification and Verification ..................................................................... 14 

Eligibility for Recreation Privileges ......................................................................... 14 

Self-Service Resident Portal .................................................................................. 15 

Integration with Washoe County Systems .............................................................. 16 

Assignment of Benefits ......................................................................................... 16 

Separate Management of Recreation and Beach Fees ............................................. 16 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 17 

Beach Access Management ..................................................................................... 18 

Pass and Card Validation at Beach Entrances ......................................................... 18 

Punch Card Usage for Beach Access ..................................................................... 18 

Group Picnic Reservations and Access .................................................................. 18 

Watercraft Launch Access .................................................................................... 18 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 129 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 3 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 19 

Resort Management of Diamond Peak....................................................................... 20 

Access Control and Ticketing ................................................................................ 20 

Ski and Ride School Management ......................................................................... 21 

Rental Management ............................................................................................. 23 

Locker management ............................................................................................ 24 

E-commerce and Online Services ......................................................................... 24 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 25 

Parks and Recreation System ................................................................................... 26 

Facility Access ..................................................................................................... 26 

Program Management .......................................................................................... 26 

Facility and Field Management .............................................................................. 27 

Retail & Rental Capabilities ................................................................................... 27 

Storage facility management ................................................................................. 28 

Lesson Scheduling and Booking ............................................................................ 28 

Online Services .................................................................................................... 28 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 29 

Golf Course Management System ............................................................................. 30 

Tee-Time Booking and Scheduling ......................................................................... 30 

Customer and Resident Management .................................................................... 31 

Transaction Processing and Payment Handling ...................................................... 32 

Retail Sales & Inventory Management .................................................................... 32 

Waiver Management ............................................................................................. 32 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 32 

System Integrations .............................................................................................. 33 

Food & Beverage POS System ................................................................................... 34 

Application Access and Security ........................................................................... 34 

Order Processing and Management ....................................................................... 34 

Golf Beverage Cart Service ................................................................................... 35 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 130 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 4 

Quick Service Operations at Beach Locations ........................................................ 35 

Quick Service Operations at Diamond Peak ........................................................... 35 

Catering and Events Management ......................................................................... 36 

Transaction Processing and Payment Handling ...................................................... 37 

Reporting and Analytics ........................................................................................ 37 

Business Intelligence (BI) ......................................................................................... 39 

Reporting and Analytics Distribution ...................................................................... 39 

Data Consolidation and Integration ....................................................................... 39 

Reporting and Dashboards ................................................................................... 40 

Advanced Analytics and Predictive Modeling .......................................................... 41 

Self-Service and Ad Hoc Reporting ........................................................................ 42 

Data Security and Compliance in BI ....................................................................... 43 

CRM Functional Requirements ................................................................................. 44 

Unified Customer Profiles ..................................................................................... 44 

Customer Communication Management ............................................................... 44 

Resident and Guest Segmentation ........................................................................ 45 

Data Integration Across Systems ........................................................................... 45 

Advanced Analytics and Insights ........................................................................... 45 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 131 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 5 

Functional Requirements Document (FRD) Purpose:  
The Functional Requirements Document (FRD) serves as a key communication tool 
between stakeholders, business users, and technical teams. Its primary purpose is to 
clearly define what the solution must accomplish from a functional perspective, outlining 
the features, behaviors, and user interactions needed to meet business objectives. The 
FRD focuses on what the system should do rather than how it will be built, which is covered 
by the Solution Design Document. By distinguishing functional requirements from 
technical specifications and technical solution design, the FRD ensures that all parties 
have a shared understanding of the business needs before the development process 
begins, reducing the risk of miscommunication or scope changes later in the project. It 
helps to create a foundation for further technical planning and solution design while 
maintaining clarity about the expected outcomes and functionalities. 

Project Overview 
The Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) has engaged Active Networks to 
conduct a comprehensive assessment and implementation of a new Point of Sale (POS) 
system. The purpose of this initiative is to streamline operations, enhance customer 
service, and integrate various business systems under a single architecture. This document 
consolidates the detailed functional requirements from multiple systems and operational 
areas, ensuring that the solution addresses the needs of IVGID’s parcel and resident 
management system supporting Ordinance 7, mountain operations of Diamond Peak, golf 
course operations, food and beverage services, retail outlets, and parks and recreation 
operations and programs. 

Goals and Objectives: 
Improve automation of integration with Tyler Munis 

• Increase automation of data exchange between POS and Tyler Munis. 
• Streamline daily financial and ERP system processes. 

Provision of Business Intelligence and Analytics 

• Identify BI and Analytics requirements for improved decision-making. 
• Enhance reporting capabilities for business and district leadership. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 132 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 6 

Consolidation and integration of a Master Customer Record across all POS 

• Create a unified master customer record across all POS, Parcel Management and 
CRM systems. 

• Improve operational and guest experience through a single 'customer' record. 

Maintain and improve payment security, efficiency and simplification of business 
processes. 

• Ensure maintenance of PCI compliance. 
• Leverage EMV and NFC technologies for cashless payments. 
• Consolidation of payment processors. 

Improve cashless payment and card on file capabilities across IVGID POS Systems. 

• Optimize the utilization of stored card-on-file capabilities to streamline automated 
charges for services such as memberships, payment plans, and deposits. 

• Empower charging card-on-file through customer media like resident passes or 
season passes. 

Little, if any, loss in operational functionality from the current POS systems. 

• Ensure that current business capabilities remain supported or are improved. 
• Maintain or improve guest experience and revenue. 

Consolidated E-commerce platform that addresses all or as many of the retail venues 
needs for product sales, product management and member profile information, along with 
providing restricted access capabilities for specific products. 

• Develop a consolidated e-commerce platform for product sales, management, and 
member profiles. 

• Implement resident-specific access for pricing, products, and services. 

Restricted access online application addressing ownership and resident needs including 
parcel management, pass and punch card management. 

• Develop an online application for ownership and resident needs, including: 
o Parcel management 
o Pass and punch card management 
o Fulfillment of IVGID Ordinance 7 functions 

• Replace Capstone functionality with a sustainable and supported platform. 

Customer relationship management across all platforms. 

• Improve customer relevant insight, interaction and communication across all key 
applications. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 133 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 7 

Provision of an architecture that will be supportable and scalable. 

• Consolidation of applications where applicable to simplify management, support 
and end-user utilization. 

• Ensure that solution design will be flexible and scalable to provide longevity. 
• Ensure that the solution design fits within IVGID’s technology ecosystem. 

Scope:  
The assessment includes primary systems (Ski, Golf, Food & Beverage, Retail, Resident 
Management, Parks and Recreation) and peripheral systems (Total Party Planner, Golf 
Genius, Field Management, Tennis Link). Out-of-scope systems include other league 
software and niche tools not used widely across IVGID. 

Risks 

• Changes to Ordinance 7 may impact POS requirements. 

• Potential resource constraints during peak periods. 

• Solution complexity and change management across various business units. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 134 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 8 

Functional Requirements 

General Point of Sale Requirements 
The POS system for IVGID encompasses a range of functionalities needed across various 
departments, including Food & Beverage, Golf, Retail, Parks and Recreation, Diamond 
Peak, and other venues. These common requirements are designed to ensure a seamless 
user experience, efficient operations, and compliance with IVGID’s policies.  

Customer and Resident Profile Management 

Basic Information: Standard Customer Profiles within all POS Systems should facilitate the 
capture and management of: 

• First and Last Name: Required for identification and personalized service across 
IVGID facilities. 

• Online Profile/Password: Allow for creation and management of online accounts 
and password management. 

• Date of Birth (DOB): Used for age verification, eligibility for specific programs, and 
promotions (e.g., youth discounts or senior pricing). 

• Address: Required to verify residency for IVGID Ordinance 7 discounts and 
privileges, and to determine eligibility for resident benefits. 

• Mailing Address: Ability to collect and utilize a secondary address for mailing and 
correspondence. 

• Phone Number: Primary contact method for notifications, updates, and customer 
service follow-ups. 

• Email Address: Used for booking confirmations, event updates, promotional 
communications, and account management access. 

• Photo ID: Optional but available for resident passes, membership cards, and to 
verify identity for access control in restricted areas. 

Customer Type: Allow for identification of different Customer Type’s within each system, 
delineating whether the customer is a Resident, Employee, or regular customer. 

Unified Customer Record: Establish a master profile system that integrates customer and 
resident data, including personal information, payment history, membership status, and 
resident/guest classification. 

Resident and Non-Resident Pricing: Automatically apply pricing adjustments based on 
resident status as per Ordinance 7, ensuring eligible customers receive designated 
discounts across all POS locations. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 135 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 9 

Family/Household Management: Ability to link profiles within a family or household for 
shared benefits, and multi-person access. This ensures easy management of family-based 
discounts and benefit sharing under Ordinance 7. Allow for inheritance of address, phone 
number and email profile information from a head of household. 

Group Management: Ability to link profiles within an organized group to provide specific 
benefits and tracking. Allow for inheritance of address, phone number and email profile 
information from a head of group. 

Employee Management: Capability to identify and apply different Employee Types or 
Categories to customer records within the systems to assign and manage recreational 
privileges within the POS Systems as defined by the IVGID Employee Recreational 
Privileges policy. 

Parental/Guardian Link: For minor profiles, link parent or guardian accounts for consent 
management, waiver authorization, and payment responsibilities. 

Profile Update: Enable restricted profile updates to specific fields controlled by 
configuration. 

Profile Verification: Provide profile and parcel verification including resident status and 
tracking eligibility for recreation privileges and discounts. 

Duplicate profile prevention and resolution: 

• Ability to prevent or minimize the creation of additional duplicate profiles 

• Optimize the ability for duplicate profiles to be de-duplicated. 

Waiver Management: Capture, store, and verify signed waivers directly within the profile, 
accessible across departments to minimize duplicate requests and improve service 
efficiency for activities requiring waiver authorization. 

• Waiver Management: Provide capabilities to create, customize, and manage waiver 
authorization capture and retention based on product requirements. 

• Completion capabilities: Provide waiver functionality both online and through 
manual completion. 

• Age Validation: Requirement of parent/guardian functionality for youth (under 18). 

• Waiver Verification: When validating waiver completion, provide the complete 
waiver as signed, with waiver signature. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 136 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 10 

Transaction History Access: Provide customers with the ability to view their transaction and 
visit history via a self-service portal, facilitating account transparency and customer 
inquiries. 

Transaction Processing and Payment Handling 

Secure, PCI-Compliant Payments: Ensure all POS terminals support PCI-DSS compliance, 
utilizing EMV, NFC, and secure card-on-file transactions for cashless and contactless 
payments. 

Cashless Payment Options: Integrate EMV and NFC technology for contactless payments, 
improving transaction speed and security. 

Tipping on Device: Ability to have customers be prompted and enter tips on device would 
be highly preferred. 

Tipping by Sales Location: Ability to control tip prompting and acceptance by Sales 
Location. 

Punch Card Processing: Enable Punch Card payment processing, restricting utilization of 
Beach and Recreation facility fees to only applicable products or locations and amounts. 

Card-On-File Capabilities: Enable card-on-file payments for simplified transactions, 
allowing customers to securely link cards to profiles for easy billing. 

Stored Value: Ability to load payment value on guest records or passes for utilization as 
payment at POS locations.  Note: this is separate functionality from Punch Cards. 

Automated Discount Application: Apply resident, employee, guest, group, and event-
specific discounts automatically at checkout, with built-in verification to ensure 
compliance with IVGID policies. 

Support for Multiple Payment Types: Accept various payment methods, including credit, 
debit, cash, punch cards where applicable, and contactless payments, to accommodate 
all guest preferences. 

Customer Capture: Ability to assign and link transactions to customer profiles providing 
transaction history and details. 

Customer Visibility: Provide a mechanism for customers to view their historical 
transactions. 

Refund and Adjustment Processing: Allow refunds, partial refunds, and adjustments for 
transactions, linking with customer accounts where applicable. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 137 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 11 

Gift Receipt Capability: Provide capability to issue a gift receipt with pricing removed but 
linking to original transaction.  

Inventory and Product Management 

Product Customization: Support dynamic Point of Sale product adjustments by location, 
enabling quick updates for items, pricing, and seasonal availability. 

Product Financial Management: Ensure Point of Sale product configuration supports the 
capability to track and earn revenue based upon IVGID financial requirements. 

Inventory Tracking: Provide inventory management across all POS locations (e.g., golf, 
retail, food and beverage), including updates for item availability, restocking, and transfers 
between locations. 

System Control and Compliance 

Role-Based Access Control: Provide role-based access controls to define user security 
privileges and groups. This ensures that sensitive tasks such as financial reporting, price 
changing, discounts, and system configurations are restricted to authorized personnel, 
typically managers or administrators, to prevent unauthorized access. 

PCI Compliance and Data Encryption: Secure all sensitive customer information, such as 
card-on-file data and personal details, using industry-standard encryption and 
tokenization. 

Resident Pass and Punch Card Validation: Validate IVGID resident passes and punch cards 
for eligibility, ensuring only qualified customers receive applicable privileges and 
discounts. 

Privilege Suspension: 

• Privilege Suspension: Ability to suspend or revoke privileges within the system due 
to misconduct per Ordinance 7(Article XI, Paragraph 100.) 

• Delinquent Fees: Ability to suspend recreation and/or beach access privileges if 
either the Recreation or Beach Facility Fee is delinquent. 

Audit Trails: Maintain logs of any changes made to products, transactions or profiles, 
providing visibility and accountability across all IVGID POS systems. 

Secure Cash Handling and Reconciliation: Enforce strict cash drawer protocols, including 
regular reconciliation, limited access to authorized staff, and audit trails for tracking 
discrepancies. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 138 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 12 

Reporting and Analytics 

Provide a robust native reporting solution with appropriate controls and security models. 

Native Reporting: POS applications should provide a robust native reporting solution. 

Customizable Reporting: POS applications should support the capability to create 
customized reports embedded within the application. 

Reporting Security: Ensure report access is controlled by security groupings to restrict 
sensitive data and information to appropriate resources. 

Sales and Revenue Reporting: Provide detailed sales and revenue reports by location, 
product category, and customer type (resident vs. non-resident), supporting financial 
analysis and operational decision-making. 

Daily Reconciliation and Financial Reporting: Generate daily transaction summaries and 
integrate with Tyler Munis ERP for streamlined accounting and financial tracking. 

Customer Insights and Preferences: Track customer preferences, peak times, and 
spending trends to guide inventory planning, seasonal adjustments, and targeted 
promotions. 

Data Access: Provide either direct access to the database or an API to facilitate the 
retrieval of POS data, enabling custom queries and data analysis, with an open data model 
allowing for direct querying and export of data into appropriate data repositories to support 
provision of a Business Intelligence and Analytics platform as part of the overall goals and 
objectives. 

System Integrations 

Integration with ERP and Financial Systems: Synchronize financial data with Tyler Munis 
ERP, ensuring accurate reconciliation, data consistency, and automated reporting. 

Integration with HRIS: Provide the capability to integrate with HRIS systems to create and 
update employee records. 

CRM and Resident Management System Integration: Link with IVGID’s CRM for updated 
customer information, resident status validation, and shared access to master records 
across departments. 

E-commerce Integration: Support integrated online sales, bookings, and customer account 
management for seamless transactions across both online and in-person POS systems. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 139 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 13 

Self-Service Capabilities 

Customer Self-Service Portal: Provide a self-service portal for customers and residents to 
manage bookings, renew passes, view transaction history, and access discounts based on 
residency. 

Online Booking and E-commerce: Enable customers to book lessons, tee times, rental 
reservations, and make online purchases, integrated with the POS for real-time availability 
and inventory tracking. 

Non-Functional Requirements: 

These requirements cover system security, compliance, availability, scalability, and 
usability. The system will be designed to ensure PCI DSS compliance and role-based 
access control. 

Security and Compliance: 

• PCI: Ensure PCI DSS compliance for all payment processing activities including 
appropriate encryption, tokenization and application security. 

• PII: Provide appropriate security controls and encryption of required guest profiles, 
payment information, and transaction history ensuring PII security. 

System Requirements: 

• High Availability: Ensure high availability and fault tolerance, particularly during 
peak seasons. 

• Scalability: Design the system to be scalable to accommodate future growth in 
guest volume and resort offerings. 

• Usability and Accessibility: Provide a responsive user interface for online and in-
person services. 

 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 140 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 14 

Parcel and Resident Management 
The Parcel and Resident Management section defines the functional requirements required 
to manage parcel identification, resident verification, and the administration of recreation 
privileges in alignment with Ordinance 7. Key functionalities include maintaining a parcel 
database linked to Washoe County records, verifying ownership and eligibility, supporting 
tenant benefit assignment, and managing separate recreation and beach facility fees. The 
system will provide a self-service portal for residents to manage accounts, renew passes, 
and access benefits, ensuring seamless integration with external systems for ownership 
validation and fee tracking. These features aim to streamline administrative processes, 
enforce compliance, and enhance the resident experience through efficient and 
transparent benefit management. 

Parcel Identification and Verification 

Parcel Database: The system will maintain a database of all parcels within the district, 
linked to Washoe County's property records to ensure accurate information. 

Ownership Validation: Ability to validate ownership through integration with Washoe 
County’s Assessor database, ensuring that only eligible parcels are assigned benefits. 

• Proof of Ownership: Enable parcel owners to upload legal documents such as 
deeds or Assessor’s confirmations. 

Multiple Owners: For parcels with multiple owners, require submission of a “Agent 
Authorization Form” form, authorizing a single individual to manage recreation benefits on 
behalf of all owners. 

Agent Designation: Any Owner listed on an approved application may designate an Agent 
authorizing a single individual to manage recreation benefits on behalf of the owner by 
filing and executing an “Agent Authorization Form”. 

Eligibility for Recreation Privileges 

Eligibility Verification: Ability to check parcel eligibility based on the Recreation Fee and 
Beach Facility Fee payment status, and compliance with Ordinance 7 provisions. 

• Eligible Parcels: Limit benefits to parcels that meet Ordinance requirements for 
recreation privileges and Beach Access (Articles III and VII). 

• Fee Payment Check: The system will enable verification of all property taxes, 
special assessments, and applicable Recreation and Beach Fees paid by October 1 
of the year billed before issuing benefits (Article III Paragraph 44).   

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 141 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 15 

• Tenant Eligibility: Allow tenants with leases longer than six months to apply for 
recreation benefits. Validate tenancy by requiring proof of lease and residency 
(Article III Paragraph 40, Article IV Paragraph 51). Tenant eligibility must be approved 
by the parcel owner or agent. 

Self-Service Resident Portal 

Resident Account Management: Provide residents with an online portal where they can 
manage their benefits, update their personal contact information, and renew passes. 

• User Registration: Residents can register an account by submitting proof of 
ownership (e.g., copy of deed or Assessor’s confirmation) or proof of tenancy. 

• Account Dashboard: The portal will display active recreation benefits, punch card 
balances, applicable Recreation and Beach Fees, and expiry dates of passes. 

• Renewals: Provide residents with automated reminders for renewal of their IVGID 
Recreation Passes or Recreation Punch Cards. 

Recreation Pass and Punch Card Management: Provide capabilities to allow for 
management of both Recreation Passes and Punch Cards. 

• Pass Issuance and Renewal: Parcel owners (or designated Agents) can request, 
renew, or replace their recreation passes or punch cards online. 

o Digital Cards: Allow residents to receive digital versions of passes and 
punch cards, accessible via smartphones. 

o Replacement Fees: Implement an online payment system for fees 
associated with lost or stolen pass replacements. 

• Punch Card Balance Inquiry: Residents can view and track their Recreation Punch 
Card balances in real-time, including usage history. 

• Transfer of Benefits: Enable residents to assign benefits to family members or 
tenants as per Ordinance 7 guidelines. 

Online Forms and Applications 

• Online Applications: Provide digital forms for all benefit-related applications (e.g., 
IVGID Recreation Pass, Assignment of Privileges, Proof of Ownership). 

o Verification Workflow: Enable the review process for ownership, tenancy, 
and family relationships based on submitted documents. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 142 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 16 

o Assignment of Privileges: Support the assignment of recreation benefits to 
family members or tenants in accordance with Ordinance 7 (Articles V and 
VI). 

Integration with Washoe County Systems 

Ownership Validation 

• Data Validation: Integrate or enable ease of manual validation with Washoe 
County’s Assessor’s office to verify parcel ownership, ensuring the system has the 
latest accurate data on landowners. 

Tax and Fee Payment Validation 

• Property Tax and Fee: Validate that all property taxes, Recreation Fees, and Beach 
Facility Fees are non-delinquent before issuing or renewing recreation benefits 
(Article IV, Paragraph 44). 

Assignment of Benefits 

Family Member Assignment 

• Family Tree Management: Allow parcel owners to assign recreation privileges to 
family members based on the "Family Tree" defined in Ordinance 7 (Exhibit A). 

o Proof of Relationship: Require proof of relationship (e.g., birth certificates, 
marriage certificates) when assigning benefits to family members. 

• Assignment Rules: Ensure assignments comply with rules about family members 
and tenants, preventing unauthorized assignments (Article V). 

Tenant Assignment 

• Tenant Management: Allow parcel owners or agent to assign recreation privileges 
to tenants, ensuring tenant eligibility through lease verification. 

o Lease Validation: Tenants must provide a valid lease agreement of six 
months or more and proof of residency to receive benefits. 

Separate Management of Recreation and Beach Fees 

Fee Structure 

• Recreation Fee: The system will apply the Recreation Fee to all eligible parcels for 
access to general recreational facilities such as golf courses, ski facilities, and 
recreation centers, excluding beach access. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 143 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 17 

• Beach Facility Fee: The system will apply the Beach Facility Fee only to parcels with 
Beach Access privileges, covering operational costs, capital improvements, and 
debt service related to beach properties (Article II, Paragraphs 14 and 25). 

o Fee Separation: Ensure that the Beach Facility Fee and Recreation Fee are 
tracked separately in the system and only applied to the parcels that are 
eligible for beach access under Ordinance 7. 

Fee Payment and Renewal 

• Fee Payment Tracking: Track payment status for both the Recreation and Beach 
Facility Fees to ensure that all applicable fees are paid before issuing or renewing 
recreation benefits. 

Privilege Suspension 

• Privilege Suspension: Ability to suspend or revoke privileges within the system due 
to misconduct per Ordinance 7(Article XI, Paragraph 100.) 

• Delinquent Fees: Ability to suspend recreation and/or beach access privileges if 
either the Recreation or Beach Facility Fee is delinquent. 

Reporting and Analytics 

Resident and Parcel Reporting 

• Resident Reports: Provide reports on active passes, upcoming expirations, and 
benefits assigned to family members or tenants. 

• Parcel-Level Reporting: Track recreation privileges by parcel, showing historical 
usage of passes and punch cards, and maintain audit trails for ownership validation. 

Fee Reporting 

• Fee Tracking Reports: Generate detailed reports showing collected Recreation 
Fees and Beach Facility Fees, categorized by parcel eligibility and payment status. 

Fraud Detection 

• Fraud Detection: Provide reporting to identify fraudulent use of passes or punch 
cards, such as monitoring for unauthorized transfers of benefits or use of passes by 
ineligible individuals. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 144 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 18 

Beach Access Management 
The Beach Access Management section outlines system capabilities to regulate and 
enforce access to IVGID-managed beach facilities in accordance with Ordinance 7. Core 
functionalities include validating IVGID Recreation Passes and Punch Cards, managing 
guest access limits, facilitating punch card transactions, and supporting group 
reservations and watercraft launch access. The system will generate detailed utilization 
reports, track guest and resident access, and ensure compliance with eligibility 
requirements.  

Pass and Card Validation at Beach Entrances 

Pass Validation System: Implement a digital validation system at beach entrances to verify 
IVGID Recreation Passes and Recreation Punch Cards in real-time, ensuring compliance 
with Ordinance 7's beach access rules (Article VII). 

Guest Access Management: Ensure guests can only enter beaches if accompanied by a 
pass holder and pay the applicable fee or if their entire entry fee is covered by a punch card 
with sufficient balance. 

• Limit Guest Numbers: Enforce the limit of 15 guests per parcel per day, as outlined 
in Ordinance 7 (Paragraph 73). 

Guest Identification and Tracking: Provide the functionality to assign and capture guest 
identification for each guest access. 

Punch Card Usage for Beach Access 

Punch Card Transactions: Deduct the appropriate fee from Recreation Punch Cards for 
each guest’s beach access, with real-time updates to card balances (Article VIII). 

Punch Card Payment: Restrict the payment of Beach Access to Punch Cards with value 
associated to Beach Facility Fees. 

Group Picnic Reservations and Access 

Group Reservations: Provide functionality to book and reserve group picnic areas for Pass 
Holders with Beach Access.  

Watercraft Launch Access 

Watercraft Launch Restrictions: Limit watercraft launching fees to Pass Holders with Beach 
Access or deduct applicable fees from Punch Card Holders with Beach Access. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 145 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 19 

Reporting and Analytics 

Beach Utilization Reporting: Generate detailed beach access reports based on access 
type, payment type, beach location, parcel and guest utilization. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 146 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 20 

Resort Management of Diamond Peak 
The purpose of this section is to outline system capabilities necessary to manage guest 
interactions, maintain accurate customer records, enforce access control measures, and 
support operational processes across various touchpoints at Diamond Peak. The 
requirements outlined here will enable IVGID to offer enhanced guest services, improve 
operational efficiency, and gain actionable insights into business performance. 

Access Control and Ticketing 

The access control system will handle all aspects of guest access to Diamond Peak, 
including sales and validation of single- and multi-day tickets, season passes, and special 
event tickets. It will integrate with RFID-enabled gates for seamless entry and real-time 
synchronization of pass status. 

Ticket Sales and Pass Management: 

• Support for online and in-person ticket sales, including day tickets, multi-day 
passes, and season passes. 

• Direct to lift capabilities with autocharge functionality. 

Pass Holder Benefits: 

• Configure and validate benefits for season pass holders. 

• Track and manage guest benefits to prevent unauthorized use. 

• Ability for card on file, pass based purchasing. 

Access Control Integration: 

• Validate tickets and passes at all entry points using RFID-enabled access gates. 

• Real-time synchronization of pass holder status. 

Pricing and Promotions: 

• Enable pricing models based on demand, season, and booking time. 

• Manage voucher codes, discounts, and group ticketing options. 

• Support inventory controlled ‘flash sale’ pricing.   

Guest Self-Service: 

• Provide self-service kiosks for ticket purchases and pick-up at key resort locations. 

• Enable guests and residents to reload existing tickets or passes using online 
services. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 147 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 21 

Ski and Ride School Management 

Ski and Ride School Management will support the scheduling, booking, and management 
of ski and snowboard lessons. It will manage instructor availability, class rosters, and 
lesson history, optimizing lesson delivery for guests and ensuring efficient resource use. 

Lesson Scheduling and Booking: 

The Ski and Ride School system will support a variety of lesson types, catering to guests’ 
preferences and optimizing instructor availability: 

• Booking for Lesson Types: The system will allow guests to book private lessons, 
group lessons, and multi-day programs, with options for online or in-person 
registration. Availability for each lesson type will be displayed in real-time, showing 
open spots, instructor assignment, and session times. 

• General Lesson Requirements: Ability to define and capture specific lesson 
requirements, participant names, ability levels, ages, or any additional notes based. 

• Product Driven Lesson Requirements: Dependent on individual lesson types being 
purchased, require capture of product unique requirements such as emergency 
contact, parent/guardian, regular/goofy snowboard, or other as required. 

• Instructor Scheduling by Skill Level and Availability: The system will enable 
scheduling of instructors based on their specific skill levels and expertise, as well as 
real-time availability. When guests book lessons, the system will facilitate the 
assignment an instructor who meets the lesson type’s requirements (e.g., beginner, 
intermediate, or advanced skiing or snowboarding) and is available during the 
desired time. 

Class Management: 

The system will streamline class organization, tracking, and reporting for effective class 
management: 

• Class Roster Management: Class rosters will be generated and managed in the 
system, detailing guest names, ages, skill levels, and special requirements for each 
class. The system will automatically update rosters when new guests book or 
cancel, ensuring accurate class lists. 

• Lesson History Tracking: For returning guests, the system will track lesson history, 
including previous instructors, lesson types, progress notes, and skill evaluations.  

Resource Allocation and Instructor Management: 

Efficient resource allocation and instructor management will ensure classes are optimally 
staffed and instructors’ schedules are managed effectively: 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 148 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 22 

• Instructor Allocation: Enable instructors to be assigned to lessons based on their 
skill set, guest requirements, and lesson type (e.g., children’s ski lessons, adult 
beginner snowboarding). The system will prioritize instructors who match the 
guests’ needs and maintain balanced workloads. 

• Instructor Profile Management: The system will maintain profiles for each 
instructor, capturing certifications, skills, experience, and any specializations (e.g., 
children’s, seniors, freestyle, adaptive skiing). This information will guide the 
allocation of instructors to appropriate lessons. 

• Instructor Availability and Multi-Class Assignment: Instructors’ availability will be 
tracked in real-time, allowing them to be assigned to multiple classes without 
scheduling conflicts. The system will support adjustments if instructors need to be 
reallocated due to cancellations or schedule changes. 

• Intuitive Scheduling Interface: The system will provide a scheduling interface for 
administrators, allowing easy viewing and adjustment of instructor and guest 
assignments. Filters for availability, skill level, and lesson type will simplify the 
scheduling process. 

• Instructor Ranking: Provide the capability to configure instructor ranking 
algorithms to provide a ranked instructor list for priority booking. 

• Instructor Schedule Access: Instructors will have access to view their schedules, 
rosters, and class details through a secure portal, helping them prepare for their 
lessons and manage their time effectively. 

Payroll Management & Integration: 

The Ski and Ride School system will support accurate and timely payroll calculations 
based on instructor schedules and performance incentives: 

• Payroll Calculation by Task and Assignment: The system will capture detailed 
data on instructor hours, lesson assignments, and any additional tasks to calculate 
payroll. Incentive-based pay (e.g., based on the number of sessions taught or 
positive guest feedback) will also be tracked and applied as appropriate. 

• Pay increase: Based on the number of hours taught, allow for hourly base rate pay 
increases to be actioned, on the following pay period. 

• Payroll Integration with Tyler Munis: Payroll calculations and records will be 
integrated with Tyler Munis’s payroll system, ensuring smooth payroll processing 
and compliance with organizational payroll policies. This integration will include 
exporting payroll data and generating reports. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 149 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 23 

Rental Management 

The rental system will track and manage equipment inventory, provide for equipment 
reservations, and facilitate efficient rental check-out and return processes. It will include 
advanced features like equipment configuration based on guest profile data and serialized 
tracking for rental assets. 

Rental Inventory Management: The rental system will manage inventory for various types of 
rental equipment, such as skis, snowboards, boots, helmets, and safety gear. Key 
functionalities include: 

• Inventory Tracking: The system will maintain a detailed inventory record for each 
type of rental equipment, including current stock levels, location, and condition 
(new, in-use, under maintenance, or damaged). 

• Equipment testing: Ability to capture equipment testing per piece of equipment 
and only allow for tested equipment to be rented. 

• Serialized Equipment Tracking: Each piece of equipment will have a unique 
identifier (e.g., serial number or barcode) to allow for precise tracking, usage history, 
and maintenance records. Serialized tracking ensures each item can be monitored 
for wear, maintenance schedules, and guest usage. 

Rental Booking and Check-Out: The system will support efficient rental reservations, order 
processing, and check-out/check-in workflows. 

• Reservation Capabilities: Guests will be able to make reservations for equipment 
online or in person. The system should display real-time availability for each 
equipment type, ensuring guests are only able to reserve items that are in stock. 

• Customer Sign-In and Order Fulfillment: The system will allow guests to sign in at 
rental locations, either via online pre-registration or an on-site kiosk. Upon check-in, 
the system should retrieve the guest’s reservation details, linking them to the 
selected equipment for fast processing. 

• Check-Out and Return Process: The system will track equipment check-out and 
return times, ensuring accurate availability and tracking of all items. Serialized 
tracking will allow staff to scan equipment for streamlined check-out and return 
processing, reducing errors and verifying accurate equipment assignment. 

Rental Technician Station: The rental system will support rental technicians with an 
interface to assign, configure, and adjust equipment based on guest profiles and 
preferences. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 150 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 24 

 

• Guest Profile-Based Equipment Assignment: Technicians will have access to 
guest profiles, including key data such as height, weight, skill level, and preferences. 
Based on this information, the system should recommend specific equipment sizes, 
types, and configurations, allowing for customization by the technician. 

• Equipment Configuration Settings: The system will enable technicians to 
configure equipment settings for skis, snowboards, and bindings. For example: 

o Ski Settings: Adjust ski length and binding release settings according to 
industry safety standards and guest specifications. 

o Snowboard Settings: Select appropriate snowboard length for guest skill 
and preference. 

o Boot Size: Ensure boot sizes are matched accurately to each guest based on 
stored profile data. 

• Barcode Scanning for Equipment Assignment: To streamline the process, the 
system will support barcode scanning for each equipment item, ensuring the 
correct piece is assigned and linked to the guest’s rental session. Scanning will 
reduce human error, facilitate faster processing, and improve the accuracy of 
assignments and returns. 

Lost/Late Equipment Tracking: 

• Implement tracking of lost or late equipment with guest notifications and fees, nice 
to have: automation of notification and automatic billing. 

Locker management 

Locker management: Provide capabilities to transact annual fees for lockers with 
assignment of lockers to individual residents. 

Renewals: Provide renewal process to allow for renewal period before inventory is 
released. 

Waitlist: Ability to create and maintain waitlists. 

E-commerce and Online Services 

This module will support online ticket sales, rental reservations, and lesson bookings, 
enabling guests to purchase and reserve services before arriving at Diamond Peak. It will 
also provide an online portal for guest account management, facilitating a more 
streamlined and self-service experience. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 151 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 25 

Online Ticket Sales: 

• Enable online purchase and delivery of tickets and passes. 

• Enable online verification and discounted ticket purchase for IVGID Picture Pass 
holders. 

• Restrict resident season pass holders from purchasing resident priced tickets. 

Online Rental Reservations: 

• Allow guests to pre-book rental equipment, specifying preferred pick-up locations. 

• Ability to capture required guest information prior to lesson date. 

Online Lesson Booking: 

• Provide a user-friendly interface for guests to view and book group lessons, private 
lessons, and seasonal programs.  

• Ability to capture required guest information prior to lesson date. 

Account and Profile Management: 

• Integrate with resort-wide guest profiles for unified login, profile management. 

• Allow guests to view transaction history. 

Reporting and Analytics 

Lesson Booking Detail: Ski and Ride School lessons by product type/group, request details.  

Instructor Scheduling: Provide individualized and summary instructor scheduling reporting. 

Online Rental Reports: Online rental information and potential pre-arrival details to 
facilitate rental assignment and fulfillment. 

Overdue Rentals: Overdue rental reporting providing detailed rental item and customer 
information. 

Rental Inventory: Rental Inventory reports detailing product information and location. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 152 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 26 

Parks and Recreation System 

The Parks and Recreation system will support facility access, program management, 
facility reservations, and event management for the IVGID Recreation Center, Tennis and 
Pickleball Center as well as multiple parks and outdoor facility locations. 

Facility Access 

Access Products: Ability to sell access products that control facility access and utilization. 

• Product types: Allow for multiple types of facility access products, including: 

o Single day access 

o Term based facility access passes with capability to define term. 

o Usage based access products allowing for a specified amount of days. 

• Product Detail Requirements: Determined by configuration and product 
requirements, allow or require the capture of the following customer attributes: 

o First/Last Name 

o Photo (if required) 

o DOB 

o Phone number 

o Email 

Access Control: Provide capability for automated and self service entrance with the ability 
to monitor and audit usage. 

• Self Service: Enable through the utilization of self service a mechanism for 
customers to validate and record entrance to facilities. 

• Authentication validation: Provide functionality for IVGID employees to monitor 
and validate successful and un-successful authentications, ensuring access 
products are associated to the client utilizing.  

Program Management 

Create, schedule, and operate youth, teen, and adult programs. 

Program Prerequisites and Requirements: Allow for definition of program prerequisites, 
requiring participant prerequisites to be met prior to allowing booking of a specific 
program: 

• Verification of specified activity(ies) already completed. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 153 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 27 

o Allow for manual approval overrides. 

• Age validation on programs. 

• Integration with Parcel and Resident management system to provide limited access 
to resident only programs and services. 

Resident Pricing: Provide resident and non-resident pricing per program. 

Program Inventory Management: Allow for programs to control program participation based 
on a set of predetermined inventory controls. 

• Creation of minimum and maximum registration values 

• Ability to override 

Waitlist capabilities: Allow for capture of interested participants over the maximum 
inventory level. 

• Provide notification on cancellation to staff regarding waitlist 

• Prioritize the waitlist order by booking date 

Waiver functionality: Enable the system to require a signed waiver for participation in 
specific programs. 

• Online and through manual completion. 

• Requirement of parent/guardian functionality for youth (under 18). 

• Allow for global verification of waivers across Recreation, Golf, any Parks and Rec 
program, and Tennis & Pickleball. 

Facility and Field Management 

Facility Reservations: Provide capabilities to be able to manage reservations for parks, 
fields, and indoor facilities. 

• Hourly, partial and full day bookings. 

• Require payment at time of booking. 

• Manage calendar and schedules for park, field and facility availability. 

• Schedule and manage community events and park activities integrated with facility 
schedules. 

Retail & Rental Capabilities 

Retail Sales Integration: Ability to transact sales of retail products and apparel seamlessly 
to guests within the recreation facility.  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 154 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 28 

Inventory Tracking: Implement a system to manage inventory allowing for accurate tracking 
of retail sales, stock levels, and reorder triggers. 

• Allow for efficient tracking and transfer of inventory between multiple locations. 
• Provide a standard systematic manual inventory count process. 

Cost of Goods Sold: The system should calculate the Cost of Goods Sold (COGS) for retail 
items at the point of sale by tracking inventory costs, including purchase price and any 
additional expenses. Upon each sale, COGS should automatically deduct from inventory 
value and record the associated cost in financial reports, enabling accurate gross profit 
calculations. 

Item-Specific Pricing and Discounts: Apply member discounts on specific items for 
residents and parcel owners, as outlined in Ordinance 7. 

POS-Integrated Inventory Updates: Automatically update inventory in real-time with every 
transaction to ensure accurate stock availability and prevent over-sales. 

Transaction Return and Refunds: Allow for lookup and transaction search by original 
receipt, returning inventory and providing original sale price. 

Rental Equipment: Provide the ability to sell and track rental equipment products. 

Storage facility management 

Storage management: Provide capabilities to transact annual storage fees for kayaks and 
paddleboards with assignment of storage locations to individual residents. 

Renewals: Provide renewal process to allow for renewal period before inventory is 
released. 

Waitlist: Ability to create and maintain waitlists. 

Lesson Scheduling and Booking 

Private Instruction: Support booking for private lessons, instruction or personal training. 

Schedule Management: No current need to manage schedules for private instruction or 
personal training. 

Payroll reconciliation: Ensure private instruction bookings are able to be reconciled to 
validate private instructor payroll requirements. 

Online Services 

Online booking: Provide a self-service portal for residents and guests to register, purchase 
passes, and access exclusive programs. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 155 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 29 

• Enable filtering or limited access to specific programs based on parcel benefit type. 

• Provide pricing based on Passholder/Non-Passholder. 

• Allow for online signup for programs with waitlists. 

• Provide capability to cancel online, dependent on ability to auto assign waitlist 
guests to programs or create notification to staff that a cancellation has occurred on 
a waitlisted program. 

Reporting and Analytics 

Program Registration: Provide details on participants per program and program category. 

Cancellation Reporting: Detailed cancellation reporting to allow for analysis of booked but 
cancelled programs. 

Resident/Non-resident Registration: Provide breakdown of program registration and 
participation by customer type. 

Facility Usage: Product detail reporting based on access and customer type. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 156 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 30 

Golf Course Management System 
This section outlines the functional requirements for the POS system to support IVGID’s 
golf course operations at both the Mountain and Championship Courses. The purpose is to 
establish a system that integrates financial, inventory, and customer management 
processes to streamline operations, enhance user experience, and comply with Ordinance 
7 guidelines for recreation privileges. 

Tee-Time Booking and Scheduling 

Multi-Channel Booking: Allow for booking and scheduling via multiple sales channels. 

• Online Reservations: Enable online booking through a user-friendly interface, 
accessible via desktop and mobile devices. 

• Restricted Online Pass Holder Booking: Provide the capability to validate 
Recreation Pass Holders to access Pass Holder rates and booking entitlements. 

• Phone and In-Person Reservations: Provide staff with tools to make reservations 
over the phone or at the clubhouse, integrating these bookings into the same system 
to prevent double-booking. 

Flexible Product Management, Pricing and Discounting: 

• Resident, Guest and Non-Resident Pricing: Apply differential pricing based on 
customer profile. Eligible residents should receive discounted rates, and the system 
must support tiered pricing for residents, guests of residents and non-residents. 

• Booking Restrictions: Enable different parameters for resident and non-resident 
bookings. 

• Play Pass:  

o Restrict purchase of standard Play Passes to IVGID Recreation Pass holders 
only.  

o Allow for configuration of multiple types of Play Passes which are either set 
number of rounds, or unlimited season access in both unrestricted time of 
day, or afternoon only. 

o Allow purchase of Junior or College Play Passes based on IVGID 
prerequisites.   

• Pre-book fees: Allow for the system to differentiate between residents and non-
residents to apply appropriate additional, non-refundable pre-book fee based on 
pre-booking outside of a specified time period. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 157 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 31 

• Dynamic Pricing: Enable dynamic pricing adjustments based on demand, time of 
day, season, or special promotions. 

• Rental Products: Allow for sale and tracking of rental equipment. 

• Group Booking Discounts: Allow group discounts, package pricing for corporate 
events, or bulk booking discounts (e.g., booking multiple tee times). 

Tee Sheet Management:  

• Real-Time Availability: Display tee-time availability across both courses, updating 
in real-time for both online and in-person bookings. 

• Cancellation Policy Enforcement: Allow for penalties or fees for late cancellations 
or no-shows according to policy, differentiating between residents, guests, and non-
residents.  Automation of penalties or fees would be a nice to have. 

• Tournaments and Clubs: Allow for tee sheet management and scheduling of 
tournaments, as well as regular blocking of tee times for IVIGID club play. 

• Seasonal Tee Sheet: Enable the setup of the tee sheet to accommodate seasonal 
variations and adjust the format to match the day's play requirements. 

• Group booking: Allow for booking of groups in a single booking vs associating 
individual bookings in the tee sheet. 

• Group booking: Allow for booking of groups in a single booking vs associating 
individual bookings in the tee sheet. 

Customer and Resident Management 

Resident Profile Integration: The POS must identify IVGID parcel owners and residents with 
eligibility for recreation passes or punch cards, applying discounts per Ordinance 7 
guidelines. 

Unified Customer Record: Implement a master customer record integrating across IVGID 
venues to track customer and member profiles, preferences, transaction history, and 
restrictions. 

Ordinance Compliance: Ensure recreation privileges are tracked accurately per Ordinance 
7, allowing only eligible members and their guests access to specific rates and services. 

Play Pass Utilization: Track and provide capability of providing online visibility of Play Pass 
utilization to residents. 

Play Pass Renewal: Enable pass renewals based on residency status, expiration dates, and 
other IVGID-established eligibility criteria. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 158 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 32 

Transaction Processing and Payment Handling 

Play Pass: Allow Play Pass purchases to be used based on the remaining pre-purchased 
rounds tied to the Play Pass, with restrictions applied by course and time of day. 

Retail Sales & Inventory Management 

Retail Sales Integration: Ability to transact sales of golf equipment and apparel seamlessly 
to guests within the Golf Shop transaction process.  

Pro-Shop Inventory Tracking: Implement a system to manage pro-shop inventory for both 
golf courses, allowing for accurate tracking of retail sales, stock levels, and reorder triggers. 

• Allow for efficient tracking and transfer of inventory between multiple locations. 

• Provide a standard systematic manual inventory count process. 

Cost of Goods Sold: The system should calculate the Cost of Goods Sold (COGS) for retail 
items at the point of sale by tracking inventory costs, including purchase price and any 
additional expenses. Upon each sale, COGS should automatically deduct from inventory 
value and record the associated cost in financial reports, enabling accurate gross profit 
calculations. 

Item-Specific Pricing and Discounts: Apply member discounts on specific pro-shop items 
for residents and parcel owners, as outlined in Ordinance 7. 

POS-Integrated Inventory Updates: Automatically update inventory in real-time with every 
transaction to ensure accurate stock availability and prevent over-sales. 

Transaction Return and Refunds: Allow look-up and transaction search by original receipt, 
returning inventory and providing original sale price. 

Online Sales: Enable online sales for hard and soft goods. 

Waiver Management 

Rental Equipment & Golf Carts: Ability to capture and assign waivers for golf cart or club 
rentals.  

Reporting and Analytics 

Daily and Periodic Sales Reports: Generate daily, monthly, and yearly reports for golf 
rounds, play passes, pro-shop sales, and other revenue streams, with segmentation by 
resident and non-resident categories. 

Play Pass Utilization: Provide reporting capabilities to manage play pass revenue 
allocation. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 159 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 33 

Customer Usage Reports: Track customer usage data to understand high-use times and 
customer demographics, supporting targeted marketing and pricing strategies. 

• Ability to track number of tee time bookings, cancellations and tee sheet abuse by 
individuals. 

Financial Reconciliation Reports: Provide detailed reports that support financial 
reconciliation with the Tyler Munis ERP system, including transaction records, inventory 
adjustments, and discount applications. 

Cost of Goods Sold: Provide comprehensive reporting capabilities to support Cost of 
Goods Sold (COGS) analysis, enabling users to view and evaluate COGS across various 
dimensions, such as time period, product category, and location. Reports must include 
metrics like total sales, total COGS, gross profit, and profit margins, with options for 
filtering and drilling down by specific items or departments. 

Performance Dashboards: Implement BI dashboards to monitor KPIs for course 
occupancy, peak times, revenue per booking, and resident versus non-resident 
participation. 

System Integrations 

ERP Integration with Tyler Munis: Establish data pipelines for secure data exchange 
between the POS system and Tyler Munis, minimizing data duplication and manual entry. 

Driving Range: Enable integration of native solution to process driving range products. 

Online Booking Integration: Enable API integration with GolfNow or similar online booking 
platforms for non-resident bookings, updating availability in real-time. 

Customer Relationship Management (CRM): Link with IVGID’s CRM or master customer 
record to maintain updated contact details, resident status, and transaction history across 
venues. 

E-commerce Platform: Support an integrated e-commerce solution to enable online sale of 
play passes and exclusive resident offerings. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 160 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 34 

Food & Beverage POS System 
This section outlines the functional requirements for IVGID’s Food and Beverage (F&B) 
operations across Diamond Peak, Golf Course operations including beverage carts and 
Beach quick-service locations, as well as Events and Catering operations. The 
requirements aim to optimize POS functionalities for order processing and payment 
processing to ensure an efficient and seamless guest experience. 

Application Access and Security 

User Authentication and Role-Based Access: Implement role-based access control within 
the POS system to prevent unauthorized access. Define user roles for cashier, supervisor, 
and admin levels, with appropriate permissions for each. 

PCI Compliance for Payment Security: Ensure compliance with PCI-DSS standards, 
including secure storage and tokenization of card-on-file information, encrypted 
transactions, and routine security audits. 

Resident Pass Verification for Compliance: Integrate resident pass verification into the POS 
system to automatically check eligibility for discounts, ensuring only eligible residents 
receive Ordinance 7 privileges. 

Order Processing and Management 

Point-of-Sale Interface: Provide an intuitive POS interface for quick order entry, which 
allows staff to efficiently handle high-demand periods and accurately process both 
resident and non-resident orders. 

Customizable Menu Management: Enable menu customization for each location (Diamond 
Peak, golf course, beach, and beverage cart), allowing for item availability updates and 
location-specific pricing. 

Customer Verified Pricing: Automate pricing adjustments based on customer profile 
validation, residents/non-residents, pass holders, employees or other as required. The 
system should apply discounts or specific pricing for residents per Ordinance 7 
requirements. 

Mobile POS Capability: Mobile POS devices that integrate with the central POS system, 
enabling order processing and inventory updates for all locations. 

Table Management: Allow for the creation and management of tables to be utilized to 
assign checks to specific tables. 

Seat Management: Provide functionality to assign items on each check or table to a 
assigned seat, tracking order information to seat. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 161 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 35 

Split/Merge Checks: Allow for checks to be either split, organized by seat, shared by 
number of guests or by a specific number.  Additionally, provide the capability to combine 
multiple checks into a single bill. 

Kitchen and Bar Service Orders: Allow order entry on workstations or devices that sync to 
kitchen and bar printers as defined by product. 

Golf Beverage Cart Service 

Mobile POS Capability: Equip beverage carts with mobile POS devices that integrate with 
the central POS system, enabling order processing and inventory updates. 

Cashless Transactions: Enable cashless payments (card-on-file, NFC, EMV) to streamline 
transactions on the move. Ensure all payments are linked to customer accounts and 
synchronized with the central POS system for reporting. 

Resident Pass Validation: Validate resident passes directly on the cart POS to apply eligible 
discounts, ensuring compliance with IVGID’s pricing structure and customer verification 
requirements. 

Quick Service Operations at Beach Locations 

Quick Service: Provide easy use functionality for processing of common items and 
payment processing. 

Menu Configuration: Allow easy setup of seasonal menu items and pricing updates based 
on high-demand summer periods, facilitating quick adjustments to inventory and pricing. 

Resident Pass Validation: Validate resident passes directly on the cart POS to apply eligible 
discounts, ensuring compliance with IVGID’s pricing structure and customer verification 
requirements. 

Kitchen and Bar Service Orders: Allow order entry on workstations or devices that sync to 
kitchen and bar printers as defined by product. 

Quick Service Operations at Diamond Peak 

Quick Service: Provide easy use functionality for processing of common items and 
payment processing. 

Menu Configuration: Allow easy setup of seasonal menu items and pricing updates based 
on high-demand summer periods, facilitating quick adjustments to inventory and pricing. 

Resident Pass Validation: Validate resident passes directly on the cart POS to apply eligible 
discounts, ensuring compliance with IVGID’s pricing structure and customer verification 
requirements. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 162 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 36 

Location Based Season Pass Discounting: Validate season pass holder discounts directly 
on the cart POS to apply eligible discounts. 

Kitchen and Bar Service Orders: Allow order entry on workstations or devices that sync to 
kitchen and bar printers as defined by product. 

Catering and Events Management 

The Food & Beverage POS system will include functionality or integration to support 
catering and event services at IVGID locations, ensuring seamless management of event-
specific orders, billing, and service delivery for both private and public events. This section 
covers the requirements specific to catering and event operations, from booking and order 
customization to billing and reporting. 

Event Booking and Customization 

• Customizable Menus for Events: Enable custom menu options for events, allowing 
specific items to be selected and priced according to the event package. Menus 
should support guest preferences or dietary restrictions and facilitate pre-ordering 
for specific headcounts.  

• Event Scheduling and Booking: The system will support advanced booking for 
catering and event services, allowing staff to reserve dates and times for events, 
assign staff and resources, and block out booked locations to avoid scheduling 
conflicts. 

• Sales Management: CRM functionality to track and manage leads, collect website 
leads through lead sources and type and create and manage sales pipelines. 

Order Processing and Service Delivery 

• POS Utilization for Event Service: The system will allow catering staff to process 
transactions directly through the POS system at event venues, allowing for 
integration or consolidation of event billing. 

• Inventory integration: Ensure any catering sales are integrated into overall Food 
and Beverage COGS/inventory management. 

• Mobile Service Options: Support mobile POS capabilities for events held at 
outdoor or remote locations, ensuring that all food and beverage transactions are 
accurately recorded and tracked for seamless service and billing. 

Billing and Invoicing 

• Event-Specific Billing: Generate consolidated bills specific to each event, detailing 
pre-ordered items, on-demand additions, and any applied service fees or gratuities. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 163 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 37 

Bills will include service charge calculations and itemized charges based on the 
menu and services selected. 

• Deposit and Payment Tracking: Track deposits and payments made by event 
organizers, with the ability to set up payment schedules or due dates as required. 
The system should automatically update the account balance as payments are 
made and reflect any outstanding amounts in the final invoice. 

• Discounts and Package Pricing: Apply any agreed-upon package pricing or 
discounts (e.g., bulk booking rates, resident discounts) to the event bill. The system 
should ensure compliance with IVGID discount policies while allowing flexible 
pricing arrangements for group bookings. 

Transaction Processing and Payment Handling 

Payment Processor Integration: Enable integration with a single payment processor that 
supports various payment methods, including NFC, EMV, and card-on-file, ensuring PCI 
compliance. 

Card-on-File and Cashless Payments: Support card-on-file and cashless payment 
methods for convenience, particularly for residents with stored payment profiles. Ensure 
residents can link passes to their accounts to streamline charges. 

Tip and Split Payment Options: Allow for tip adjustments and split payments within a single 
transaction for group or family orders. 

Open Tabs and Group Billing: Provide the capability to create open sales orders and 
maintain an open tab for groups or events. 

Bill to Account: Allow for orders and tabs to be billed to an account. 

Automated Discounts and Promotions: Implement discounts and promotions that can be 
configured for specific customer groups (residents, guests, tournaments) and applied with 
verification at checkout. 

Reporting and Analytics 

Location-Based Sales Reports: Generate detailed revenue reports by service location (e.g., 
Diamond Peak, Mountain Golf Course, Championship Golf Course, beach locations, and 
mobile beverage carts). Each report will provide itemized revenue, total sales, and 
transaction counts for each location, helping to evaluate the profitability and performance 
of specific service points. 

Product and Category Sales Performance: Track sales by product category (e.g., beverages, 
snacks, meals) and by individual items to identify high-demand products. Reports will 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 164 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 38 

include metrics such as units sold, total revenue, and profit margins, allowing F&B 
management to adjust menu offerings and stock levels to align with customer demand. 

Daily Transaction Summaries: Generate daily transaction reports that summarize total 
sales, payment types, and transaction volume, segmented by location. Each summary will 
provide a comprehensive view of daily performance for efficient reconciliation. 

Cost of Goods Sold (COGS): Generate accurate sales and inventory data integrated with 
Tyler Munis, F&B Inventory tracking software, or Business Intelligence toolsets, ensuring 
precise calculations of true COGS for reliable financial reporting and analysis. 

Customer Preferences and Spending Trends: Analyze POS data to identify guest 
preferences, such as top-selling items, peak service times, and average spend per 
transaction. These insights will help refine menu options, pricing strategies, and 
promotional planning, ensuring F&B services align with customer demand. 

Seasonal and Demand-Based Insights: Capture data on seasonally popular items, service 
preferences, and demand trends to support targeted seasonal adjustments for ski, golf and 
beach locations. This report will guide decisions on staffing, inventory levels, and product 
offerings during peak and off-peak periods. 

Event-Specific Revenue Reports: Provide detailed revenue reports for catering and events, 
segmented by event type, date, and location. These reports will include itemized 
breakdowns of revenue for pre-ordered and on-demand items, enabling in-depth analysis 
of event profitability and performance. 

Cost Analysis for Catering and Events: Track all costs associated with catering events, 
including food, beverage, labor, and supplies. Cost reports will assist in monitoring profit 
margins for each event, identifying areas for cost savings, and evaluating the effectiveness 
of catering pricing structures. 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 165 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 39 

Business Intelligence (BI) 
The Business Intelligence (BI) component of the IVGID POS system will centralize and 
transform data from multiple operational areas into actionable insights, empowering IVGID 
leadership and staff to make informed, data-driven decisions. The BI system will support 
data consolidation from various systems, including POS, CRM, financial, and parcel 
management, into a unified data warehouse. Through interactive dashboards, detailed 
financial and customer analytics, and compliance reporting, BI will provide visibility into 
operational performance and customer engagement across all IVGID facilities. Advanced 
analytics, such as predictive modeling for facility demand and revenue forecasting, will 
enable proactive resource allocation and financial planning. With secure, role-based 
access, ad hoc reporting, and compliance with data governance standards, the BI system 
will enhance IVGID’s ability to optimize operations, improve customer satisfaction, and 
meet regulatory requirements. 

Reporting and Analytics Distribution 

Automated Reporting: Provide automation of distribution of reports to appropriate roles. 

• Schedule reports to be distributed via email or accessible in the BI portal. 

• Customize report formats for different roles (e.g., executive summaries, detailed 
analyses). 

Mobile Accessibility: Enable mobile access to BI reporting, with simple and effective 
navigation and usability. 

• Provide a mobile-friendly BI portal for access to dashboards and reports on mobile 
devices. 

• Ensure interactivity and easy navigation for mobile analysis. 

Data Consolidation and Integration 

Unified Data Warehouse: Establish a centralized data repository that aggregates data from 
all IVGID systems (POS, CRM, parcel management, financial systems). 

• Collect and store data from multiple sources, including POS transactions, resident 
records, golf and recreation activities, and customer profiles. 

• Integrate data from third-party systems (e.g., Tyler Munis ERP, Resident Records, 
peripheral relevant data sources such as weather data) to ensure comprehensive 
data capture. 

• Support secure ETL (Extract, Transform, Load) processes for nightly or real-time data 
updates, minimizing latency for reports and dashboards. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 166 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 40 

• Enable robust data quality checks and validation routines to ensure data 
consistency across systems. 

Data Standardization and Governance: Apply consistent data standards and governance 
practices to maintain data integrity across the BI platform. 

• Define standard data formats, naming conventions, and data types to maintain 
uniformity across datasets. 

• Implement data governance rules to ensure that sensitive information, such as 
resident data and payment information, is securely managed and complies with 
regulatory standards (e.g., PCI-DSS). 

• Provide an audit trail for data access and changes, enabling compliance tracking 
and data lineage visibility. 

Reporting and Dashboards 

Operational Dashboards: Develop interactive dashboards for real-time visibility into daily 
operations across IVGID facilities. 

• Provide operational metrics such as facility utilization rates, sales volumes, pass 
usage, and customer demographics. 

• Allow users to filter data by facility, date range, customer type (resident vs. non-
resident), and other relevant parameters. 

• Display visualizations, including bar charts, line graphs, and heat maps, for quick 
analysis and trend spotting. 

• Implement drill-down capabilities to explore metrics in greater detail and identify 
specific drivers behind operational trends. 

Financial Performance Reporting: Generate financial reports to monitor revenue, expenses, 
and profitability by department and service area. 

• Track daily, monthly, and annual revenue across golf, recreation, food and beverage, 
retail, and other IVGID services. 

• Include cost of goods sold (COGS) calculations for retail and food & beverage 
services. 

• Allow export options for financial summaries in standard formats (e.g., Excel, PDF) 
for reporting to external stakeholders and audits. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 167 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 41 

Customer and Usage Analytics: Produce reports on customer behavior, usage patterns, 
and engagement metrics across IVGID’s services. 

• Provide insights into customer demographics, frequency of visits, and facility usage 
rates by resident and non-resident segments. 

• Track program participation, event attendance, and seasonal trends to support 
targeted marketing and resource allocation. 

• Enable segmentation reporting to compare resident and non-resident engagement 
and spending. 

• Offer insights into high-demand programs, peak facility usage times, and repeat 
customer patterns to aid in operational planning. 

Compliance and Ordinance 7 Reporting: Ensure IVGID’s compliance with Ordinance 7 and 
other regulatory requirements through tailored reporting. 

• Track recreation privileges for eligible parcels, verifying compliance with Ordinance 
7 guidelines on parcel ownership, residency, and tenant eligibility. 

• Produce reports on parcel-level fees and eligibility status, allowing IVGID to audit 
fee compliance and resident privileges. 

• Enable system-wide tracking of any exceptions or changes to resident benefits to 
maintain accurate reporting of Ordinance adherence. 

• Provide an interface for administrators to easily retrieve parcel and resident 
eligibility records for compliance audits. 

Advanced Analytics and Predictive Modeling 

Predictive Analytics for Facility Demand: Forecast facility usage and demand for better 
resource allocation and service planning. 

• Utilize historical data on facility access, weather patterns, seasonal trends, and 
special events to predict demand. 

• Generate forecasts on expected occupancy, program participation, and ticket sales 
to optimize staffing and resource allocation. 

• Identify potential peak times and high-traffic periods to assist in scheduling, 
inventory management, and equipment maintenance. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 168 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 42 

Revenue and Spend Forecasting: Forecast revenue and spending patterns to support 
budgeting and financial planning. 

• Apply predictive models to historical revenue data segmented by resident and non-
resident spending. 

• Generate projections on monthly and annual revenue for different services, 
including golf, ski, recreation services, food and beverage, and retail. 

• Create models that account for various factors, such as pricing changes, customer 
demographics, and economic conditions. 

• Display revenue forecasts alongside budget targets, enabling financial decision-
making with real-time projections. 

Customer Retention and Attrition Analysis: Identify trends in customer retention and 
attrition to improve customer relationship management. 

• Track the frequency of visits, benefit usage, and service renewals to identify high-
retention customer segments. 

• Apply machine learning models to flag customers with a high likelihood of attrition 
based on decreased usage or declining engagement. 

• Provide retention rate insights by program type and customer profile (e.g., age 
group, resident status). 

• Recommend targeted engagement strategies to reduce attrition and increase loyalty 
among high-value customers. 

Self-Service and Ad Hoc Reporting 

Self-Service BI Portal: Provide a self-service reporting portal for IVGID staff to create and 
customize reports on demand. 

• Allow authorized users to build custom reports with a drag-and-drop interface, 
selecting metrics, filters, and visualizations. 

• Enable secure access control to ensure that only users with appropriate 
permissions can view or create reports. 

• Provide templates for commonly used reports, such as daily revenue, facility 
access, and customer demographics. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 169 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 43 

Advanced Data Querying and Exporting: Enable advanced data querying and export 
capabilities for in-depth data analysis. 

• Allow users to execute SQL-based queries for detailed and customized data 
retrieval. 

• Support exporting of data into various formats (e.g., CSV, Excel) for offline analysis 
or integration with other systems. 

Data Security and Compliance in BI 

Data Access and Privacy Controls: Enforce strict data security protocols for all BI data and 
reports to ensure data privacy. 

• Implement role-based access controls, ensuring that users only have access to 
data and reports necessary for their role. 

• Apply data masking or encryption for sensitive fields (e.g., personally identifiable 
information, financial details) in reports. 

• Provide audit logs for all data access and report generation activities to monitor and 
enforce compliance with data policies. 

• Maintain PCI-DSS compliance for any payment-related reporting and data storage. 

Compliance with Data Retention Policies: Ensure that data retention and deletion policies 
align with regulatory requirements and internal guidelines. 

• Define data retention periods based on data type and regulatory guidelines, 
ensuring no unnecessary data retention. 

• Automate data archiving and deletion processes according to defined policies. 

• Support reporting on historical data within permitted retention periods, ensuring 
data availability for compliance audits. 

• Provide clear documentation and tracking for data management practices, aligning 
with IVGID’s data governance policies. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 170 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 44 

CRM Functional Requirements 
The Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system is central to enhancing IVGID's 
operations by enabling seamless customer interactions, unified data management, and 
tailored guest experiences. Below are CRM-specific requirements that integrate with 
IVGID’s POS system, minimizing duplication of existing functionalities. 

Unified Customer Profiles 

Master Customer Record: Create a single, unified profile for each customer that 
consolidates data across all IVGID systems, including: 

• Basic Details: Name, DOB, address, email, phone number. 

• Resident Status: Integration with Ordinance 7 databases to validate residency and 
parcel eligibility. 

• Transaction History: All purchase and activity history, including rentals, lessons, 
passes, and F&B transactions. 

• Products and Benefits: Details of current recreation passes, punch cards, play 
passes, and recreation privileges. 

Duplicate Profile Resolution: Implement mechanisms for identifying and merging duplicate 
profiles across POS and CRM systems. 

Customer Communication Management 

Notifications: Enable CRM to send automated or manual communications, including: 

• IVGID facility information, closures or notifications. 

• Booking confirmations and reminders. 

• Membership renewal reminders. 

• Benefit usage updates (e.g., punch card balances). 

Targeted Marketing: Use CRM data for personalized marketing campaigns based on: 

• Past purchases. 

• Seasonal trends. 

• Resident and guest segmentation. 

Communication History: Track all customer interactions, including emails, calls, and in-
person service notes. 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 171 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 45 

Resident and Guest Segmentation 

Resident/Non-Resident Classification: Automate the identification of residents and non-
residents for pricing, eligibility, and benefit application in real time. 

Customer Segmentation: Categorize customers based on attributes such as: 

• Resident/Non-Resident. 

• Employee. 

• Pass Holder types (e.g., golf, ski, recreation). 

• Activity patterns (e.g., frequent visitors, seasonal users). 

Custom Tags and Notes: Allow staff to add custom notes or tags to profiles for enhanced 
personalization and service. 

Data Integration Across Systems 

POS and CRM Synchronization: Ensure seamless data sharing between the POS and CRM 
systems, covering: 

• Updates for profile changes, membership renewals, and benefit usage. 

• Synchronization of purchase history and benefits, such as punch card balances. 

E-Commerce and Online Portals: Link CRM with online booking systems, enabling 
customers to view and update their profiles, transactions, and benefits. 

Advanced Analytics and Insights 

Customer Behavior Analytics: Provide insights into customer behavior, including: 

• Spending patterns by location and service. 

• Peak activity times. 

• Program or facility utilization rates. 

Loyalty Tracking: Analyze customer retention rates and high-value customer segments to 
guide loyalty programs. 

Attrition Alerts: Leverage analytics to identify customers at risk of disengagement based on 
reduced activity or spending. 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Page 172 of 198



01/16/2024  P a g e  | 46 

 

SIGNATURE:  

 

 

IVGID Signature 

 

Name (Please Print) 

 

Title 

 

Date 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: E74C2B22-FA25-410F-A560-EA0C6E2D13B6

Mike Gove

Director of Information Systems and Technology

1/22/2025

Page 173 of 198



Item G.5.

M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM: Robert W. Harrison, General Manager 
Sergio Rudin, General Counsel

SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve Engagement Letter 
Agreement with Thorndal Armstrong, PC 

RELATED DISTRICT POLICY, Policy 3.1.0, Section 0.5(g)
PRACTICES, RESOLUTIONS or IVGID Policy and Procedure No. 098 -
ORDINANCES:  Resolution 495

DATE: March 12, 2025

I. RECOMMENDATION

The Board of Trustees make a motion to approve the engagement with Thorndal 
Armstrong, PC for defense of litigation filed against the District in Timothy L. 
Taggard v. Karen Crocker, Incline Village General Improvement District, Washoe 
County Second Judicial District Court Case No. CV25-00452 and Authorize the 
District General Manager to Approve an Engagement Agreement  

II. BACKGROUND

On February 20, 2025, Petitioner Taggart filed an ex parte application and 
Verified Petition for Alternative Writ of Mandamus/Prohibition (“Petition”) in the 
Second Judicial District Court.  The Petition alleges that the District has 
wrongfully terminated the inclusion of free meals as part of its 55+ ski clinic 
program.  The District denies all allegations in the Petition. Notably, there is no 
legal entitlement to free meals as part of the 55+ ski lessons, there are no 
contractual provisions promising food as part of the lessons, and food was not 
advertised as part of the lessons. The heavily discounted ski lesson program 
provides lessons for as low as $25 per lesson.   

On March 4, 2025, Judge Connie Steinhemer issued an order denying the 
ex parte petition, and directing that the District answer the Petition within 14 days 
of service on all defendants.  District Policy 3.1.0 provides that “[t]he General 
Manager must obtain Board of Trustees authorization, at a public meeting, to 

Page 174 of 198



Thorndal Armstrong, PC Engagement -2- March 12, 2025

initiate any lawsuit, appeal any decision or judgement, or retain legal counsel to 
defend a lawsuit.”

III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET

Work would be billed on a monthly basis at the following hourly rates: 

$225.00 per hour for partners and associates with more than five years of 
experience, 
$170.00 per hour for associates with less than five years of experience, and 
$95.00 per hour for paralegal work.

The Board should direct the General Manager to include a not-to-exceed amount 
in the engagement agreement with Thorndal Armstrong, PC, in order not to 
exceed available budgetary resources.  

IV. ALTERNATIVES

If the Board does not approve retention of Thorndal Armstrong, PC, the District 
may need to locate alternative counsel to assist with the District’s legal defense. 

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Engagement Letter 

VI. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Approval of the Engagement of Thorndal Armstrong, PC. 

Page 175 of 198



_________________________________________________________________________________________
Attorneys also licensed to practice in

Arizona, California, New York, North Carolina and Oregon

LAS VEGAS

600 S. LAS VEGAS BLVD.
SUITE 400
LAS VEGAS, NV 89101
(702) 366-0622
(702) 366-0327 FAX

THORNDAL
ARMSTRONG

ATTORNEYS
  A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

www.thorndal.com

ESTABLISHED 1971

KATHERINE F. PARKS, ESQ.
RENO OFFICE

kfp@thorndal.com

RENO

6590 S. MCCARRAN BLVD.
SUITE B

RENO, NV 89509
(775) 786-2882

(775) 786-8004 FAX

March 6, 2025

via electronic mail only
Sergio Rudin
Best Best & Krieger, LLP
500 Capitol Mall, Suite 2500
Sacramento, CA 95814

Re: Timothy Taggart v. Incline Village General Improvement District and Karen
Crocker

Dear Sergio:

Please allow this letter to provide my response to your recent request to retain our
services in connection with the matter of Timothy Taggart, Petitioner, v. Karen Crocker and
IVGID.  Pursuant to our telephone discussion on the matter, it is contemplated that our office
will assist you and your firm in the defense of IVGID in this case, including with respect to the
review of the District’s response to Mr. Taggart’s writ petition and assistance with the further
defense of the case if it proceeds beyond the motion stage.

Our hourly rates for the contemplated work are as follows:  $225.00 per hour for
partners and associates with more than five years of experience, $170.00 per hour for
associates with less than five years of experience, and $95.00 per hour for paralegal work.
Our hourly rates will not be increased during this project without your written consent.
Costs for routine expenses such as copy costs should be minimal and will be billed
separately.  Copies will be billed at $0.10 per page. Travel time will be billed at our
normal hourly rate if any is required. There is no charge for mileage. No separate charge
shall be made for secretarial or word processing services.  This matter will be billed on a

Page 176 of 198



2 | P a g e

___________________________________________________________________________
Attorneys also licensed to practice in

Arizona, California, New York, North Carolina and Oregon

monthly basis.

In accordance with the applicable ethical rules, we have confirmed that we have no
current actual conflicts related to this matter nor are we are aware of any potential conflicts.
Our firm carries errors and omissions insurance $10,000,000/$10,000,000. A declaration page
containing information about our errors and omissions insurance policy is available upon
request.

Thank you for retaining my law firm to assist IVGID with this matter. Should you
need any additional information from me, please let me know.

Best regards.

Sincerely,

/s/ Kathy Parks

Katherine F. Parks

KFP/lsb

Page 177 of 198



3 | P a g e

___________________________________________________________________________
Attorneys also licensed to practice in

Arizona, California, New York, North Carolina and Oregon

Page 178 of 198



Item G.6.

One District ~ One Team

M E M O R A N D U M

TO:  Board of Trustees

THROUGH: Robert Harrison
 District General Manager

FROM: Jessica O’Connell
Director of Finance

SUBJECT: FY2025/2026 Budget Workshop #2

DATE: March 12, 2025

Introduction

The Board of Trustees has scheduled a series of budget workshops to inform 
development of the District’s FY2025/2026 budget. 

The first budget workshop, held on February 26, 2025, reviewed existing Board 
Fiscal and Budget Policies 6.1.0; 6.2.0; and 12.1.0 as well as a discussion on 
Rates and Fees for the Recreation Center, and Diamond Peak Venues and the 
draft update of the Districts 5-Year Capital Improvement Project and Financing. 
The second budget workshop, held on March 5, 2022, focused on a review of 
Group Picnic Rental; Sports Field and Tournament Rental, as well as the Park 
Funding and budget assumptions being applied to the budget development 
process.

Tonight’s budget workshop is designed to focus on the Draft Department 
presentations in the General Fund and Utility Fund. the workshop will cover:

• General Fund 
o General Manager
o Legal
o Finance Information Technology
o Communications

• Utilities
o Water
o Sewer
o Solid Waste
o TWSA

Page 179 of 198



Budget Workshop #3
FY2025/2026 Budget -2- March 12, 2024

One District ~ One Team

Next Steps

Following feedback provided by the Board of Trustees, staff will refine and adjust 
the draft budgets and return to the Board in late March with a draft FY2025/26 
Tentative Budget, to include operating and capital budgets for FY2025/26 as well 
as updated Multi-Year Capital Plan.

The Board is scheduled to approve the FY2025/26 Tentative Budget by April 9th, 
and the FY2025/26 Final Budget by May 21st.  The final approved Multi-Year 
Capital Plan is required to be filed with the State of Nevada by August 1st.

Attachments: 
GM Executive Summary 
General Fund Executive Summary
HR Executive Summary 
IT Executive Summary
Public Works Engineering Fleet Executive Summary
Finance Executive Summary

Page 180 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District
General Manager

Executive Summary
Operating Budget FY 2025/26

Overview

The GM manages and supports the Board and employees of IVGID.  The GM ensures the organization 
has an effective team that can support the policy making of the Board by providing accurate and relevant 
information for the Boards review in policy making. The GM works with the Leadership Team to ensure 
that the organization provides excellent customer service to the public and meets the identified goals and 
objectives of the organization.

The General Fund covers the overall Management and Administration of the District. The General Fund 
staff includes Human Resources, Information Technology, Finance and Accounting, and the General 
Manager’s office. All Staff within the General Fund provide support services to the respective 
departments with the District as well as an outward presence, via a service desk, located within the 
Administrative offices located at 893 Southwood Boulevard. This office is open to the public Monday 
through Thursday, 8:00am – 5:00pm, Friday 8:00am – 4:00pm. This office is closed on all observed 
holidays.

Budget/Staffing Summary:
The GM department supports 2.5 full-time positions, the GM, Administrative Services Director, and the 
Clerk of the Board.  Key functions of the department include oversight of the organization and ensuring 
that all of the venues and public works are engaged and providing services effectively and efficiently.  
The GM also connects with various community organizations on interests or programs of the community.  
The GM budget also includes district wide general legal support.

Strategic Goals for FY 25/26:

1. Coordinate with the Finance Department to ensure the district can finalize its audit, meet any 
obligations placed on the District by the Department of Tax, and insure the continued solvency 
of the District

2. Train and develop employees in the High Performance Organization model and in LEAN so 
that the Leadership Team and GM can take a comprehensive approach to evaluating the 
provision of services, and costs associated with those services.

3. Establish benchmarks that enable the District to measure customer satisfaction with the 
various services proved by the District.

4. Evaluate the various venues, staffing, and operations to insure that services are being 
provided efficiently with excellent customer service.

5. Enhance the organizational culture that exists in the District through development, training, 
and review of organizational policies and systems and make necessary adjustments in order 
to meet organizational goals.

6. Review those areas of significant investment/costs in the organization and most significantly 
in the operating budget of the organization.

Recommended Personnel Budget Changes for Fiscal Year Ending 2026:

Operating:

• Legal services: Working with the Board, make a determination if the District remains with a 
contract attorney or brings an attorney in-house.  Develop an operating budget for the District 
attorney and separate into it’s operational budget to provide better transparency in the provision 
of this service. 

• No personnel adjustments

Page 181 of 198



Incline Village General 
Improvement District General 

Fund 
Executive Summary Operating Budget FY2025-2026 

 
 

Overview 
 
The General Fund oversees the overall management and administration of the District. The 
General Fund staff include Human Resources, Information Technology, Finance and Accounting, 
the General Manager, Community Relations, Legal, and Trustee. All staff within the General Fund 
provide support services to the respective departments within the District as well as an outward 
presence via a service desk located within the administrative offices at 893 Southwood Boulevard.  
 
This office is open to the public Monday through Thursday, 8:00am – 5:00pm, and Friday 8:00am 
– 4:00pm. The office is closed on all observed holidays. 
 
 
Services Provided Frequency 
Management and Administration: 
District Governance and Communication .................................................. Daily 
Senior Team ............................................................................................. Weekly 
Operating & Capital Projects Administration ............................................. Daily 
Human Resources .................................................................................... Monday through Friday 
Human Resources (after hours)................................................................ On-Call as needed 
Payroll and Employee Benefits ................................................................. Monday through Friday 
Payroll and Employee Benefits (after hours) ............................................. On-Call as needed 
Employee Safety & HR Risk Management………...…………………….….. Monday through Friday 
Information Systems ................................................................................. 24/7/365 
Information Technology Support Services ................................................ In office & on call 
Finance and Accounting ........................................................................... Monday through Friday 
Washoe County Marriage License Issuance ............................................. On hiatus 
Trustees and Audit Committee: 
Governance & Public Meetings ................................................................ Bi-Monthly Meetings 
Community Forums Notices and Recordkeeping ..................................... As necessary for 
 ................................................................................................................ meetings 
Ordinances, Resolutions, Policies, and Practices ..................................... Ongoing maintenance 
 
Legal Compliance: 
Nevada Revised Statutes; Nevada Administrative Code; Federal and Nevada Labor Laws and 
Standards; Federal and Nevada OSHA Standard; Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 182 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District
Human Resources / Risk Management

Executive Summary
Operating Budget FY 2025/26

Overview

The Human Resources Department manages and supports the staff of IVGID to ensure the company 
has a healthy, productive and legally compliant workforce.  

The HR offices are located in the Administration building, alongside Administration, Finance and 
Accounting and Information Technology.  Our offices are open Monday through Thursday, 8:00am 
through 5:00pm, Friday 8:00 am through 4:00pm.  Our offices are closed on all observed holidays.  

The General Fund covers the overall Management and Administration of the District. The General Fund 
staff includes Human Resources, Information Technology, Finance and Accounting, and the General 
Manager’s office. All Staff within the General Fund provide support services to the respective 
departments with the District as well as an outward presence, via a service desk, located within the 
Administrative offices located at 893 Southwood Boulevard. This office is open to the public Monday 
through Thursday, 8:00am – 5:00pm, Friday 8:00am – 4:00pm. This office is closed on all observed 
holidays.

Budget/Staffing Summary:
The Human Resources/Risk Management team supports 8 full time positions.  Key functions of our 
operations include: Recruitment, Employee Relations, Payroll and Benefits Administration, Training and 
Development, Performance Management, Workplace Safety, District Culture and Employee 
Engagement, Policy Development and Regulatory Compliance Oversight and Management.

The HR Department continues to evaluate its own staffing and service level needs to ensure the District’s 
management and employee needs exceed expectations. In doing so, we find we are more reactive than 
proactive.  As HR management staff have kept a keen eye on their SWOT analyses, the team has 
identified proposed strategies to specifically address the weaknesses and threats.

Example:
• Promote Human Resources as a Business Partner to operating venues; re-establish the 

department as more than just a support function, but also a resource as operating decisions are 
made.

• Identify department goals and evaluate then implement HR related actions to help departments 
achieve those goals.

• Identify and correct deficiencies in HR analytics
• Identify and propose for consideration:
• Improve on and off-boarding strategies
• Continue to work with IT, Finance and the Tyler team to improve functionality of HRIS system.

Strategic Goals for FY 25/26:

1. Partnering with PoolPact and legal counsel, complete review of current District Personnel Policies 
for update and review.

2. Complete ongoing HR Assessment with PoolPact to identify critical deficiencies in current 
practices.

3. Create a committee of benefited employees to assist in the evaluation of our current employee 
retirement services. Present to District General Manager the results from the submitted responses 
to an RFQ for Financial Advisor, Recordkeeper & Custodian services.

4. Implement risk management oversight at operating venues by creating a structured process to 
identify, assess, mitigate and monitor risks that could impact the venue’s operations, safety and 
financial health.

5. To strengthen current employee retention programs, find ways to:

Page 183 of 198



a. Enhance the employee experience
b. Provide career development and growth opportunities
c. Ensure competitive compensation packages
d. Provide ongoing leadership & management training
e. Conduct ongoing employee satisfaction surveys

6. Enhance current Performance Management processes.
7. Working with Recruitment team, finalize implementation of the Applicant Tracking System (ATS) 

to automate current manual-intensive processes.  Utilizing the strength of the system, improve 
current onboarding processes to better collaborate with hiring managers.

Recommended Personnel Budget Changes for Fiscal Year Ending 2026:

Staffing:

• Title change from Payroll/Benefits Coordinator to HR/Benefits Coordinator

Operating:

Significant Changes
• Legal service costs

o To continue working relationship with Labor Negotiator, Attorney Scott Abbott
• Professional consultants

o To provide ongoing Tyler training
• Contractual Services

o To complete an overall classification and compensation survey for current FTYRB 
positions.

Page 184 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District
Information Technology and Services

Executive Summary
Operating Budget FY25/26

Overview

The Information Technology and Services Department is responsible for managing and supporting the 
Digital Operations infrastructure across the entire District. This includes the operation and maintenance 
of two redundant data centers that host all on-site digital services. The department provides 
comprehensive support to meet the digital needs of 195 full-time and seasonal employees. While the 
primary focus of the department is to enable and assist staff in their day-to-day operations, the utmost 
priority remains safeguarding the District's systems and data to ensure their security and integrity.

The Information Technology (IT) office is located within the Administration Building, alongside the 
Administration, Finance and Accounting, and Human Resources departments. While the IT office is not 
open to the public, it is staffed seven days a week from 7:00 AM to 5:30 PM. Although the office is closed 
on all observed holidays, IT support staff remain available either on-call or on-site to ensure uninterrupted 
venue and business operations with 24/7/365 coverage.

IT operations function continuously, 24/7/365, with all systems, network devices, and services monitored 
around the clock to maintain operational integrity and reliability.

Staffing Summary:

The Information Technology department retains 6 full-time positions.  
• IT Director
• Sr. IT Analyst
• Network Administrator
• Software Specialist
• IT Technician (2)

Key operational functions include:

Configuration, Maintenance and Support of:
• 2 Hyperconverged Server Clusters
• 2 Air-gapped Industrial Operations Systems and Networks
• 61 Virtual Servers
• District Wide Public and Business Wi-Fi
• 71 Software Packages (SAAS, Hosted, On-Prem)
• 20 Core System Services
• 380 Desktop/Laptop/Cellular Endpoints
• 560 Active and Inactive Email Mailboxes
• 150 Network Devices
• Local and Cloud backups of all User and System data

Long-Term Initiatives for FY 25/26:

1. Replacement of 6 end of life on-site backup repositories………………………...($100,000)
2. Upgrade of server operating systems from MS Server ‘19 → ’25……………….($95,000)
3. Upgrade of endpoint operating systems from Win10 → Win11………………….(No Expense)
4. Upgrade and migration of District-wide VoIP System and SIP Provider………..($100,000)
5. Migration of cloud and onsite Email protection and backup service…………….($45,000)
6. Rollout of DocuSign to District Directors and Managers………………………….($30,000)
7. Continued support of the on-going Tyler implementation efforts

of the HR and Finance departments.

Page 185 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District 
Public Works - Utilities 

Executive Summary 
Operating Budget FY2025/26 

DRAFT 03/06/25 
 
Overview 
The Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) Public Works Department oversees 
essential services for the communities of Incline Village and Crystal Bay. These services include 
water and wastewater management, as well as the administration of the Solid Waste Franchise. 
Additionally, Public Works serves as the host agency for the Tahoe Water Suppliers Association 
(TWSA). 

Public Works is also responsible for District-wide Engineering services, which encompass both 
Capital and Maintenance Projects, Fleet Maintenance, and Building Maintenance—commonly 
referred to as Internal Services (Fund 400 under separate cover). 

Our dedicated and award-winning Public Works team takes great pride in ensuring the delivery 
of clean, safe drinking water, and the efficient collection and treatment of sewage. We are deeply 
committed to the stewardship of our resources, with a strong focus on protecting and preserving 
the source water in the Tahoe Basin. This commitment is reflected in our well-maintained 
infrastructure, excellent customer service, and strong financial standing. 
 
Budget/Staffing Summary 
The Utility Fund (200) has a total of 32 full-time positions and two part time positions, dedicated 
to fulfilling the tasks required to achieve the District’s goals, comply with regulatory requirements, 
and maintain service levels. In FY 21-22, Raftelis conducted a Utilities Management Review and 
Asset Assessment, identifying several staffing gaps. Since then, Public Works has been working 
closely with the General Manager and HR department not only to address these gaps but also to 
identify and implement efficiencies within the operation to enhance overall performance.  
 
The following staffing adjustments are proposed in the preliminary FY 2025/26 Utilities budget: 

1. Position Eliminations: 
o Eliminate the Customer Service Rep II, Lead WW Supervisor (Water), and 

Resource Conservationist positions due to operational adjustments and staff 
retirement. 

2. Position Reclassifications and Expansions: 
o Formalize the Utilities Superintendent role to oversee Water, Wastewater, and 

Waste Not Divisions. 
o Consolidate Meter Technician I and II into one position. 
o Fund the Public Works Maintenance II position to support utility building 

maintenance and float to assist the Buildings department for special projects. 
3. Waste Not Division Restructure: 

o Reclassify roles to create Source Water Protection Supervisor and Source Water 
Protection Specialist, with oversight from the Utilities Superintendent. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District 
Public Works - Utilities 

Executive Summary 
Operating Budget FY2025/26 

DRAFT 03/06/25 
 
 
Division Highlights – Service Levels 
Water and Wastewater Services 
The District owns, operates and maintains the following water and wastewater system 
infrastructure to meet or exceed Federal EPA and State of Nevada regulations. The District’s 
systems cover a service area of 15.3 square miles and is very complex with an elevation change 
from 6229’ to over 8000’ requiring multiple pressure zones, additional reservoirs, complex 
pumping, and SCADA control systems. 

Water System 
Ultraviolet & Ozone Water Treatment Plant with Sodium Hypochlorite for System 

Disinfection and Sodium Silicate for Corrosion Protection - Able to Treat 8.5 Million 
Gallons Daily  

100 Miles of Water Mains between 4” to 24” 
753 Fire Hydrants, 12 IVGID Fire Hydrants, and 106 Private Fire Hydrants  
2,031 Gate Valves 
13 Water Tanks with 7 Million Gallons of Storage 
13 Water Pumping Stations with 26 Pressure Zones 
Service Connections to over 4,440 Water Meters 
Wastewater System 
105 Miles of Gravity Lines 
14 Miles of Wastewater Force Main between 6” to 24” 
1,926 Wastewater Manholes 
1 Effluent Storage Tank – 2.5 Million Gallons of Storage (placed in service 2024) 
21 Wastewater Pump Stations (including new 2024 effluent storage tank pump station) 
Wastewater Treatment Plant with up to 2.1 Million Gallons Daily Treatment Capacity 
20 Miles of Effluent Pipeline to Carson Valley 
900-acre Effluent Re-Use Wetland Site Located in Carson Valley 

 
The District completed a Water and Wastewater Master Plan in 2024, which provides a strategic 
roadmap for capital repairs and ongoing maintenance. As part of its asset management program, 
the District also implements a comprehensive preventative maintenance program. This program 
covers all infrastructure, including pipes, pumps, motors, valves, generators, instruments, and 
other essential equipment and appurtenances. 
 
Water and Wastewater Service Measures 
The District reads over 4,440 water meters and prepares utility bills monthly for the following 
customer statistics.  
 

Measure 2022-23 
Actual 

2023-24 
Actual 

2024-25 
Planned 

2025-26 
Proposed 

Water Users 8,110 8,115 8,120 8,120 

Wastewater Users 8,021 8,025 8,031 8,031 

Water Accounts Billed 4,276 4,280 4,292 4,292 

Wastewater Accounts Billed 4,190 4,192 4,203 4,203 

Page 187 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District 
Public Works - Utilities 

Executive Summary 
Operating Budget FY2025/26 

DRAFT 03/06/25 
 
 
Waste Not (Solid Waste and TWSA) 
The Waste Not Program is the conservation initiative of the Incline Village General Improvement 
District (IVGID), dedicated to safeguarding the community's natural resources through 
sustainable waste management practices. It encompasses a wide range of services aimed at 
promoting environmental stewardship, including waste reduction, recycling, water conservation, 
watershed protection, and educational outreach. As part of this program, IVGID also oversees 
the Waste Management franchise contract to ensure effective and efficient waste disposal for 
residents. 

As part of the Waste Not program, IVGID also plays a key role in the Tahoe Water Suppliers 
Association (TWSA), which provides oversight and coordination of source water protection efforts. 
IVGID serves as the home agency for TWSA, which works to ensure safe, clean drinking water 
by managing watershed protection and implementing federal and state regulations. TWSA’s role 
includes adherence to the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) and the Surface Water Treatment 
Rule (SWTR), which regulate water quality and safety for surface water systems, such as those 
serving the Lake Tahoe area. TWSA ensures that water systems operating under a non-filtration 
permit—allowing them to avoid filtration requirements—are in full compliance with the regulations 
governing watershed control. 

Under the SDWA, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the State of Nevada mandate 
that surface water systems implement effective Watershed Control Programs (WCP) to protect 
drinking water sources from contamination. TWSA members are responsible for completing an 
annual WCP and rolling annual update to the purveyors’ Sanitary Survey to assess and improve 
watershed management strategies. The goal of the WCP is to minimize potential contaminants 
such as Giardia, Cryptosporidium, and viruses from entering water supplies by identifying and 
controlling risks associated with the watershed. This includes monitoring, education, and outreach 
programs, as well as implementing physical and regulatory measures to control potential sources 
of contamination. 

The TWSA annual report details these efforts, covering the watershed description, contamination 
control mechanisms, monitoring programs, and acquisition or control of watershed areas. These 
efforts align with EPA regulations such as the Interim Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule 
and Long-Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule (LT2 Rule), which require proactive 
management of source water to prevent contamination. 

Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) Services are an integral part of Waste Not, offered on an 
appointment basis from May to September. This service allows residents to dispose of hazardous 
materials safely. The electronic waste (E-Waste) drop-off service runs concurrently with HHW 
disposal on the same day each week at the Public Works site, providing a convenient and 
responsible disposal option for HHW and E-Waste.  The Waste Not program also facilitates 
disposal of IVGID generated hazardous waste and E-waste.   

Despite rising disposal costs and an increasing franchise fee that has not kept pace with inflation, 
Waste Not continues to offer these essential services, although limitations and additional 
constraints may apply. 

Page 188 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District 
Public Works - Utilities 

Executive Summary 
Operating Budget FY2025/26 

DRAFT 03/06/25 
 
In addition to these services, Waste Not ensures compliance with IVGID Ordinance 1 through 
solid waste field response services in partnership with Clean Tahoe, funded by a $45,000 
contract. This partnership ensures that waste management regulations are upheld, and 
environmental standards are met.  

The franchise fee contract with Waste Management expires in 2026.  The District will engage with 
an outside legal counsel to negotiate a new 10 year contract.   

In FY 2025/26, Waste Not will continue to work together with Basin partners to ensure that the 
community's water resources are protected through comprehensive watershed management, 
public outreach, and regulatory compliance. These initiatives are central to IVGID's commitment 
to environmental stewardship and sustainability, and they play a critical role in maintaining safe, 
clean drinking water for the residents of Incline Village Crystal Bay and surrounding areas. 

FY2025-26 Budget Highlights 
 
Utility Revenues -  
A rate increase of 15.7% for water and 8.0% for wastewater in FY 24-25 was approved by the 
Board of Trustees at their meeting of July 10, 2024.  In order to maintain the existing level of 
service for both the water and wastewater division continue to build reserves to meet the District’s 
reserve policy, a proposed rate increase of ___ is anticipated.   
 
Staffing 
The Utility fund FY2025/26 budget finds efficiencies in operations by: 

• Eliminating 3 positions 
• Proposed funding for 1 position – PW Maintenance II  

 
Operations and Maintenance 

• The FY25/26 budget includes funding to operations and maintenance activities, adjusted 
for inflationary costs for supplies, services and chemicals. 

• Funds were included to continue to replace water meter transponders, pavement 
rehabilitation due to unexpected watermain leaks, and grease removal and transport by 
an outside contractor.  

 
Capital 
Significant projects (greater than $500,000) included in the FY2025/26 capital budget include: 

• Rolling Stock Funding for the replacement of the 2004 Freightliner Vactor Truck #534 
• Funding is provided for the Utilities System and Plant Control Upgrade (SCADA), which is 

a planned two-year project to replace the 1970s era system components and software 
that is no longer supported. 

• Increased funding for annual water main replacement. 
• Funding for year-three construction of the Effluent Pipeline Project with budget from year-

four moved forward because project is ahead of schedule 
o Total Funding Acquired for Effluent Pipeline Project To Date: 

 CW2303 Clean Water SRF Loan $15,760,000 (closed in repayment) 
 CW2304 Clean Water SRF Principle Forgiveness Loan $240,000 (closed) 
 CW2401 Clean Water SRF Principle Forgiveness Loan $368,300 (closed) 
 CW2402 Clean Water SRF Loan $36,371,700 (open) 

Page 189 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District 
Public Works - Utilities 

Executive Summary 
Operating Budget FY2025/26 

DRAFT 03/06/25 
 

 USACE 595 Program Increment #2 Federal Share $4,339,089 (closed) 
 EPA Community Grant $1,600,000 (open) 
 IVGID Board Restricted Funds $14,693,903  

Page 190 of 198



Incline Village General Improvement District 
Finance Services 

Executive Summary 
Operating Budget FY25-26 

 
Overview 
 
 
A finance department in any organization is crucial for managing and maintaining the company's financial 
health. Here's an overview of its primary responsibilities: 
 
Budgeting and Forecasting: Developing budgets, preparing financial forecasts, and monitoring 
expenditure against budgets to ensure financial stability. 
Financial Reporting: Producing accurate financial reports such as income statements, balance sheets, 
and cash flow statements. These reports help in assessing the company's financial performance and 
making strategic decisions. 
Accounts Payable and Receivable: Managing the company's payables and receivables. This includes 
processing supplier invoices, ensuring timely payments, and collecting money owed to the company. 
Payroll Management: Ensuring employees are paid accurately and on time, including calculating 
salaries, wages, taxes, and other deductions. 
Financial Analysis: Analyzing financial data to identify trends, opportunities for improvement, and 
potential risks. This helps with making informed business decisions. 
Compliance and Audit: Ensuring the company complies with all financial regulations and accounting 
standards. This includes preparing for and undergoing audits. 
Investment Management: Managing the company's investments and assets to optimize returns and 
minimize risks. 
Audit: Organizing financial records, reconciliations, internal review, documentation, compliance check, 
coordination, providing access, pre-audit meetings, training and awareness and follow-up. 
 
Staffing Summary: 
 
The Finance Department currently consists of: 
 
 

• Director of Finance 
• Assistant Director of Finance 
• Controller 
• Management Analyst 
• Management Analyst 
• Revenue Supervisor 
• Senior Accountants  
• Accountants (3) 
• Accounts Payable Technician 

 
 

Within this budget, and in collaboration with the General Manager, I would like to reorganize many of the 
duties and responsibilities of several existing positions to develop the most efficient framework for 
success. This reorganization does require additional staff to cover the full utilization of all the modules 
provided by the new EERP System, allowing us to operate financial information and reporting efficiently. 
However, overall, the organization has a reduction of cost in the General Fund Budget of approximately 
$22,000. The goal is to acquire new skills and capacity within the department. Here are the new 
assignments anticipated in the reorganized department.  

 

 

Page 191 of 198



• Director of Finance 
• Finance Manager-Reorg 
• Management Analyst-EERP-New 
• Management Analyst-Payroll 
• Management Analyst-Finance 
• Senior Accountants (2)-Reorg 
• Accountants (2)-Reduction 
• Accounts Payable Technician 

 
Key operational functions include: 
 

• Accounting: Recording all financial transactions, maintaining accurate and up-to-date records of 
income, expenses, assets, and liabilities. 

• Financial Reporting: Preparing financial statements such as balance sheets, income statements, 
and cash flow statements, which provide a snapshot of the company's financial health. 

• Accounts Payable: Managing the company's obligations to pay off short-term debts to its creditors 
or suppliers, ensuring timely and accurate payment processing. 

• Accounts Receivable: Tracking money owed to the company by customers or clients, sending out 
invoices, and ensuring timely collection of payments. 

• Payroll Processing: Calculating and distributing employee wages, salaries, bonuses, and 
deductions, ensuring compliance with tax and labor laws. 

• Budgeting and Forecasting: Assisting in the creation of budgets and financial forecasts to help 
guide business decisions and ensure financial stability. 

• Reconciliation: Comparing financial records to ensure accuracy, such as matching bank 
statements with the company's internal records to identify discrepancies. 

• Internal Controls: Implementing and maintaining internal controls to prevent fraud, ensure 
accurate financial reporting, and safeguard company assets. 

• Financial Analysis: Analyzing financial data to identify trends, variances, and opportunities for 
improvement, providing insights into better decision-making. 

 
Initiatives for FY 25-26: 
 
IVGID purchased and implemented Tyler Technologies' EERP (Enterprise Enterprise Resource 
Planning), a business system that manages finance, human resources, supply chain, and operations 
within a single integrated platform. 
A post-investment assessment was performed in FY25 to understand the current processes, evaluate 
how EERP is being utilized, and identify areas where functionalities can be optimized to maximize the 
benefits of the system. 
The following recommendations were made for improved utilization: 
 

• Cash Management and Bank Reconciliation 
• P-Card Credit Card Processing 
• Capital Assets Management 
• Project Ledger 
• Central Project Budget 
• Central Budget 
• Accounts Payable Import 
• Hub Admin Features to Enhance End-User Experience 
• RBTC: Responsible for Facilitating and Assigning Effective Permissions and Data Access to 

Users 
• Workflow Optimization 
• Contracts, Bid Process, and Purchase Order Management 
• SSRS SQL Reporting 

 
 
 

Page 192 of 198



The Finance Department, along with the Human Resource Department, is looking forward to optimizing 
the new EERP system. To facilitate this process, we recommend creating a specialized ERP Analyst 
position. This position will serve as the project manager for the remaining Tyler systems that have been 
purchased but have not yet been activated or have become fully functional. The ERP Analyst will assist 
with onboarding new employees to EERP, create and maintain custom SSRS SQL reporting, maximize 
full utilization of the system, and maintain workflow and internal controls. We will present the Board with 
an update and implementation plan for the balance of the ERP system by April 9, 2025. 

Page 193 of 198



LONG RANGE CALENDAR                                                                     Item I.1. 

Last updated Tuesday, March 7, 2025

*Special Meeting Date: March 19, 2025; Meeting Time: 5:00 p.m.
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Harrison/ 
O’Connell

Budget Workshop for FY 2025-26 Department Presentations - Community Recreation – Internal 
Services

Audit Committee Meeting Date: March 25, 2025; Meeting Time: 5:00 p.m.
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
O’Connell Audited Financial Statements by Jennifer Farr

Meeting Date: March 25, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
O’Connell Audited Financial Statements by Jennifer Farr

FY 2024-25 Mid-Year Budget 
2025/2026 Budget Workshop – Policy Review – any outstanding; Parking Lot Item Follow-up
2025/2026 CIP Budget Workshop – Continued Discussion

Meeting Date: March 26, 2025; Meeting Time: 5:00 p.m.
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Herron Club Policy
Herron Board Policy 6.1.0 and Practice 6.2.0 (Pricing)
Herron Board Policy 8.1.0 (as reviewed by the Audit Committee at their XXXX meeting)
Herron Policy 22.1.0 (Entity Involvement)
Herron Procurement Card Policy review (if needed)
Nelson/O’Connell CIP Projects spent to date report
Crocker Set Date for Public Hearing Rec. Roll (May 14, 2025, Post Notice 05.02 and 05.09)
Nelson Purchase - Residential Water Meter Transponder/Registers
Nelson HHW Storage Container Award
Nelson Snowflake Needs Assessment Award
Nelson SCADA Master Plan Award
Nelson Champ Course Hole #10 Cart Path Replacement
Crocker Joint Use Agreement with Washoe County (specifically the maintenance for the High School 

football field)
Crocker RFP NLTFPD Retrofit Charcoal Grills at Burnt Cedar (12 Grills) Portable Propane
Herron/ Feore Legal Counsel (Dual Track) RFP – Inhouse Recruitment 
Gove Tyler Annual Renewal (Consent Calendar)

Meeting Date: April 9, 2025; Meeting Time: 5:00 p.m.
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Nelson Renewal of Marcus Faust agreement – Washington D.C. Leg. Advocate (expires 5/1)
Nelson Effluent Export Pipeline Inspection Contract
Nelson Set Date for Public Hearing – Utility Rates (Post Notice RGJ 4/12)

Page 194 of 198



LONG RANGE CALENDAR                                                                     Item I.1. 

Last updated Tuesday, March 7, 2025

Meeting Date: April 30, 2025; Meeting Time: 5:00 p.m.
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Nelson HVAC Rec. Center Replacement Award
Nelson Reservoir Coating Award

Meeting Date: May 14, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Bandelin Hyatt Lake Tahoe Sport Shop Agreement (expires 5/31)

Public Hearing Utility Rates 
Public Hearing Rec. Roll

Meeting Date: May 21, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

2025/2026 Budget Public Hearing (if we hold the hearing on this date; then we must advertise on 
5/9 and 5/16)

Meeting Date: May 28, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

2025/2026 Budget Public Hearing (if we hold the hearing on this date; then we must advertise on 
5/16 and 5/23)

Nelson Clean Tahoe, Inc. (expires 6/30)
Feore UNR Pack Internship Grant Program (expires 6/30)
Nelson HERO Environmental (expires 6/30)
Raymore EXL Media (expires 6/30)
GM Best Best & Krieger (expires 6/30)

Meeting Date: June 11, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Bandelin/Finance Blanket Purchase Orders

Meeting Date: June 25, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Feore 6-month Performance Evaluation of General Manager

Page 195 of 198



LONG RANGE CALENDAR                                                                     Item I.1. 

Last updated Tuesday, March 7, 2025

Meeting Date: July 9, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Feore Updated GM Evaluation Tools (with Trustee Jezycki)

Meeting Date: July 30, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: August 13, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: August 27, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Feore High Sierra Patrol (expires 9/30)

Meeting Date: September 10, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: September 24, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: October 8, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Crocker CC Cleaning – Rec Center – Extension of one year (5 year contract)

Page 196 of 198



LONG RANGE CALENDAR                                                                     Item I.1. 

Last updated Tuesday, March 7, 2025

Meeting Date: October 29, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Nelson Alta Vista Cleaning (expires 10/31/2025)

Meeting Date: November 12, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Raymore CC Media (expires 12/31)
Feore First Non-Profit (expires 12/31)

Meeting Date: November 26, 2025; Meeting Time: 
Usually cancelled

PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: December 10, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: December 31, 2025; Meeting Time: 
Usually cancelled

PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Page 197 of 198



LONG RANGE CALENDAR                                                                     Item I.1. 

Last updated Tuesday, March 7, 2025

Items to be scheduled

Director of Golf – update will be in HR’s status report

NLTFPD Agreement – sooner rather than later – discussion item should also include an increase for defensible 
space to accelerate defensible space work – will probably come before the Board in February

Discussion regarding boat parking

Leverage our amenities with the Hyatt

Accelerate the Strategic Plan draft

Facility Fee discussion – long term plan for capital and its impact to the Facility Fee

Pricing Policy/Practice - bring back what works for Staff

Golf rates for approval – bring forward sooner than last year

GM Evaluation process, form, etc.

District Strategic Plan (2025/2027)

Union Contracts (3) (expires 6/30)

How are we enveloping our Hispanic community – open discussion item or possibly a report

Update on damaged relationship with Washoe County, etc.

Liaisons with Community Agencies/Groups

Skate Park Design

Ordinance 7 – address family size

Waste Management Contract (2026)

Veteran’s Memorial

Purchase of Skid Steer Loader Snowblower 

Page 198 of 198


	GM_Report
	Item F.1. NDOT Payment
	Item G.1. Board Liaison
	Item G.2.100% Construction Development Contractfor Incline Beach House Project
	Item G.3.Final Design-Build Construction Contractfor Skate Park
	Item G.4. Budgetary Feedback on the Point-of-SaleAssessment Project.
	Item G.5. Engagement Letter Agreement with ThorndalArmstrong, PC.
	Item G.6. Budget Workshop for Fiscal Year 2025-26 for the General Fund and Utilities Fund
	Item I.1. LONG RANGE CALENDAR



